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INTRODUCTION.

In the present book I have reprinted, with corrections
and additions, the two Introductions prefixed to the
three volumes octavo of ¢ Letters, Despatches, and
other State Papers preserved in the Military Depart-
ment of the Government of India, 1857-58.” It has
been suggested and kindly urged that the Introduc-
tions, which show the bearing of the new and original
materials on history, and are detailed systematic
narratives of the fierce struggle which succeeded the
military insurrection of 1857, should be brought within
easy and convenient compass for the large number of
persons who, although they have not the leisure to
study official documents, take an interest in the most
important fact in the history of British dominion in
India. The Indian Mutiny addresses our mind through
the intellect and the imagination. It is no mere mem-
orable incident in Anglo-Indian history which conveys
many grave lessons to those who labour in our Indian
Empire, but it is a noble epic which speaks to every=>
Englishman wherever he may be, and calls up past
and glorious memories.
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It is on the sure ground of official documents that
I bave mainly relied, but they have been fortified
by the contemporary literature, which is both varied
and abundant. A large number of private letters
and diaries have been placed at my disposal, and it
has been my anxious care to draw from them useful
material by separating facts and just inferences from
matters and opinions honestly given as testified by
the senses of the writer, but in truth founded on the
current statements and warped feelings of the hour.
Besides the printed matter and the manuseript
documents, I have had the advantage of conversa-
tion with many who witnessed the transactions.

Military operations, however, extend over so wide a
field that no actor can have a personal knowledge of
all the circumstances. By putting together fragments
of information which I have received from several
witnesses, marking where they agree and where they
differ, and comparing them with the whole collection
of written statements, I have endeavoured to arrive
at a complete and correct conception of the combina-
tion of scenes which a battle or the storming of a
fortress presents. My own conceptions have been
corrected by the technical and sagacious criticisms of
military experts, and the work of a civilian on the
operations of war is therefore offered with less fear. In
order to strengthen the text and to enable the reader
to form his own judgment of the evidence, abundant
citations from the original authorities have been in-
serted as footnotes: I have also incorporated extracts
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from the despatches and letters in the text with
the object of bringing the reader into touch with
the actors.

The history of the siege of Delhi, a long tale of
stern combats and great achievements, is mainly told
by the letters and despatches of the chief actors,
whose plain narrative of facts reflects the spirit which
produces heroic deeds.

The story of the defence of Lucknow, one of
the most dramatic incidents in the epic, is told in
the contemporary narratives of the men who did
the fighting and the women whose courage never
faltered; and they are fertile in tragedy. 1 dis-
covered that the diary of Captain George Fulton,
whose cheerful bearing and noble temper inspired
officers and men with his own energy and cool deter-
mination, was in Australia. In response to my appeal
his sons kindly sent me a copy, and of this I have
made free use. The fine and modest temper of the
man to whom his comrades gave the proud title of
“The Defender of Lucknow” is seen in his plain nar-
rative of facts. Sir Joseph Fayrer has also given me
leave to quote from his manuscript diary. Colonel
Bonham, whose fertility of resource, consuming energy,
and exalted courage, filled the garrison with admira-
tion of the young subaltern of artillery, has not only
imparted to me information of the highest value w1th
regard to the defence, but has also placed at my dis-
posal a clear narrative of what occurred at Chinhut,
the untoward disaster which preceded the siege of
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the Residency. The late General May, who was one
of the gallant 39 sabres that charged 400 cavalry
and two guns at Chinhut, revised shortly before his
death my account of the action.

The story of Cawnpore, a tale of disaster and un-
utterable woe illumined by gallantry and patient,
heroic courage, is told in part from the narratives of
Captain Thomson and Lieutenant Delafosse, the two
male survivors from the Cawnpore garrison, and from
an account written for me by one of the two women
who escaped the massacre at the bank of the river.
Her name, for the sake of her family, cannot be
disclosed. Since the publication of the Selections
from the Military State Papers, I have had the
privilege of a long conversation with General
Mowbray Thomson, and got from him important
information of a negative and positive kind. The
narrative of Mr Shepherd furnishes us with trust-
worthy evidence of what took place before he left
the intrenchment on the 24th of June, but, as he
himself writes, his account of what happened at
Cawnpore after that date was gathered *from dif-
ferent sources,” and 1t must be received with con-
siderable reserve. His sensational account of the
massacre of the women and children does not bear
the test of facts which have been carefully gleaned.
The story of the woman has been minutely compared
with the voluminous evidence before me, and of
its substantial accuracy there i1s no doubt. The
depositions of sixty -three witnesses, natives and
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half - castes, taken under the directions of Colonel
Williams, Commissioner of Police in the North-
Western Provinces, have been consulted, but their
evidence is full of discrepancies and must be treated
with extreme caution. The confidential reports from
officials, petitions from private persons, depositions
of witnesses, and unofficial examinations, have been
studied with care. They show that although the
darkest tints predominate, the picture 1s not so
black as it has been painted. As Colonel Williams
states, ‘“The most searching and earnest inquiries
totally disprove the unfounded assertion that at first
was so frequently made and so currently believed,
that personal indignity and dishonour were offered
to our poor suffering countrywomen.” The evidence
also proves that the sepoy guard placed over the
prisoners refused to murder them. The foul crime
was perpetrated by five ruffians of the Nana’s guard
at the instigation of a courtesan. It is as ungener-
ous as it is untrue to charge upon a nation that
cruel deed.

The sketch of Sir Colin Campbell’s relief of Lucknow
in November 1857 is drawn from Sir Colin’s own des-
patch and other primary sources. The journal kept in
his official capacity by Captain George Allgood, C.B,
who accompanied Sir Colin as Assistant Quarter-
master-General with headquarters, has been of great ,
use tome. Sir David Baird, who was one of Sir Colin’s
aides-de-camp, at my urgent request sent me a short
narrative of what occurred when he, Lieutenant
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Roberts, and Captain Hopkins planted under a shower
of bullets a regimental colour on one of the turrets of
the mess-house.

The narrative of Major-General Windham's opera-
tions at Cawnpore has been written with an anxious
regard to state facts without unduly raking the ashes
of an old controversy. The draft of the narrative was
read by the late Sir John Adye, who was Windham’s
Brigade-Major, and pronounced by him to be accurate
and impartial. I pointed out to Sir John that his
semi-official defence of General Windham’s strategy
printed in 1858 is mainly based on the word ¢ out-
side,” which is not in the original manuscript of the
“Memorandum by the Chief of the Staff for the
guidance of Major - General Windham.”  Colonel
Lewis Jones (88th Regiment), who captured the
enemy’'s guns on the 26th November, has conferred
upon me a favour by sending to me a brief account of
what took place on that day. General Chamier, who
commanded with so much distinction the Madras guns
on the 28th of November, when Brigadier Carthew
was forced back into the intrenchments, has, by im-
parting to me much valuable information, helped
me to understand the true nature of that conflict.
But of all the materials on which I formed my account
none has been of more value to me than the original
draft of Brigadier Carthew’s “Detailed Report of the
operations of the Forces placed under my command on
the 26th, 27th, and 28th ultimo.” As the report came
into my private possession from a private source, and
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is not to be found in the Military Records, I was pre-
duded from treating it as an official document which
ought to be printed in a selection of State Papers.
General Chamier vouches for its accuracy.

The account of the march of the three columns from
the eastern frontier of Oudh to Lucknow has been
mainly constructed from the despatches of their
respective commanders. Much useful information
relating to the march of General Franks' force has
been supplied to me by General M‘Leod Innes, V.C,,
who accompanied it as Engineer Officer, and showed
how great professional skill and calm judgment can
be combined with valour of no ordinary kind.

A detailed account is given of the operations
on the plain of Alum Bagh, by which Outram held
the armed hosts of Lucknow in check until the
Commander-in-Chief was in a position to undertake
the capture of the city. It has been mainly based on
Outram’s own reports, which bear in every line the
stamp of the man who impressed himself upon all the
events with which he was connected and shaped them
by the force of his individual character. He lives in
the hearts of those who knew him, and from his
comrades I have received many striking reminiscences
of his courage and chivalry.

The sketch of the siege and capture of Lucknow, an
operation which will always be considered a striking
illustration of the art of war, is drawn from Sir Colin
Campbell’s despatch and Outram’s memorandum of
the operations carried on under his command. The
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“ Reports on the Engineering Operations at the Siege
of Lucknow in March 1858,” by Major-General Sir R.
Napier, K.C.B., Colonel Harness, C.B., and Lieutenant-
Colonel Lennox, Royal Engineers, have enabled me
to trace the daily progress of the siege. General Sir
J. J. H. Gordon, who was present at the capture
of the Kaiser Bagh, which again made us masters of
Lucknow, has assisted me to reconcile many discrep-
ancies in the contemporary narratives.

Field-Marshal Earl Roberts, V.C., K.G., who took
part in the stern conflict, and whose name is in
the list of the wounded, kindly described to me on
the theatre of their enactment the principal opera-
tions of the siege of Delhi. To his Lordship I am
further indebted for having found time amidst his
multifarious and responsible duties to read these
volumes in their original form and furnish many
important suggestions and corrections. I have also
to express my deep thanks to General Sir Henry
Norman, G.C.B., who has repeated the good oflices
he had before rendered me in revising the State
Papers for the press, and has given me by his notes
an opportunity of availing myself of his complete
knowledge of the subject. Some of the official papers
were written by him, and in most of the scenes he
played an important and gallant part. At the attack
on the Shah Nujjeef he displayed the same coolness
and presence of mind as he showed when he rescued
three wounded men under the eye of Charles Napier
in a campaign against the Afreedees.
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I have enjoyed the further advantage of a number
of important literary criticisms sent me by a personal
friend before this book took its final shape.

Mr F. G. Stokes, besides assisting me in the cor-
rection of the whole of the proofs, has collated with
extreme care the narrative text with the official docu-
ments, and the exhaustive Index which he has con-
structed will not only be a guide to the contents of
the book, but will also enable the student of history to
trace my statements to their sources in the volumes
of Selections from the Military State Papers.

But although the sources of the narrative are State
documents, and the book has benefited by the criti-
cism of military officials, it has no official character
or authority. For any statements or expressions of
opinion I am personally and exclusively responsible.
My earnest endeavour has been to state salient
authentic facts in a spirit that will not revive the
virulent race animosities which were aroused by blood-
shed and carnage and perverted the history and
criticism of the hour. There have been tongues and
pens enough to narrate the excesses which have
raised the Indian Mutiny to the rank of a world-wide
tragedy. It is useful that these crimes should be
remembered and freshly pondered, but it is equally
wise to study the opposite picture. The brave and
turbulent population of Oudh with a few exceptions »
treated the fugitives of the ruling race with a marked
kindness. Not only the loyalty and the courage but
also the calm heroic spirit with which the sepoys in
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the Lucknow Residency endured dangers and trials
are worthy of all honour. The devotion and fidelity
of humble native attendants and loyal sepoys, the
patient endurance and calm courage of our country-
men and countrywomen, the high energy and valour
of the British soldier, afford some relief to the most
terrible features of a tale of wrath and fury.

GEORGE WILLIAM FORREST.

IrrLEY TTRN, OXFORD,
October 1904.



NOTE ON THE ILLUSTRATIONS.

The Illustrations for these volumes have been selected with special
reference to their importance as historical documents illuminative of
the text.

The portrait of John Nicholson is from a daguerreotype taken in 1851.
When he was in England on furlough Lady Edwardes, the wife of his
dearest and oldest friend, informed me that he had it done to please his
mother, who had often asked him to give her a portrait of himself. Lady
Edwardes also said that she considered it a better likeness than the
portrait with dark brown beard and moustache in the East India United
Service Club. The daguerreotype gives the smooth frank face of a
youth, but of a youth with a massive brow, bright and confiding eyes,
firm mouth, which indicate the penetrating insight, the iron will, and
the imperious temper which made the lad a born leader of men.

The portrait of Henry Lawrence with cap and beard, so commonly
reproduced from a photograph done at Lucknow at a period of life when
sorrow and sickness had hollowed the cheeks and the toil of Empire
had wasted the wiry form, is not characteristic of the man. The portrait
in this book, from a daguerrveotype taken at an earlier period of life,
presents in a very noble form the combination of administrative energy
and a soldier’s clear courage with charity, high culture, and a grave and
religious temper. It would adorn well the text of Clarendon’s great
History.

Of a very different type, but singularly interesting, is the portrait of
James Outram. Many of his comrades prefer it to the well-known
painting by Thomas Brighstocke. The portrait of Havelock is disap-
pointing, but it is the best that can be got, and it grows into favour
upon better acquaintance. The forehead, wide and high, explains that
Havelock was not only a successful commander, but also a scholar and a
man of letters. The portrait of Sir John Inglis is a good representation
of a typical regimental officer. A brave soldier and a strict disciplinarian,
he was generally and justly beloved on account of his unassuming de-
meanour and warmth of heart. Lady Inglis informed me it was a good
likeness of her husband. The portrait of Neill does not represent the
popular conception of the man, but the firm posture and the face express
a virile and masterful will, and the square brow indicates capacity equal
to the greatest emergency. The portrait of Sir Colin Campbell in his
simple Mutiny dress is well known. The artist has given us the wiry

VOL. I
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frame, the firm mouth, the shrewd honest face, of “the war-bred Sir
Colin,” as Charles Napier called him.

The drawings made on the spot, from which a large number of the
Illustrations have been reproduced, preserve and transmit places of
inextricable sorrow and heroic valour which Englishmen would not
willingly let die. The sketch of the Well at Cawnpore is singularly‘i
impressive, and conveys its lesson. The view of the Bibigarh, where
the women and children were confined, is important, because it shows{
that some of the brutal pictures of the scene of slaughter published at
the time represent the result of a base imagination. The fatal well is
now covered with a Gothic memorial, the accursed house of captivity and
death has been levelled to the ground, and all the part around is a fair
garden. The sketch of the Residency Church at Lucknow is a sad and
sublime record of the siege: the Gothic edifice battered by shot and
shell ; the oppressively desolate churchyard raked with grave-heap after
grave-heap. On one can be traced the letters “Sir H. L.” They mark
the resting-place of Henry Lawrence. When life was fast ebbing away
he expressed a wish to be buried in the same grave as the British soldier.
A plain tomb has now been erected over his soldier's grave. Where
the little church stood is a trim and green lawn : the sacred enclosure
is as neat and peaceful as a quiet country churchyard in England ; the
multitude of graves are bright with flowers, and the paths are radiant
with roses.

NOTE ON THE MAPS AND PLANS.

TaE Maps and Plans are reproduced by permission of the Government
of India from the maps and plans prepared specially for “The Selections
from State Papers preserved in the Military Department, 1857-58.” The
topographical details were drawn from Military Records and Revenue
Surveys, and I must express my obligations to the officers of the Survey
Office for the infinite trouble taken by them to ensure accuracy.
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THE words giveu below have not been explained in footnotes :—

Hawildar.—A. sepoy non-commissioned officer corresponding to a
sergeant.

Jemadar.—The title of the second rank of native officer in a company
of sepoys.

Khaldsi.—A Mahomedan labourer of a superior order, employed chiefly
about ships or in the army.

Khareta (Ar., a bag).—The ornamental bag used as an envelope for a
letter from or to a person of high rank. Hence the letter itself.

Subadar.—The chief native officer of a company of sepoys.

Pandy.—The surname Pandé (Skt., Panditi) was a very common one
among the high-caste sepoys of the Bengal army, being the title of
a subdivisional branch of the Brahmins of the Upper Provinces,
which furnished many men to the ranks.

THE SPELLING OF WORDS AND NAMES,

The orthography of the writers of the time has been followed as far
as possible. Not about Lakhndo and Kdnhptr, but Lucknow and Cawn-
pore, there is a sacred halo. It is true “Swami House” is correct and
orthodox, but “Sammy House” was what the soldiers who so stoutly
defended the temple called it, and to alter it would be an act of repulsive
pedantry. The corruption of the name is characteristic of the British'
soldier, and about “Sammy House ” dwells the memory of many a hard-
fought and many a signal deed of valour.

In revising this book for the press instances have occurred in which
the spelling of the names of soldiers and officers in the State Papers,
and in the literature of the period, did not coincide with the orthography
of the Army List. This no doubt rose from the difficulties of the situa-
tion. It has been a matter of anxious care to adjust these differences,
but the following have been discovered too late for alteration in the text.

CORRIGENDA—Vor. L

7, For Empland read Kempland.
L 11, n  Masters n Master.
P. 458,1. 22, « 13th Native Cavalry «  13th Irregular Native Cavalry.
6, 1. 21, « Bolton " Boulton,
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frame, the firm mouth, the shrewd honest face, of “the war-bred Sir
Colin,” as Charles Napier called him,

The drawings made on the spot, from which a large number of the
Illustrations have been reproduced, preserve and transmit places of
inextricable sorrow and heroic valour which Englishmen would not
willingly let die. The sketch of the Well at Cawnpore is singularly7
impressive, and conveys its lesson. The view of the Bibigarh, where
the women and children were confined, is important, because it shows{
that some of the brutal pictures of the scene of slaughter published at
the time represent the result of a base imagination. The fatal well is
now covered with a Gothic memorial, the accursed house of captivity and
death has been levelled to the ground, and all the part around is a fair
garden. The sketch of the Residency Church at Lucknow is a sad and
sublime record of the siege: the Gothic edifice battered by shot and
shell ; the oppressively desolate churchyard raked with grave-heap after
grave-heap. On one can be traced the letters “Sir H. L.” They mark
the resting-place of Henry Lawrence. When life was fast ebbing away
he expressed a wish to be buried in the same grave as the British soldier.
A plain tomb has now been erected over his soldier's grave. Where
the little church stood is a trim and green lawn : the sacred enclosure
is as neat and peaceful as a quiet country churchyard in England ; the
multitude of graves are bright with flowers, and the paths are radiant
with roses.

NOTE ON THE MAPS AND PLANS.

Tre Maps and Plans are reproduced by permission of the Government
of India from the maps and plans prepared specially for “The Selections
from State Papers preserved in the Military Department, 1857-58.” The
topographical details were drawn from Military Records and Revenue
Surveys, and I must express my obligations to the officers of the Survey
Office for the infinite trouble taken by them to ensure accuracy.
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THE words giv:n below have not been explained in footnotes :—

Havildar.—A sepoy non-commissioned officer corresponding to a
sergeant.

Jemadar.—The title of the second rank of native officer in a company
of sepoys.

Khaldsi.—A Mahomedan labourer of a superior order, employed chiefly
about ships or in the army.

Klareta (Ar., a bag).—The ornamental bag used as an envelope for a
letter from or to a person of high rank. Hence the letter itself.

Subadar.—The chief native officer of a company of sepoys.

Pandy.—The surname Pinde (Skt., Panditi) was a very common one
among the high-caste sepoys of the Bengal army, being the title of
a subdivisional branch of the Brahmins of the Upper Provinces,
which furnished many men to the ranks.

THE SPELLING OF WORDS AND NAMES,

The orthography of the writers of the time has been followed as far
as possible. Not about Lakhndo and Kdnhpur, but Lucknow and Cawn-
pore, there is a sacred halo. It is true “Swami House” is correct and
orthodox, but “Sammy House” was what the soldiers who so stoutly
defended the temple called it, and to alter it would be an act of repulsive
pedantry. The corruption of the name is characteristic of the British
soldier, and about “Sammy House” dwells the memory of many a hard-
fought and many a signal deed of valour.

In revising this book for the press instances have occurred in which
the spelling of the names of soldiers and officers in the State Papers,
and in the literature of the period, did not coincide with the orthography
of the Army List. This no doubt rose from the difficulties of the situa-
tion. It has been a matter of anxious care to adjust these differences,
but the following have been discovered too late for alteration in the text.

CORRIGENDA—Vor. I

P. 426,1. 7, For Empland read Kempland.
P. 453, 1 11, w Masters " Master.
P. 458, 1. 22, « 13th Native Cavalry »  13th Irregular Native Cavalry.

P, 466, 1. 21, « Bolton w  Boulton,
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HISTORY OF THE INDIAN MUTINY.

CHAPTER L

At the close of the year 1856, the Government of
India had decided that the old-fashioned musket
should be superseded by the Enfield rifle. Depdts
for instruction in the use of the new weapon had
been formed at three stations—Dum-Dum, a canton-
ment in the neighbourhood of Calcutta, and Umballa
and Sialkot, in Upper India. Large numbers of
cartridges for the new rifle had been manufactured
at Fort-William, in Calcutta, and supplied to the
different depdts. On the 24th of January 1857,
Major-General Hearsey, Commanding the Presidency
Division, forwarded two letters for immediate sub-
mission to the Government of India. One of them
was from Captain Wright, attached to the Rifle
Instruction Depét at Dum-Dum, stating ““that there
appears to be a very unpleasant feeling existing
among the native soldiers, who are here for instruc-
tion, regarding the grease used in preparing the car-
tridges, some evil-disposed persons having spread a
report that it consists of a mixture of the fat of pigs
and cows.” He added: ‘“The belief in this report
has been strengthened by the behaviour of a khalds:

attached to the magazine, who, I am told, asked a
VOL. I. A

1857.
27th Jan.
The greased
cartridge.



2 THE INDIAN MUTINY.

sepoy of the 2nd Regiment, Native (Grenadier) In-
fantry, to supply him with water from his lota ; the
sepoy refused, observing he was not aware of what
caste the man was. The khaldsy immediately re-
joined : ‘ You will soon lose your caste, as ere long
you will have to bite cartridges covered with the fat
of pigs and cows,’ or words to that effect.” Captain
Wright also observed that some of the dep6t men in
conversing with him on the subject had stated that
‘““the report had spread throughout India, and when
they went to their homes their friends would refuse
to eat with them.” He added: “I assured them
(believing it to be the case) that the grease used
is composed of mutton-fat and wax, to which they
replied : ‘It may be so, but our friends will not
believe it; let us obtain the ingredients from the
bazar and make it up ourselves; we shall then know
what is used, and be able to assure our fellow-
soldiers and others that there is nothing in it pro-
hibited by our caste.’”

Letter from The other letter forwarded by General Hearsey
toojor Bon- was from Major Bontein, commanding the Depot of

Musketry at Dum-Dum, mentioning that, on receipt
of the letter from Captain Wright, he had paraded
all the native portion of the depot and called for any
complaints that the men might wish to prefer. ¢ At
least two-thirds of the detachment immediately
stepped to the front, including all the native com-
missioned officers. In a manner perfectly respectful
they very distinctly stated their objections to the
present method of preparing cartridges for the new
rifled musket. The mixture employed for greasing
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cartridges was opposed to their religious feeling, and
as a remedy they begged to suggest the employment
of wax and oil in such proportions as, in their
opinion, would answer the purpose required.”!
General Hearsey recommended “that the officer
commanding the Rifle Depdt might be authorised
to obtain from the bazar whatever ingredients might
be necessary, which the sepoys might be allowed to
make up for themselves.” The answer of the Govern-
ment was not long in coming. The concession was
immediate and complete. The officer in command
of the depét was authorised to obtain from the bazar
the ingredients necessary for the greasing of the
bullets, and the men themselves were to be permitted
to make up the ingredients.

But already the sepoys at Barrackpore, the great
military station situated on the banks of the Hooghly,
sixteen miles from Calcutta, had proceeded to
mutinous excesses. Barrackpore was at that time
the headquarters of the Presidency Division of the
army, and four native regiments were quartered
there—the 2nd Grenadiers, the 34th Native Infantry,
the 43rd Light Infantry, and the 70th Native In-
fantry. The station was commanded by Brigadier
Charles Grant ; and the general of the Division was
John Hearsey, a brave cavalry soldier, who had
perhaps as large a knowledge of the sepoy, of his
temper, of his habits, of his language, as any officer
in the native army.® On the 24th of January,

! From Brevet-Major J. Bontein, “ State Papers,” vol. i., page 2.
2 Sir J. W. Kaye, “ History of the Sepoy War,” vol. i., page 313.

Mutinous
excesses at
Barrackpore.
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General Hearsey wrote that ‘“an ill-feeling is said
to subsist in the minds of the sepoys, caused by a
report spread probably by the Dharma Sabha, a
religious Hindu party in Calcutta, that it was the
design of Government to convert the soldiers to
Christianity by force.” The writer stated that he
would not have attached much weight to these
reports, but contemporaneously with them a sergeant’s
bungalow had been burnt down at Raneegunge, and
three incendiary fires had taken place at Barrackpore
in a few days, one of them destroying the Telegraph
Office bungalow. General Hearsey added, that per-
haps the party who were averse to the re-marriage
of widows were using these means to embarrass the
Government.!

An ancient and widely-spread custom has pro-
hibited the Hindu widow from a second marriage.
During the administration of Lord Dalhousie, an Act
which permitted her to marry again had been pro-
posed and discussed, and it was passed by his
successor. The permission for widows to marmy
again trenched upon the Hindu's idea of positive
morality, and tended to confirm the suspicion which
had entered his mind that the Government wished to
tamper with his creed. The establishment of tele-
graphs and railways, and the opening of schools, had
created a feeling of unrest in the land, and appeared
to the orthodox to threaten the destruction of the
social and religious fabric of Hindu society. The

! From Maj.-Gen. J. B. Hearsey, C.B., “State Papers, vol. i.,
page 9.
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propagator of sedition and the fanatic, the two great
enemies of our rule, took advantage of the feeling of
unrest and suspicion to raise the cry that a systematic
attack was to be made on the ancient faith and
customs of the people, and they pointed to the
introduction of the greased cartridge as a proof of
what they so sedulously preached. They persuaded
tbe Brahmin sepoy that there could no longer be any
doubt that a sinister but systematic attempt was
being made on his religion. They declared that the
Government had long been desirous that he should
do something incompatible with his creed and per-
form some external rite destructive of his caste. The
greased cartridge was the instrument intended to
work this nefarious design. It had to be bitten
before loading. The biting of a paper greased with
cow’s fat involved the loss of caste. To the Brahmin
sepoy the loss of caste meant becoming an outcast,
an object of loathing and disgust. It brought shame
and misery upon his wife and children; it deprived
him of the consolation of his religion ; and it entailed
upon him, instead of an eternity of happiness, an
eternity of woe.! To escape the loss of caste the

! Lord Lawrence, in his Letter relating to the trial of the King of
Delhi, gives an important and interesting conversation which he and
Brigadier-General Chamberlain held at Umballa in 1858 with a Jemadar
of the 3rd Punjab Infantry. This man,a Bhajpoorea Rajpoot by caste,
and a native of Hindustan, was at Ghazipore on furlough when the
mutiny broke out; he and his two brothers joined an English indigo
planter, and during seven months were of great use to that gentleman
on several occasions of difficulty and disturbance. He was on his way
thence to rejoin his regiment in the Punjab when he met the Chief
Commissioner’s camp at Umballa. Though holding a certificate of his

good conduct and services at Ghazipore, he still, even at Umballa,
seemed doubtful of the reception he would meet with. Ho was
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sepoys determined to band together to refuse the
cartridges. The incendiary fires at Barrackpore

reserved at first, and it was only during a lengthened examination that
he by degrees described what he had heard and seen. In this conversa-
tion he affirmed that there was a general belief among the Hindustani
sepoys that the destruction of their caste and religion had been finally
resolved on by the English. “8o strong was this belief,” he said,
“that when I talked with the relations and friends of sepoys, and
endeavoured to combat their views, I ended in almost believing that they
were right. Then again, when I talk to you and hear what you say, I
see how foolish such ideas were.” He added that “ the English officers
little knew how strong this impression had become in the Native
Army: that more than five years ago the belief had existed, and had
nearly brought on an ¢meute: that the caravanserais for travellers,
and the supply depits (serais and bardasht-khanas) erected by Govern-
ment on the Grand Trunk Road, were said to be devised with the
object of destroying caste, and that before long impure kinds of food
would be prepared in them which the people would be foreed to buy
and eat.”

General Low, Member of the Supreme Council, writing regarding’
the case of the Irregular Infantry of Oudh, said: “I cannot say with
much precision all that ought, in my opinion, to be done by orders of
the Government, especially as it appears to me, that probably the
main body of this regiment, in refusing to bite these cartridges, did
so refuse, not from any feeling of disloyalty or disaffection towards
the Government or their officers, but from an unfeigned and sincere
dread, owing to their belief in the late rumours about the construction
of those cartridges, that the act of biting them would involve a serious
injury to their caste and to their future respectability of character.
In short, that if they were to bite these cartridges, they would be
guilty of a heinous sin in a religious point of view.” Mr. J. P. Grant,
another Member of the Council, writing regarding the same affair, said :
“Although there can be no doubt that the cartridges which they
refused to bite were not the new cartridges for the Enfield musket,
which by reason of the very culpable conduct of the Ordnance Depart~
ment have caused all this excitement, yet it may be presumed that
they were the first cartridges that these men were ever required to
bite in their lives. Also there is no saying what extreme mismanage-
ment there may have been on the part of the Commandant and officers
in the origin of the affair; the mere fact of making cartridge biting a
point after it had been purposely dropped from the authorised system
of drill, merely for rifle practice, is a presumption for any imaginable
degree of perverse management.”
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which General Hearsey had reported in his letter
were meant as a warning to the officers and to the
Government of the discontent which had taken pos-
session of tie native army.

General Hearsey, knowing the religious prejudices
of the sepoys and how easily they were aroused,
determined to hear what the men had to say, and
ordered a special court of inquiry to be held at
Barrackpore, ““ for the purpose of ascertaining from the
evidence of a selected portion of the 2nd Regiment
Native (Grenadier) Infantry, the cause of their con-
tinued objection to the paper of which the new rifle
cartridges are composed.”' The court met on the
6th February, and Byjonath Pandy, a sepoy, was called
and examined. Asked if he had made any objections
to the cartridges, he answered that he felt a suspicion
that the paper might affect his caste. Asked for his
reason for this suspicion, he answered that it was a
new kind of paper, and one which he had not seen
before ; he had “ heard a report that there was some
fat in the paper; it was a bazar report.” He was
then asked to examine the paper carefully in the
light and explain to the court what he saw objection-
able in it. He answered: “My suspicion of the

General
Hearsey
orders
Special
Court of
Inquiry.

paper proceeds from its being stiff and like cloth in |

the mode of tearing it; it seems to us different from

the old paper in use amongst us.”’ The next

witness, Chand Khan, also objected to the paper

because “it was tough, and in burning it, it smells

as if there were grease in it.” Being questioned

whether he was present when a piece of the paper was
! “State Papers,” vol. i., pages 7-8. 2 Ibd. vol. i., page 9.
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burnt, he answered: “On the evening of the 4th
instant a piece of the cartridge paper was dipped in
water and afterwards burnt; when burning, it made
a fizzing noise and smelt as if there was grease in it.”!
A piece of the paper was burnt in the court, and Chand
Khan was unable to detect any grease, but being
asked if his objection still remained, he said: “I
object to this paper being used, as every one is
dissatisfied with it on account of its being glazed,
shining like wax-cloth.”? The native officer, Subadar
Khoda Buksh, stated: “I have no objection to the
cartridge myself, but I know there is a general report
in the cantonment that the paper is made up with
fat.” Another native officer, Jemadar Golaub Khan,
said: “There is grease in it, I feel assured, as it
differs from the paper which has heretofore been
always used for cartridges.” General Hearsey, in
forwarding the proceedings of the court of inquiry,
wrote as follows:—* A perusal of the several state-
ments and opinions recorded in these proceedings
clearly establishes in my judgment that a most
unreasonable and unfounded suspicion has unfortu-
nately taken possession of the minds of all the native
officers and sepoys at this station, that grease or fat
is used in the composition of this cartridge paper;
and this foolish idea is now so rooted in them that
it would, I am of opinion, be both idle and unwise
even to attempt its removal. I would accordingly
beg leave to recommend, for the consideration of
Government, the expediency (if practicable) of order-
ing this rifle ammunition to be made up of the same
1 “State Papers,” vol, i., page 9.
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description of paper which has been hitherto em-
ployed in the magazines for the preparation of the
common musket cartridge, by which means this
groundless suspicion and objection could be at once
disposed of.” Major-General Hearsey, with all his
experience of the East, failed to understand that
concessions made to the murmurs and threats of an
ignorant race only increase their perversity and folly.

A week after General Hearsey had forwarded the
proceedings of the court of inquiry, he wrote to
Government : “ We have at Barrackpore been dwell-
ing upon a mine ready for explosion.” A jemadar
of the 34th Regiment had revealed to him the gravity
of the situation. The man deposed, that on the 5th,
the day before the court of inquiry, two or three men
had come to him and made him accompany them to
the parade ground, where he found a great crowd
assembled, composed of men of the different regi-
ments of the station. They had their heads tied
up with cloth, so that a small part of the face was
exposed. They asked him to join them, and I asked
them what I was to join them in. They replied that
they were willing to die for their religion, and that
if they could make an arrangement that evening, the
next night (6th February 1857) they would plunder
the station and kill all the Europeans, and then go
where they liked.”' General Hearsey in his letter,
bringing the foregoing to the notice of Government,
pointed out that there was great danger in having
a brigade of four or five native corps so close to the
capital, and proceeded to remark: ““ You will perceive

1 «State Papers,” vol. i., page 20.
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in all this business the native officers were of no use;
in fact, they are afraid of their men, and dare not
act; all they do is to hold themselves aloof, and
expect by so doing they will escape censure as not
actively implicated. This has always occurred on
such occasions, and will continue to the end of our
sovereignty in India. Well might Sir Charles Met-
calfe say ‘that he expected to awake some fine
morning and find that India had been lost to the
English Crown.””

The evidence of the jemadar proved to General
Hearsey that a mutinous spirit had taken deep root
among the sepoys, and he therefore thought it
necessary to assemble the troops in order to point
out to them the absurdity of the fears they enter-
tained for their caste. On the 9th of February he
paraded the brigade, and addressed the assembled
regiments in their mother tongue. He energetically
and explicitly explained to the men the folly of the
idea that possessed them that the Government or
their officers wished to interfere with their caste or
religious prejudices, and impressed upon them the
absurdity of their for one moment believing that
they were to be forced to become Christians. I
told them the English were Christians of ¢ the Book,’
t.e. ‘Protestants’; that we admitted no proselytes,
but those who being adults could read and fully
understand the precepts laid down therein; that if
they came and threw themselves down at our feet
imploring to be made ‘The Book’ Christians, it
could not be done; they could not be baptized until
they had been examined in the ‘tenets’ of ‘The
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Book,” and proved themselves fully conversant in
them, and then they must of their own good will
and accord desire to become Christians of ‘The
Book’ ere they could be made so.”

General Hearsey thought that he had convinced
the men of their delusions. He wrote to Govern-
ment that he had “heard from the officers command-
ing regiments that their native officers and men
appeared quite khush (pleased), and seemed to be
relieved from a heaviness of mind that had possessed
them.” But any good effect which his address might
have had on the sepoys was quickly destroyed by
the news which reached them of what had been
done by their comrades at Berhampore.

About a hundred miles from Barrackpore, and a
few miles from Moorshedzbad, the ancient capital
of the Nawabs of Bengal, lies the military station
of Berhampore. At that time there were cantoned
in it the 19th Regiment Native Infantry, a corps of
irregular cavalry, and two 6-pounder guns manned
by native gunners. The rumours regarding the
greased cartridge did not take long in reaching
Berhampore. FEarly in Febrnary, a Brahmin pay-
havildar, a man of good character, said to Colonel
Mitchell, commanding the 19th Regiment Native
Infantry: ‘“ What is this story everybody is talking
about, that Government intends making the native
army use cows' and pigs’ fat with the ammunition
for their new rifles?”' Colonel Mitchell asked him
if he believed there was any truth in the report;
he replied he could not believe it. On the 24th of
‘ 1 “State Papers,” vol i., pages 39 and 41.
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February, a small detachment of the 3ith Native
Infantry reached the station, and they were anxiously
questioned by the men of the 19th as to the truth of
the story regarding the greased cartridges. What
they heard re-awakened their fears. Next day, when
Colonel Mitchell ordered a parade for exercise with
blank ammunition for the following morning, the
men refused to receive the percussion caps served
out to them in the evening, saying ‘‘there was a
doubt how the cartridges were prepared.” Upon
receipt of this intelligence, Colonel Mitchell went
down with the Adjutant to the lines, and called up
all the native commissioned officers in front of the
quarter-guard, and explained to them that the car-
tridges about to be served out in the morning were -
the cartridges made up by the 7th Regiment Native
Infantry upwards of a year ago, and that they had
better tell the men of their companies that those
who refused to obev the orders of their officers were
liable to the severest punishment.! Two of the
native officers afterwards swore that he said that
they must take the cartridges, otherwise they would
be sent to Burma or China where they would die;*
but the statement was contradicted by their com-

1 “State Papers,” vol. i, pages 39 and 41.

2 « At this time a considerable body of men had assembled around
the Colonel, who was very angry. I did not hear all that he said, but
I heard him say that they must take the cartridges, otherwise they
would be sent to China and Burma, where they would all die, ‘and
recollect that I will have a parade to-morrow morning, and have the
cartridges served out to you by the officers of companies, and those
that refuse to take them will be imprisoned or transported.”” (Evidence

of Shaik Kureem Bux, Subadar, No. 4 Company, 19th Regiment
Native Infantry).—“State Papers,” vol. i., page 53.
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manding officer. Colonel Mitchell, after ordering
a morning parade of all the troops, returned home.
About ten or eleven at night, as he was falling
asleep, he heard the sound of drums and shouts
proceeding from the lines. I dressed immediately,
went over to my Adjutant’s quarters, and directed
him to assemble all the officers at my quarters
quietly. I then went to Captain Alexander, and
directed him to bring his cavalry as soon as possible
into cantonments, and to be ready at some distance
on the right of our lines. I then went to the
artillery lines and got the detachment of artillery,
guns and ammunition ready for immediate action.
I must explain that by the time I got to the

Adjutant’s quarters the drill-havildar of the regiment
" was making his way to the Adjutant’s quarters.
I asked what the disturbance was in the lines; he
said the regiment had broken open the bells-of-arms,
and had forcibly taken possession of their arms and
ammunition, and that they had loaded their muskets.
As soon as I got the cavalry and artillery ready, 1
marched down with the officers of the regiments to
the lines. I found the men in undress, formed in
line and shouting. Some voices among them called
out, ‘ Do not come on, the men will fire.” Colonel
Mitchell then loaded the guns with grape, and
leaving them in range, dismounted some of the
troopers, and marched down on the men. He
sounded the officers’ call, on which a number of
native officers and sepoys surrounded him. He
demanded the meaning of the disturbance. The
native officers made all kinds of excuses, begging
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that he would not be violent with the men. He
then addressed them, and pointed out the absurdity
of their fears and the gravity of their offence. “I
told the officers they must immediately call upon
their men to lay down their arms; the native officers
told me the men would not do so in the presence of
the guns and cavalry, but if I would withdraw them
they would go off quietly to their lines. This was
about three o’clock in the morning. I ordered a
parade at sunrise, and retired, sending the cavalry to
their lines and the guns to the magazine.”' The
next morning the regiment fell in for parade without
a symptom of insubordination. After inspection,
Colonel Mitchell had the Articles of War read to
the men, saluted the colours, and dismissed them.
The action of Colonel Mitchell was severely criti-
cised at the time. It has been urged that he should
have made no concession to the demand of sepoys
with arms in their hands and in open mutiny.
Colonel Mitchell, however, in his defence before the
court of inquiry held to investigate his conduct,
maintained that he made no compromise with the
men, and that before he ordered the guns and cavalry
off, the native officers declared to him that some of
the companies had lodged their arms, and that the
rest were doing so. The Governor-General, in his
minute referring to the proceedings of the court,
remarked : “It is no doubt true that there was
no arranged bargain between Lieutenant-Colonel
Mitchell and his men; but whereas it was his duty
to listen to no proposals, and to accept no assurances
1 «State Papers,” vol. i., page 42.
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until he had satisfied himself, through his European
officers, that every musket in the ranks was laid down,
he did yield to representations made on behalf of a
regiment in mutiny, with arms in its hands, and he
did so in order to obtain from them that which he
ought to have exacted as an act of obedience. It
is impossible not to view the mode in which
Lieutenant-Colonel Mitchell withdrew the coercing
force as a triumph to the mutinous sepoys.”' It
must, however, be borne in mind that Colonel
Mitchell had only 200 men to coerce 800 sepoys, and
as he told the court of inquiry he was uncertain
“whether, if it came to a fight, we were able to
coerce the men of the 19th Native Infantry, and that
I was in consequence exceedingly desirous of avoid-
ing a collision.” The subsequent career of the
native cavalry and artillery renders it probable that
had Colonel Mitchell resorted to force, the men
would have joined the revolted regiment, and there-
fore the course he adopted may be regarded as
prudent. But the Indian Empire was won by rash
and daring deeds.

The news of the outbreak at Berhampore reached
Calcutta about the 4th of March, and the Govern-
ment realised that the situation was full of difficulty
and peril. They resolved to punish the mutineers.
But between Calcutta and Dinapore, a distance of
more than three hundred miles, there was only
one European regiment. A steamer was therefore
despatched to Rangoon to bring Her Majesty’s
84th Regiment. A few days after its departure

1 See “ State Papers,” vol. i, Appendix A., page xvii.
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an important incident occurred in Calcutta. Two
sepoys of the 2nd Native Infantry (Grenadiers), who
belonged to the detachment on guard at Fort William,
paid a visit to the subadar commanding the Mint
Guard, and said to him: “The havildar-major has
sent us; the Governor-General is going to Barrack-
pore to take the magazine, and there will be fighting
there. The Calcutta militia are coming into the fort ;
you bring your guard and join them.” The subadar,
understanding what their news implied, ordered them
to be arrested, and next morning sent them prisoners
to Fort William. They were tried by a native court-
martial, found guilty, and sentenced to imprisonment
for fourteen years. The Commander-in - Chief
remarked : “ Death would be the appropriate punish-
ment for the crime of which the prisoners have been
convicted. There is none of which a soldier can be
guilty which more imperatively calls for the severest
sentence which can be awarded by a court-martial,
but fourteen years of disgraceful labour may be to
some worse than death, and the Commander-in-Chief
will not therefore call for a revision of the sentence.
He is disposed to believe that many of the native
officers who composed the court would agree with
him in this view, and he therefore has unhesitatingly
approved and confirmed their award. The miserable
fate which the prisoners have brought upon them-
selves will excite no pity in the breast of any true

soldier.”?
General After the departure from Barrackpore of the native
Hearse¥s  officers, who had been warned as members of the

address. 1 ¢ State Papers,” vol. i., Appeudix C., page liii.
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court-martial ordered to assemble for the trial of the
sepoys of the 2nd Regiment, General Hearsey held a
general parade of the troops, and again addressed the
men. He told them what had occurred at Calcutta,
and bid them beware of the evil-minded men “ who
endeavour to take the bread from the mouths of
good sepoys by making them the instruments of their
bad designs.” He then spoke of the discontent still
prevailing in regard to the cartridge paper, and
attempted to allay their fears by explaining to them
that the glazed appearance of the paper was due to
starch employed in its composition. “I then took a
letter I received many years ago from Maharajah
Golab Sing from a gold tissue kharita, and handed
it successively to all the native officers, and bid them
open it and look at it, and tell me if it was not more
glossy than the cartridge paper they suspected, and
to go into the ranks and show it to their men.
Having done this, I asked the native officers and
men if it was likely a Dogra Brahmin or Rajpoot,
who so strictly protected kine, would himself write
on paper that had grease in it of such nature.” He
then mentioned to them how a belief in the fiction
about the greased paper had led the 19th into open
mutiny, and that the Government were very angry,
had ordered the corps to march to Barrackpore, and
would probably command him to disband the regi-
ment. In that case all the troops of the division
would be assembled at Barrackpore to witness the
disbandment, artillery, Europeans, and cavalry, and
that the ceremony of striking the name and number

of the regiment (the 19th Regiment Native Infantry)
VOL. I. B
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from the list of the army would be carried out exactly
in the same manner as the old 34th Regiment Native
Infantry was disbanded at Meerut. He added: “I
said I inform you of this beforehand because your
enemies are trying to make you believe that European
troops, with cavalry and artillery, will be sent here
suddenly to attack you; these and such lies are
fabricated and rumoured amongst you to cause
trouble. That no European or other troops would
come to Barrackpore until ordered to do so by me,
and that I would give them timely intelligence of
their coming here.” !

The General concluded by assuring the sepoys
that their caste and religious prejudices were safe,
and that any endeavour to interfere with them would
meet with most severe punishment. He then rode
slowly down the ranks, spoke to the men wearing
medals, and asked them in what action they had
won them.

Two days after General Hearsey had addressed the
men at Barrackpore, the steamer conveying the 84th
Regiment reached Calcutta, and the men were sent
to Chinsurah, eight miles from Barrackpore. Orders
were immediately sent to Berhampore for the 19th
Native Infantry to march to Barrackpore, but before
they reached that station the first blood had been
shed in the Indian Mutiny.

On Sunday, the 29th of March, a non-commissioned
officer came in the afternoon to the quarters of Lieu-
tenant Baugh, Adjutant of the 34th Native Infantry,
and reported that a sepoy of the name of Mungul

1 ¢ State Papers,” vol. i,, page 83,
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Pandy had turned out in front of the quarter-guard
of the regiment and fired at the sergeant-major.
Having put on his uniform and placed a brace of
pistols in his holsters, Baugh galloped down to the
lines. He had scarcely pulled up at the quarter-
guard when a shot was fired and his horse fell under
him. As soon as he could disentangle himself, he
drew his pistol from the left holster, and, seeing that
Mungul Pandy was reloading, he fired. Mungul
Pandy stopped loading. Baugh drew his sword
and rushed in to secure him. The sergeant-major
came to the assistance of his officer. The fanatic,
mad with bhang, held both his assailants at bay,
and severely wounded them with his sword. A
treacherous blow dealt by another sepoy knocked
down the sergeant-major, and at the same time
Baugh was brought to the ground. Both in another
instant would have been dead men if a Mahomedan
sepoy, Shaik Pultoo, had not rushed forward and
held the fanatic until the two wounded men had
time to rise and make good their retreat. During
this time, with the exception of the gallant Shaik
Pultoo, not a man advanced from the quarter-guard
or from the lines to assist their officers or arrest the
criminal. 'When the Adjutant, maimed and bleed-
ing, was retiring from the conflict, he passed the
lines of his regiment and reproached the men as-
sembled there with having allowed their officers to
be cut down before their eyes without offering to
assist them; they made no reply, but turned their
backs, and moved sullenly away. Meanwhile a sepoy
had rushed to the quarters of the General, and
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informed him that “all the sepoys of the brigade
were turning out on their parades.” He immediately
ordered his horse to be saddled, and loaded revolvers
placed in the holsters. ¢ Whilst this was being
done, I went to my desk and wrote two short notes,
one addressed to Colonel Reed, commanding Her
Majesty’s 84th Foot at Chinsurah, the other to
Colonel Amsinck, commanding at Dum-Dum, to the
purport that, on receipt of these notes they were
instantly to move with the troops at their posts to
Barrackpore, for it was my intention, had the brigade
all turned out in a mutinous manner, to have taken
post in the Governor-General’s house with the fifty
Europeans who were at the flagstaff ghaut, and with
the officers of the force, and any men who might
prove true to Government and join us, to have
defended that position until relieved or supported.”*

The General then mounted his horse, and, accom-
panied by his two sons, galloped down to the parade-
ground of the 34th. On amriving there he asked
what was the matter, and was told by the officers
who were standing around what had taken place,
and he saw, eighty or ninety paces in front of the
quarter-guard, Mungul Pandy striding up and down
and vehemently calling upon his comrades ““ to join
him to defend and die for their religion and caste.”
The General immediately rode towards the quarter-
guard accompanied by his two sons and Major Ross,
the Assistant Adjutant-General. He heard an officer
shout out to him, “His musket is loaded.” “I
replied, ‘Damn his musket.”” On reaching the

! #State Papers,” vol. i., pages 109-110.
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guard, he ordered them to follow him. The native
officer said, “ He is loaded, and he will shoot us.”
“] again (shaking my revolver and pointing it partly
towards him) sharply repeated the order. The
jemadar looked askance at me and replied, ‘The
men of the guard are putting caps on the nipples.’
I said, in a commanding and peremptory voice, ‘Be
quick, and follow me,” and rode out in front towards
the mutineer. The guard followed, my aide-de-camp
on horseback close to the jemadar armed with his
revolver; my other son also close to the mnative
officer similarly armed, Major Ross in rear of myself.
As we approached the mutineer, we quickened our
pace. My son, Captain J. Hearsey, called to me,
‘Father, he is taking aim at you, look out sharp.’
I replied, ‘If I fall, John, rush upon him and put
him to death.)” Immediately after, the mutineer
fired, and the whistle of the bullet was heard by the
guard. Then they saw Mungul Pandy fall to the
ground. At the last moment he had turned the
muzzle to his breast and discharged it by the pressure
of his foot. On reaching him they found him covered
with blood, and his clothes burning and smoking.
The fire was quickly put out, and a medical officer
being at hand, it was discovered that his wound,
though severe, was superficial, and he was conveyed
to hospital. General Hearsey rode amongst the
sepoys of the 43rd Native Infantry, and told them
that no person should be permitted to interfere with
their religion and caste prejudices whilst he com-
manded them. He then went amongst the men of
the 34th Native Infantry, and reproached them for
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their passive demeanour. They answered in one
voice, *“ He is mad; he has taken bhang (intoxicating
drug) to excess.” “I replied, ‘Could you not have
seized him, and if he resisted, have shot him or
maimed him? Would you not have done so to a
mad elephant, or to a mad dog, and what difference
was there in the dangerous madness of a man and
the same in an elephant or a dog?’ They said he
had loaded his musket. ‘What,’ I replied, ‘are
vou afraid of a loaded musket?’ They were silent.
I bid them go quietly to their lines, and they did so,
immediately obeying my orders.” So closed the first
important episode in the Indian Mutiny, and the
action of the fine old soldier riding forward to
capture the fanatic was the first of many heroic
deeds.

Two days after the outbreak of Mungul Pandy,
the 19th Native Infantry marched into Barrackpore.
A mile from the cantonment General Hearsey met
them, and placing himself between the advanced
guard and head of the column, rode with them to
the parade. There were drawn up the 84th Foot,
a wing of the 53rd, two batteries of European
artillery, the Governor-General’s Bodyguard, and
the native brigade. After addressing a few words
to the 19th Native Infantry, the General commanded
that the order of Government for the disbandment
of the corps should be read. The order, after
mentioning the principal features of the outbreak
at Berhampore, stated the inflexible determination
of Government to enforce from its soldiers of every
rank and race, at all times and in all circumstances,
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unhesitating obedience. ‘They have sworn to give
it, and the Governor-General in Council will never
cease to exact it. To no men who prefer complaints
with arms in their hands will he ever listen.” The
General then pointed out that had the sepoys not
lent a too credulous ear to “the idle stories with
which false and evil-minded men had deceived them,
their religious scruples would then have remained
inviolate, and themselves would still be, as they had
hitherto been, faithful soldiers, trusted by the State,
and laying up for future years all the rewards of a
long and honourable service. But the Governor-
General in Council can no longer have any con-
fidence in this regiment, which has disgraced its
name, and has lost all claim to consideration and
indulgence. It is therefore the order of the Governor-
General in Council that the 19th Regiment Native
Infantry be now disbanded.”

After the order was read, the command was given
to pile arms. This being done, the next order to
take off their belts and hang them on their bayonets
was given, and immediately complied with. The
colours were then brought to the front of the
columns and placed upon a pile of three muskets.
The order was then given for the regiment to march,
and after it had proceeded a little distance from its
arms, it was halted and fronted, and the tumbril
with the pay of the men was brought to the front,
and the money due to them distributed. The
General then told the men that Government, though
it had punished them by summary dismissal from the
service, did not wish to disgrace them by stripping
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them of their uniform; and he also informed them
that, as a reward for their penitence and good con-
duct on the march from Berhampore, they would be
provided at the public cost with carriage to carry
them to their homes. “This gracious act,” the
General writes, “was keenly felt, and they loudly
bewailed their fate, many men saying the regiment
bad been misled (and as I understood) by the 34th
Regiment Native Infantry, on which corps they
vowed vengeance.”

The General then addressed the brigade; and
“after pointing out the mercy and justice of the
Government,” he assured them ‘“that no attempt
had been made from any quarter to injure their
caste or interfere in their religious prejudices in
any way.”! The evil reports that had been spread
abroad were proved to be bare falsehoods by the fact
that the 19th Regiment Native Infantry, in which
there were upwards of four hundred Brahmins and
one hundred and fifty Rajputs were now sent to their
homes, paid up to the uttermost farthing of their
claims, and were at liberty to visit any shrine they
chose, or to go and worship at the temples of the
villages where they were born, and where their
fathers had worshipped before them. The men
listened attentively, and when dismissed, dispersed
quietly to their lines. When the men of the 19th
Native Infantry had been paid, they were marched
under an European escort out of Barrackpore. As
they marched away from the parade, they cheered
the General and wished him long life, “and I

1 «State Papers,” vol. i., page 101.
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returned the compliment, making them promise me
they would behave properly on their way to their
homes.” With the firmness of a soldier executing
imperative instructions he had shown them kindliness
of feeling, and a consideration towards the men
which had won their hearts, and, as Lord Canning
wrote, he carried out * with perfect success one of
the most trying duties which can be imposed upon

a Commandant.”?

Six days after the disbandment of the 19th Regi-
ment Native Infantry, Mungul Pandy was brought
to trial for mutiny and for having used violence
against his superior officers; he was found guilty,
and sentenced to be hanged. The native officers
who tried him were unanimous in their verdict, and
eleven out of fourteen passed the sentence of death.?
The morning after the verdict Mungul Pandy was
hanged in the presence of all the troops at Barrack-
pore; and the columns of native infantry, having
been advanced close to the gallows, the General
addressed the men, telling them they had now wit-
nessed the punishment for mutiny, and bidding them
to take warning by it. On the 10th of April, two
days after the execution of Mungul Pandy, the
native officer who had incited the sepoys of the
quarter-guard to refrain from assisting their officer,
was brought to trial, and also sentenced to be hanged.
The sentence, however, could not be immediately
carried out owing to a legal difficulty. A week
elapsed before it was approved and confirmed by
the Commander-in-Chief, who wrote, “The extreme

1 “State Papers,” vol. i., page 105. 1 Itid., vol. i., page 109.
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punishment of military law has been justly awarded,
and General Anson trusts that the enormity of the
crime will be regarded with horror by every native
officer, non-commissioned officer, and soldier of his
army. Should, however, there be any still un-
detected who have looked on with apathy or passive
encouragement at the act of mutiny of which the
jemadar has been found guilty, his ignominious end
and that of sepoy Mungul Pandy will be a warning
to them of the fate which awaits all mutineers, and
which General Anson would fain hope will have a
beneficial influence upon their future conduct.” On
the 21st of April, General Hearsey wrote to Govern-
ment, “Jemadar Issuree Pandy was duly hanged by
the neck this afternoon, at six o’clock, in presence
of all the troops at the station, the crimes, finding,
and sentence of the general court-martial before
which he was arraigned, approved and confirmed
by His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief, having
been first carefully explained to all the native corps.
It may perhaps be satisfactory for the Government
to learn that, when on the scaffold, the jemadar made
a voluntary confession of his guilt, and admitted the
justice of the sentence which had been passed on him,
at the same time imploring all his fellow-soldiers who
were present to take warning by his untimely fate.”
Meanwhile, the disposition and temper of the 34th
Regiment Native Infantry had occupied the serious
attention of the Government, and it was determined
that evidence as to its state of feeling and temper
should be taken by a special court of inquiry com-
posed of field officers. The special court of inquiry,
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after a careful and patient investigation, declared
their opinion that the Sikhs and Mussulmans of the
34th Regiment Native Infantry were trustworthy
soldiers of the State, but the Hindus generally were
not trustworthy. Of eight officers of the regiment
summoned as witnesses, five, amongst whom were
the colonel and adjutant, expressed their opinion to
the same effect, and stated that, if the regiment were
ordered on field service, they should not accompany
it with full reliance on its loyalty and good conduct.
Upon a review of the facts of the case and the
decision of the special court, Lord Canning came
to the determination to disband the regiment, with
the exception of the native officers and sepoys who
bhad been absent from Barrackpore at the time of
Mungul Pandy’s murderous attack on the officers,
or who had “in course of recent events given the
Governor-General in Council good reason to believe in
their fidelity to their officers and to the Government.”*

! Three companies of the regiment were stationed at Chittagong in
Eastern Bengal. At the inducement of the officer commanding the
detachment, they sent the following petition :—

Translation of the petition of commissioned and non-commissioned
officers and sepoys of the 2nd, 3rd, and 4th companies, 34th Regiment
Native Infantry, dated Chittagong, the 22nd April 1857.

“ According to orders we left Barrackpore and came to Chittagong;
we obey and have obeyed all orders; we place no belief in the reports
lately circulated. It is with extreme regret we have heard of the
disgraceful conduct of the sepoy and guard towards the Adjutant and
the Sergeant-major.

“ By a careful performance of our duties we have gained a reputation
for fidelity to Government; these men have deprived us of it. . . .
We well know that the Government will consider us as faithful as
ever, and we pray that this petition may be sent to the Governor-
General in order that his Lordship may know the state of our feelings.”
—*“State Papers,” vol. i., page 175.
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“I should indeed,” wrote Lord Canning, ‘have
been glad if some punishment short of the disband-
ment of the seven companies of the 34th Regiment
Native Infantry, now stationed at Barrackpore, could
have been considered thoroughly adequate for the
occasion ; but upon a careful examination and com-
parison of the proceedings which are before the
Government, I am satisfied that no penalty less
general than this would meet the exigencies of the
case, or be effectual as an example.”! On the 6th
of May, two days after the judgment had been pro-
nounced, the seven companies of the 34th Native
Infantry, which were at Barrackpore, were disbanded
in the presence of all the troops. They were stripped
of their coats on parade, and marched out of the station
under escort of two companies of the 84th Foot.
The long interval of five weeks which was supposed
to intervene between the crime of the 34th Regiment
and its punishment has been regarded as a grave
error, and the punishment itself has been considered
as inadequate to the crime. But it must be borne in
mind that during the months of March and April
and the early part of May no military or civil officer,
however well acquainted with the land and the
people, suspected that the greater part of the Bengal
army had determined to mutiny.® Sir John Law-

1 ¢ State Papers,” vol. i, page 213,

2 His Excellency Lord Roberts of Candahar and Waterford, writes as
follows :—*“But that the mutiny was pre-arranged is, I think, proved
by the fact that, when the news of the outbreak at Meerut reached
Peshawar on the 12th May, letters were found addressed to sepoys in
nearly all the regiments at Peshawar calling upon them to join.”

Lord Canning, after an outbreak at Lucknow, wrote :—%“1 wish to
say that it is my conviction that the measures which have been taken
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rence, who had visited the rifle dep6t at Sialkot for
the purpose of seeing the new weapon, as well as
judging of the temper of the sepoys, had reported to
Lord Canning that “all were highly pleased with the
new musket, and quite ready to adopt it.” “The
officers assured him that no bad feeling had been
shown, and he could perceive no hesitation or reluc-
tance on the part of the sepoys.” General Barnard,
who commanded the Sirhind Division, had also sent
a favourable report of the behaviour of the troops
under his command. General Hearsey, the day after
the disbandment of the 34th XRegiment Native
Infantry, wrote that he had directed the European
troops to return to their cantonments, and added:
“It is not probable that I shall again require the
presence of any of these troops at this station.” Lord
Canning and his advisers, owing to these favourable
reports, were about to send back the 8§4th Regiment
to Burma, when news reached them from Upper
India of a serious outbreak at the important military
station of Meerut.

in dealing with mutineers have not been too mild. I have no doubt
that many rank offenders have not had their deserts, but I know of no
instance in which punishment of any individual could, with unques-
tioned justice, have been made more severe; and I am not disposed to
doubt the efficacy of the measures because the present ferment, in run-
ning its course over the land, after being checked in Bengal, has shown
itself in Oudh and the North-West. I would meet it everywhere with
the same deliberately measured punishments; picking out the leaders,
wherever this is possible, for the severest penalties of military law ;
visiting the common herd with disbandment, but carefully exempting
those whose fidelity, innocence, or perhaps timely repentance, is fully
proved.”



CHAPTER 1I

Tee Cantonment of Meerut, situated thirty-six
miles from the imperial city of Delhi, stands on a
wide plain, traversed by two main roads, the one
from Ghaziabad to Roorkee, running north and
south, and the Mall, lined with a fine avenue of lofty
trees, from east to west. On the north of the Mall
are lines of barracks for the accommodation of a
brigade of artillery, an European cavalry corps, and
a regiment of European infantry upon the right, left,
and centre respectively. The Roorkee Trunk road
separates the artillery and European infantry barracks
from those of the cavalry, and beyond the lines to
the north stretches an open expanse of country two
square miles in extent, which affords a splendid
parade ground for the troops. South of the barracks
in a continuous line are the quarters of the officers,
with their gardens extending to the Mall.

At the western extremity of the Mall runs a road
which leads to the Native infantry lines, situated due
south of the cavalry lines, at a distance of about a mile
Further south are the cavalry lines separated from
the Native infantry quarters by a wide space of

! The distances are as follows :—
Left of British cavalry to right of Native infantry, just

under . . . 1 mile.
Left of British mfantry to rlght of Natlve mfantry,
just under . 3y,

Left of artillery to rlght of \amve mfantry, just under 1§
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ground. East of the Native lines lie scattered the
bungalows of the officers attached to the Native
corps. Behind them is situated the Sudder or chief
cantonment bazar, extending southward almost to
the city boundary. To the east of the town, about a
mile from the city, is a great gaol capable of holding
four thousand prisoners.

In May 1857, at the station of Meerut, were
quartered the 1st Battalion of Her Majesty’s 60th
Rifles, the 6th Regiment of Dragoon Guards (Cara-
bineers), a troop of Horse Artillery, a company of
Foot Artillery, a Light Field Battery, and three
Native corps; the 3rd Light Cavalry, the 11th and the
20th Native Infantry. A report of the conversation
at Dum-Dum between the sepoy and the Lascar
regarding the greased cartridge was not long in
reaching the sepoys at Meerut, and caused much
excitement among them. It was also stated that
Government was attempting to destroy the religion
of the people by the mixture of ground bones with
the flour sold in the bazars. The disaffection
showed itself as at Barrackpore in the burning of
bungalows, and in officers not being saluted by their
men ; and it was whispered about that the sepoys had
determined not to touch a single cartridge. It there-
fore seemed advisable to Colonel Smyth, command-
ing the 3rd Light Cavalry, to hold a parade in order
to explain to the men the new mode by which they
might load their carbines without biting their car-
tridges, and on the 23rd of April he ordered that a
parade should be held for the purpose the following

.

May 1857,
Meerut.
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morning. Late in the evening the senior native
non-commissioned officer’ informed him that the
men of the 1st troop would not receive their car-
tridges. Captain Craigie, commanding one of the
troops, wrote to the Adjutant: “Go at once to
Smyth, and tell him that the men of my troop have
requested in a body that the skirmishing to-morrow
morning may be countermanded, as there is a com-
motion thronghout the native troops about cartridges,
and that the regiment will become ‘ budnam ' if they
fire any cartridges. I understand that in all six
troops a report of the same kind is being made.
This is a most serious matter, and we may have the
whole regiment in mutiny in half-an-hour if this be
not attended to. Pray don’t lose a moment, but go
to Smyth at once.” Colonel Smyth, however, deter~
mined that the parade should be held. The parade
took place, and there were ninety men present,
fifteen furnished from each troop. The colonel
explained to them the reason for ordering the parade,
and commanded the havildar-major to show them the
new way of loading, which he did, and fired off his
carbine. Colonel Smyth then ordered the cartridges
to be served out; five men accepted them, eighty-five
refused, saying “ they would get a bad name if they
took them, but that if all the regiment would take
their cartridges they would do so.” The colonel
explained to them that they were not new cartridges,
but the very same they had always been using, and
once more called on them to receive the cartridges,

! Havildar-Major. ? Budnam—Bad name.
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saying: ““ You see the havildar-major has used one.”*
But, with the exception of the five men, all refused.
“ After which I ordered the Adjutant to dismiss the
men, as they were too large a party to send to the
guard.” A court of inquiry was held to investigate
the matter, and when the proceedings of the court
reached the Commander-in-Chief, he ordered the
mutinous soldiers, forty-nine of whom were Mahome-
dans and thirty-six Hindus, to be tried by a native
general court-martial. By the votes of fourteen out
of the fifteen native officers forming the court, the
whole of the prisoners were convicted and sentenced
to hard labour for ten years.

On the morning of the 9th May 1857, a parade
was held of all the forces in Meerut, and the finding
and sentence of the court read to the men. The
eighty-five troopers were then stripped of their
uniform, and for more than an hour the troops stood
motionless, their nerves at the highest tension, while
the fetters were slowly hammered on the ankles of
their guilty comrades by the artillery smith. As
each culprit was marched forward he loudly called
on his comrades to rescue him. No response came
from the ranks. When the ceremony was finished,
the prisoners were marched down the line, and
sent direct to the jail.®* The parade was dissolved,
and General Hewitt reported to Army Headquarters
that ‘“‘the majority of the prisoners seemed to feel
acutely the degradation to which their folly and in-
subordination had brought them. The remainder

1 «“State Papers,” vol. i., page 228.

£ “Mutiny Memoirs,” by Colonel A. R. D. Mackenzie.
VOL. 1. C
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of the native troops are behaving steady and soldier-
like.”

But whatever we may think of the folly of the
unhappy men, it is difficult to exaggerate the folly of
the course pursued at Meerut, which irritated with-
out subduing, and forfeited loyalty, while it failed to
terrify. 'When a report of the result of the trial was
made to General Anson, it was intimated that the
mutineers, before being made over to the civil power,
were put in irons on the parade ground in the
presence of their regiment. His Excellency approved
of the sentence that had been passed on the prisoners,
but expressed his regret at the unusual procedure.’
The Governor-General was more emphatic in his
disapproval. He wrote: ““The riveting of the men’s
fetters on parade, occupying, as it did, several hours,
in the presence of many who were already ill-disposed,
and many who believed in the cartridge fable, must
have stung the brigade to the quick. The consigning
the eighty-five prisoners after such a ceremony to the
jail with no other than a native guard over them was,
considering the nature of their offence and the known
temper of a part of the army, a folly that is incon-
ceivable.” No act of folly could have led to results
more fatal. The native troopers, maddened by the
spectacle, at once prepared for a revolt from the
English rule, and in order to rescue their comrades
resolved to dare the worst extremity.

The opportunity was well chosen. The next day,
May the 10th, being Sunday, while the European
residents of Meerut were driving to church in the

! ¢« State Papers,” vol. i., Appendix E., page cxlvi,
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evening, they were startled at hearing the sound of
musketry, and seeing columns of smoke rising to the
sky. That sound marked the opening of the Indian
Mutiny. The native troops had revolted, and were
murdering their officers and burning their home-

steads.
When the men of the 8rd Cavalry heard the

tolling of the bells, they knew that the European
soldiers would soon be at church unarmed, and they
thought a favourable moment had come for carrying
out their plans.’ Waving their sabres over their
heads, they galloped to the prison, broke into the
cells, and quickly set their comrades at liberty.
Meanwhile the infantry regiments showed symptoms
of mutiny, and the officers rushing to their respective

t Colonel Mackenzie, in his interesting Mutiny Memoirs,” states
that, as he was at the time informed, the military authorities, in view
of the lengthening days and the increased heat of the season, had
caused, on 10th May 1857, the evening church parade to take place half-
an-hour later than formerly. “In my firm belief, this change saved us
from an awful catastrophe. In those days British troops attended
Divine service practically unarmed, for they did not take with them
their rifles or carbines and ammunition. Their only weapons were
their side-arms. The mutineers were, of course, unaware of this
change. They broke into revolt half-an-hour too soon. Had they
waited till the 60th Rifles were securely gathered into the church, what
could have prevented them from overpowering the small guards over
the rifles and the guns, and utterly destroying the defenceless crowd of
soldiers, penned like sheep within four walls? Providence befriended
vs. When the first scouts of the cavalry came galloping down to the
European lines, they found the white soldiers falling into their places
on parade. Once the alarm was given, all attempt at surprise was out
of the question, and the hope of achieving an easy massacre was
changed into fear of the awful retribution which they thought the
European troops, now on the alert, would not fail speedily to exact.
This fear altered all their plans, and hastened their flight to Delhi, so
graphically described by Sir John Kaye ; but, alas ! no swift retribution
followed.”
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lines tried to allay the excitement, but in vain.
Colonel Finnis, a fine soldier, beloved by officers and
men, whilst imploring his own regiment, the 11th,
to be faithful, fell riddled by a volley of the 20th
Native Infantry. Then, half mad with excitement
and aided by the scum of the city, the sepoys began
the work of pillage and murder. Soon, however,
the cry was raised—* Quick, brother, quick ; Delhi,
Delhi!” and the mutineers fled along the road to the
Moghul capital, expecting every moment that the
white soldiers would pursue ahd overwhelm them.
At Meerut there were more European troops than
had won many a decisive battle on the plains of
Hindustan, but there was no leader equal to the
emergency ; and there were fatal flaws in our mili-
tary administration. The Rifles could not without
delay be supplied with ammunition." A considerable
number of the Carabineers could not ride, and there
were no horses for them if they could.* Those who
were fit for action were put through a long process
of roll-call, whilst the last precious hours of daylight
were passing away. It was dark when the English
troops reached the native lines, and they found them
deserted. A few shots were fired at stragglers, and
the European brigade bivouacked for the night.

Many months after the outbreak a full explana-
tion was demanded from General Wilson, who com-
manded the station at the time, as to the inaction of

1 “Some delay occurred in serving out balled ammunition to the
regiment.”—‘State Papers,” vol. i., page 261.

2 The European force then stationed at Meerut consisted of the 6th

Dragoon Guards (Carabineers), half of whom were recruits unable to
ride.—Ibid., page 260.



GENERAL WILSON'S EXPLANATION, 37

the European troops. The explanation was called
for from him, and not from Major-General Hewitt,
“as that officer in his appeal against his removal
from the divisional staff of the army has stated that
the military arrangements on the occasion of the
event were left entirely to you as commandant of
the station.” General Wilson pointed out that
according to the regulations of the Bengal Army he,
as brigadier commanding a station, which was the
headquarters of a division, could not exercise any
distinct command when the major-general was

present. ‘As brigadier,” he wrote, “I only exer-
cised the executive command of the troops under
the orders of the major-general.” He, however,

admitted that he had expressed an opinion that the
sepoys had moved round to the European quarter
of the cantonment, and he had recommended that
the brigade should march back for its protection.
He added: “I may or I may not have been wrong
in offering the opinion I did to the major-general.
I acted to the best of my judgment at the time, and
under the circumstances I still believe I was right.
Had the brigade blindly followed in the hope of
finding the fugitives, and the remaining portion of
the cantonment been thereby sacrificed, with all our
sick, women, children, and valuable stores, the out-
cry against those in command at Meerut would have
been still greater than it has been.” The whole
brigade need not have pursued the fugitives, and
eight hundred English infantry, a regiment of Eng-
lish cavalry, and a large body of European artillery
were not all needed to defend a cantonment against
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the possible attack of a riotous rabble. Far fewer
white men held the Residency at Lucknow against
disciplined troops for many months. If a squadron
of Carabineers and two hundred rifles had pursued
the mutineers and reached Delhi a few hours after
them, the Imperial city might have been saved.'
With a regiment of British dragoons and a few
galloper guns, Gillespie, half a century before, had
crushed the mutiny at Vellore and saved the
Southern Peninsula from universal revolt and re-
bellion.

! “Had a wing of the 60th Rifles, supported by a squadron of the
6th Dragoons and some guns, been sent in immediate pursuit of the
mutineers on that occasion, Sir Patrick Grant feels persuaded that the
insurrection would have been nipped in the bud, and the atrocities

which have since been perpetrated altogether averted.”—¢ State
Papers,” vol. i., page 259.



A i

, —

ILAHORE GATE OF FORT AND PALACE, DELHI,

ViEW FROM EXTERIOR.






CHAPTER IIIL

Soox after dawn on the 11th of May, the mutineers 1ith May.
entered Delhi, a city which had been for centuries Detbi
regarded as the foremost in India. The seat of the
Moghul Empire had been erected on the foundation
of successive Hindu capitals, and, in erecting stately
buildings in their new city, the Moghul Emperors
had employed the wealth, the labour, and genius of
conquered millions. The fame of the magnificence
and riches of Delhi had tempted invaders from the
barren steppes of Central Asia.  Afghans and
Mahrattas had won and lost it. In the beginning
of the century we took it from the hardy soldiers
of the Deccan, and released the blind old Emperor
from his state prison. Although divested of all in-
fluence as the ruler of an empire, he was allowed
to exercise despotic authority over the twelve thou-
sand inmates of his palace. The palace fortress
i~sted on the eastern wall of the city, which runs
along the bank of the river Jumna, and is protected
on the other side by lofty red granite walls em-
battled and machicolated with small round towers,
and two noble gateways, each defended by an outer
barbican of the same construction though of less
height. Outside the palace on the river side stands
a strong fortification called Selimgarh,' which was

! Selimgarh = Selim's Fort. >
39
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connected with the palace by a small bridge which
spanned the wide moat which surrounds it} The
main entrance to this outwork was a gateway
close to the old bridge of boats. For many years
this gateway was closed, and successive kings of
Delhi had in vain requested that ingress and egress
through Selimgarh might be granted them. A few
years before the outbreak the request was granted,
and it was through Selimgarh that a few of the
foremost mutineers from Meerut obtained an en-
trance into the palace, and reaching the front of the
gilded domes over the king’s special chamber loudly
demanded that he should place himself at their head
in the fight for the faith.

Bahadur Shah, who bore the imperial title, was
well stricken in years. He was a quiet reflective
man, fond of letters, but though endowed with some
of the ability of Babar and Akbar, he had none of
the energy and activity of his royal ancestors. On
hearing the uproar of the troopers he sent an
attendant to ascertain who were creating a disturb-
ance. The servant returned and informed his royal
master that they were troopers from Meerut who had
resolved on fighting for the faith and killing the
white men. The king immediately despatched a
message to Captain Douglas, the commandant of the
palace guards, who, on hearing the news, hastened
to the king’s apartments. In the Hall of Audience

! ¢« Narrative of a Journay through the Upper Provinces of India.”

By the late Right Reverend Reginald Heber, D.D., Lord Bishop of
Calcutta.
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he met the aged monarch, who asked him if he knew
how these men had obtained entrance to the palace.
Douglas said he would descend to the courtyard, and
speak to the troopers. But the king laid hold of
his hand, and said: “I won’t let you go; they are
murderers ; they might kill you also.” The king’s
physician added his entreaties to those of his master,
and suggested that Douglas might speak to the
men from the balcony overhanging the courtyard.
Douglas stepped forward, and saw thirty or forty
of the troopers standing below. He ordered them
to depart, as their standing opposite to the monarch’s
private apartments was an act of disrespect to the
king. They dispersed gradually, but, as they spread
over the palace, they roused the inmates with their
religious cry, Deen, Deen !*

Captain Douglas, on leaving the king, received
a message from Mr. Fraser, the Commissioner of
Delhi, asking him to meet him at the Calcutta Gate,
which faced the river front and the bridge of boats.
Arriving there, he found that Sir Theophilus Met-
calfe, the Magistrate at Delhi, Mr. Fraser, the Com-

missioner, and Mr. Hutchinson, the Collector, had

preceded him. But they had come too late; the
mutineers had crossed the bridge, and the gate was
in their possession. A vast rabble had also collected
at the spot. Sir Theophilus Metcalfe, realising the
importance of what had taken place, drove to the
police court in the Chandney Chowk, and ordered

1 Deen—correctly Din. Religion, Faith, especially the Mohamedan
religion. Wilson’s # Glossary of Indian Terms.”

Mutineers a
the palace.
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out the police to guard the other gates of the city.
Fraser attempted to reason with the troopers, but in
vain. A shot was fired at him, and, taking a musket
from one of the guards, he shot the foremost trooper
dead. His comrades fell back for an instant, then
the surging multitude closed upon the three Euro-
peans. Safety was only to be found in instant flight.
Fraser dashed through the crowd in his buggy,
and Douglas threw himself into the moat. Badly
bruised by the fall he was carried by some natives
into the palace, and found Fraser and Hutchinson,
who had been wounded at the commencement of the
affray. As Douglas and Hutchinson were being
cartied up to the apartments over the gateway,
Fraser made one last effort to appease the multitude
who were surging into the court. Whilst he was
speaking he was cut down by a lapidary, and
instantly hewn to pieces by some servants of the
king.

The whole fierce crew then rushed to the upper
rooms where Hutchinson and Douglas lay wounded,
and Mr. Jennings, the chaplain, his daughter, and a
young friend were attending to their wants. The
door was burst open, the dark throng poured in, and
miserably murdered them.

Then the sepoys, maddened with blood, poured
forth from the palace, and accompanied by the scum
of the city, whose wickedness had become a proverb,
rushed to the quarter where stood the chief public
buildings and the homes of the Europeans. The
houses were quickly gutted and fired, and the
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English, wherever they were found, were struck
down and slain.

The troopers, killing men, women, and children,
made their way to the Cashmere Gate, through
which ran the direct road to the cantonment. Here
was posted a guard of fifty men of the 38th Native
Infantry. Brigadier Graves, who commanded the
station, receiving intimation of the approach of the
mutineers, ordered two guns and the 54th Native
Infantry to proceed at once to the city. But as
there was some delay in getting the guns ready for
action, Colonel Ripley, leaving two companies
to escort them, pushed on at once with the re-
mainder of the regiment. The men seemed loyal,
and marching away quietly, quickly reached the city
moat. They crossed the long drawbridge, and pass-
ing through the outer gate, entered the wide circular
enclosure, where were drawn up the guard of the
38th Native Infantry. They passed on through the
inner gate into the road beyond, and found them-
selves face to face with the mutineer troopers and
insurgent rabble. They were marching with sloped
arms and muskets unloaded. The order then given
to halt was obeyed, but at the order to load the men
hesitated. The troopers dashed at the officers on
horseback, and shot them down with carbines and
pistols, while those on foot were bayoneted by their
own men. The officer at the main-guard commanded
the men of the 38th Native Infantry to wheel up
and fire, but his commands were received with
insulting sneers, and they allowed Colonel Ripley
to be cut down, by some sowars, at their feet. The

The Cash-
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mutineers were advancing to take possession of the
main-guard at the Cashmere Gate, when their pro-
gress was checked by the two guns which, escorted
by the Grenadier companies, had arrived at this
critical moment.

The tumult flowed back to the city, and an officer
proceeded in hot haste to the cantonment to bring
down the 74th Native Infantry and two more guns.
Major Abbott, who commanded the regiment, hear-
ing what had taken place, rode to the lines and
addressed the men. He pointed out that the time
had come for them to show their loyalty, and he
called for volunteers. ‘ Every man present stepped
to the front, and being ordered to load they obeyed
promptly, and marched down in a spirited manner.”
On arrival at the Cashmere Gate they took possession
of the main-guard, and were drawn up in readiness
to receive an attack. No enemy, however, appeared,
and no information could be gained as to their
movements. The continued rattle of musketry and
the booming of heavy guns told that a hot fight was
raging in the city. Then the earth rocked, the air
was rent with a loud noise, and a magnificent coronal
of red dust rose into the sky. The magazine in the
city had exploded.

Not far from the palace was situated the magazine,
fully furnished with munitions of war to supply an
army in the field. On the first news of the ap-
proach of the insurgents, Sir Theophilus Metcalfe,
the Magistrate at Delhi, accompanied by Lieutenant
Forrest,' drove there to procure two guns to be

1 The name recalls a dear memory and a great sorrow.
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placed on the bridge in order to prevent the pas-
sage of the mutineers. But it was too late.
When, accompanied by Lieutenant Willoughby,
who was in charge of the magazine, they mounted
the bastion on the river face, they saw that the
Delhi side of the bridge was already in possession
of a body of cavalry, and the mutineers, marching
in open column, were about to cross over. ‘“On Sir
Theophilus Metcalfe observing this, he proceeded
with Lieutenant Willoughby to see if the city gate
was closed against the mutineers. However, this
step was needless, as the mutineers were admitted
directly to the palace, through which they passed
cheering.” All hope of saving the city was at an
end, but Willoughby, returning to the arsenal, in-
stantly made preparations to defend it. His garrison
consisted of eight Europeans,' trained and discip-
lined soldiers, all belonging to that famous corps,
the Bengal artillery, and the native artisans not
accustomed to the use of fire-arms. The gates were
closed and barricaded. Inside the gate leading to
the park were placed two 6-pounders doubly charged
with grape. Two sergeants stood by with lighted’
matches, with orders, if that gate should be attacked,
to fire both at once and fall back on the body of
the magazine. “The principal gate of the magazine
was similarly defended by two guns with the chevaux
de frise laid down on the inside. For the further
defence of this gate and the magazine in its vicinity,
there were two 6-pounders so placed as either to

! Lieutenants Forrest and Raynor, Conductors Buckley, Shaw, and
Scully, Sub-conductor Crowe, Sergeants Edwards and Stewart.
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command the gate or a small bastion in its vicinity.”
Further in were placed five more pieces commanding
two cross passages. In al]l ten guns were mounted
in position, and there were but nine Europeans to
work them. Arms were then placed in the hands of
the native establishment, but were accepted most
reluctantly, “ and they appeared to be in a state not
only of excitement, but also of insubordination, as
they refused to obey any orders issued by the
Europeans.”' As a last resource a train was laid to
the powder magazine ready to be fired on a given
signal. Scarcely had these arrangements been made
when the palace guards appeared and demanded the
possession of the magazine in the name of the King
of Delhi. No answer was given.

The subadar of the guard on duty at the maga-
zine then reported to Willoughby and Forrest that
the Emperor was about to send down scaling-ladders.
These soon arrived, and directly they were planted
against the wall the native establishment, climbing
up the sloped sheds on the inside of the magazine,
and descending the ladders on the outside, deserted
to a man. They had previously kept up commuuica-
tions with the mutineers, and had hid the priming
pouches. The enemy now appearing in great num-
bers on the walls were received with a warm fire of
grape, of which every shot told. But the gaps made
in their ranks were swiftly filled by fresh men swarm-
ing up the ladders, and from within fifty yards they
poured upon the valiant resolute men below a deadly
shower. of bullets. Two of the nine fell mortally

! # State Papers,” vol. i., page 273.
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wounded. But Forrest and Buckley, regardless of
the fall of their comrades, careless of the storm of
musketry which was rattling upon them, continued
to load and fire the guns in rapid succession, with
the same steadiness as if on parade. When four
rounds had been fired they were struck as they were
loading, Fortest in the arm and Buckley on the hand.
The guns could no longer be worked. A shout of
triumph rose from the walls, Willoughby, seeing
that it was past hope, gave the signal, and Scully
lighted the train. A crash of thunder followed, and
the exulting assailants were dashed to pieces by the
explosion of hundreds of shells and powder barrels.
Four of the heroic nine, wounded, shattered, and
bruised, made good their retreat from the ruins.
And the three hundred Spartans who in the summer
morning sat “ combing their long hair for death” in
the passes of Thermopyle have not earned a more
lofty estimate for themselves than those nine modern
Englishmen.’

Shortly after the sound of the explosion had been
heard at the main-guard, Major Abbott received an
order to send back the two guns to the cantonments,
and, soon after, another order to return with his
regiment. He was about to march out when the two
guns returned to the main-guard with some men of
the 38th Native Infantry. He asked why they had
returned, and was told by the drivers that the
gunners had deserted the guns, and they therefore
could not go on. He then ordered the men to form

1 “Short Studies on Great Subjects,” by James Anthony Froude,
Third edition, page 328.

At the main
guard.
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sections. “ A jemadar said, ‘Never mind sections.
Pray go on, sir.” My orderly-havildar then came up
to me and said, ‘ Pray, sir, for God's sake leave this
place ; pray be quick.”” Major Abbott then gave the
order to march, and had scarcely got a hundred paces
beyond the gate when he heard a brisk firing in the
main-guard. He inquired what it meant, and some
of the men replied, “the 38th men are shooting the
European officers.” “1I then ordered the men with
me, about a hundred, to return to their assistance.
The men said, ‘Sir, it is useless. They are all
killed by this time, and we shall not save any one.
We have saved you and are happy. We will not
allow you to go back and be murdered.””’

The men of the 74th were correct in their sur-
mise. All the officers of Major Abbott’s regiment
had not passed the gate when some men of the 38th
seized and shut it, and then commenced firing at the
officers near them, and a group of ladies who had
escaped from their burning houses. Captain Smith
of the 24th was shot dead, and Captain Gordon of
the 74th threw up his arms, fell from the saddle, and
died without a groan. Reveley, a brother officer,
was mortally wounded, but, as he had a loaded gun
in his hand, raising himself with a dying effort, he
fired both barrels into a knot of sepoys and fell dead.
Then some rushed up the ramp to the guard-room
on the bastion, and, as they fled, the sepoys sent a
volley after them which laid many low. Two in
their haste rushed through an embrasure in the
bastion and jumped down to the ditch thirty feet

) 1 «State Papers,” vol. i., page 265.
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below. “Others were going to follow when they
heard the cries of ladies in the guard-room. Regard-
less of the storm of bullets the officers went back
and brought them away, and, tying handkerchiefs
together, let them down one by one into the ditch;
and then, having got them up on the other side, the
whole proceeded to the river, expecting at every step
to be followed and shot down.” Fording the stream
they escaped to Meerut after undergoing incredible
dangers and hardships.

Major Abbott was escorted safely to the guarter-
guard, and then was told by his men, “We have pro-
tected you so far; it will be impossible for us to do
so much longer. Pray, fly for your life.” Reluctantly
he yielded to their wishes. The men of the 88th who
had not deserted also asked their Colonel and Adju-
tant to leave, for they would serve the Company no
longer. An officer who had escaped from the city
arrived at the Flag-Staff Tower where the European
residents of the cantonments had assembled, and told
them that their comrades had been shot down by
their men and the main-guard abandoned. The
sun was sinking, and there was no sign of succour
from Meerut. To remain was to court death. The
Brigadier made one more attempt to rally his men
and sounded *the assembly,” but only one sepoy
responded to the call. Then the retreat began, and the
cantonments were abandoned. Night had now fallen.
The massacre had been completed, and the soldiers
made their way to the palace and bivouacked in
the great hall of audience, where ambassadors from

all quarters of the globe in the days of old had
VOL. L. D

Abandon-
ment of the
cantonment.



Massacre of
prisoners.

General
Anson.

50 THE INDIAN MUTINY.

admired the magnificence of the Moghul Cesars.
A descendant of the immortal Timur' once more
reigned in the Imperial city, and the mutiny of a
few sepoy regiments had developed into a great
political convulsion.

But the massacre had been completed only for
the day. On the evening of the 11th fifty Chris-
tian people—men, women, and children—had been
brought to the palace and confined in an under-
ground apartment without a window, and only one
door, so that little of light and air entered the dreary
dwelling. After being confined for five days in this
gloomy, pestilential dungeon, starved and insulted,
but defying their tormentors to the last, they were
led into a courtyard and hewn in pieces. The whole
dark truth of what took place can never be told. In
the great city there was not a single Christian left.

The sudden blaze of insurrection found General
Anson, the Commander-in-Chief, at Simla, whither
he had gone a few weeks previously to recruit his
health. The man who was now, without a moment’s
warning, called upon to subdue a military revolt and

! Baber, the founder of the Moghul Empire, was descended by the
father’s side from Timur the Tartar ; but his mother was a Moghul con-
nected with the tribe of Genghez Khan,

“The race of Timur would have been extinct if an hero, his descen-
dant in the fifth, had not fled before the Uzbek arms to the conquest of
Hindustan. His successors (the great Moghuls) extended their sway
from the mountains of Cashmir to Cape Comorin, and from Candahar
to the Gulf of Bengal. Since the reign of Aurangzeb their empire had
been dissolved ; their treasures of Delhi had been rifled by a Persian
robber ; and the richest of these kingdoms is now governed by a com-
pany of Christian merchants of a remote island in the Northern Ocean.”
—“The History of the Decline and Fall of the Roman Empire,” by
Edward Gibbon, vol. iv., page 60,
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to take the command of an army in the field, had
seen but little of war. He had served with his
regiment at Waterloo, but, entering the House of
Commons at an early age, he had for many years
administered the current business of military offices.
In 1853, when he had attained the rank of Major-
General in the army, he was appointed to command
a division in Bengal, and in the following year
succeeded to the command of the Madras Army.
Early in 1856 he was advanced to the responsible
charge of Commander-in-Chief in India, and brought
to it considerable ability and knowledge of affairs.
When in the last week of April 1857 General Anson
reached Umballa on his way to Simla, and learnt
how deep-rooted was the objection to the greased
cartridge, he at once realised the grave danger of
the situation. He inspected the men who from
different regiments were attached to a depét to learn
the use of the new rifle, and made them a manly,
sensible speech. He told them that the intro-
duction of a better arm had rendered it necessary
to adopt an improved description of cartridge; and
the rumour that it was the instrument by which
Government meant to subvert their caste was false
and absurd. He assured them, “ on the honour of a
soldier like themselves, that it has never been, and
never would be, the policy of the Government of this
great country to coerce either those serving in the
army, or the natives of India, in their religious feel-
ings, or to interfere with the customs of their castes.”
He trusted that the native officers would make this
known to their men, and exert themselves to allay

Discontent
at Umballa.
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their fears. He was satisfied ‘“that they will do
everything in their power to prevent the shame
which must fall upon all who are faithless to the
colours under which they have sworn allegiance to
the Government; and that they will prove them-
selves deserving of the high character which they
have always hitherto maintained in this army.”

The native officers listened respectfully, and when
the parade was over expressed their high sense of
the goodness of the Commander-in-Chief and the
honour he had done them. He had removed their
own objections, but the story was believed by their
relatives and by their countrymen all over the land,
and if they used the cartridges, they would become
social outcasts. They begged that this fear should
be stated to the Commander-in-Chief. General
Anson, on being informed of the doubts and
anxieties of the men, and feeling the force of
their objection to the new cartridges, suspended
their issue until a special report had been prepared
of the composition of the paper with which they
were wrapped.'! The Commander-in-Chief trusted

1 «T am not so much surprised,” wrote General Anson to Lord Canning
on the 23rd of March, “at their objections to the cartridges, having
seen them. I had no idea they contained, or rather are smeared with,
such a guantity of grease, which looks exactly like fat, After ramming
down the ball, the muzzle of the musket is covered with it. This, how-
ever, will, T imagine, not be the case with those prepared according
to the late instructions. But there are now misgivings about the paper,
and I think it so desirable that they should be assured that no animal
grease is used in its manufacture, that a special report shall be made to
me on that head from Meerut, and until I receive an answer, and am
satisfied that no objectionable material is used, no firing at the depGts
by the sepoys will take place. It would be easy to dismiss the detach-
ments to their regiments without any practice, on the ground that the
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that the disbandment of the 19th Native Infantry
would check the spread of insubordination, but the
report of the refusal of the troopers at Meerut to
receive the cartridges, proved to him that the leaven
of discontent was still at work. He ordered the men
to be tried by a court composed of their countrymen,
and he hoped that if they were found guilty a severe
punishment would preserve the bonds of discipline.
He had no reason to anticipate a dangerous out-
break, but when news reacbed him of the capture
of Delhi by the mutineers, he at once recognised
the grave character of the crisis, and acted with
decision.

At the time, he had three English regiments near
him on the slopes of the Himalayas. Forty miles
from Umballa rises abruptly from the plains the
mountain ridge of Kasauli, and in the valley below
is the station of Sab4thu. On the right, about ten
miles distant, is another range, on the summit of
which is the cantonment of Dagshai. In May
1857, at Kasauli was stationed the 75th Foot,
and at Sabithu and Dagshai the 2nd and the 1Ist
Fusiliers, two distinguished regiments belonging to
the European army of the East Indian Company.
Thirty miles north of Dagshai rises Simla, and on
the same spur is Jatogh, where a Gurkha regiment

hot weather is so advanced, and that very little progress could be made,
but I do not think that would be advisable, The question having
been raised, must be settled. It would only be deferred till another
year, and I trust that the measures taken by the Government when the
objection was first made, and the example of the punishment of th
19th Native Infantry, and of the other delinquents of the 70th, now
being tried by a general court-martial, will have the effect we desire.”
—Sir J. W. Kaye, “ History of the Sepoy War,” vol. i., page 558.
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was cantoned. Two lines of communication linked
Simla to the plains—one was a bridle path forty-one
miles in length which passed under Sabéthu, the other
was a road ten miles longer, which ran near Dagshai.
At that time only slow bullock-carts ran on the latter,
and they were few in number. On the 12th of May
Captain Barnard, aide-de-camp to Sir Henry Barnard,
commanding the Sirhind Division, arrived at Simla
with the news of the massacre at Delhi. That very
day, the Commander-in-Chief despatched an aide-de-
camp to Kasauli to order the 75th Foot to move
down forthwith, and expresses were sent to warn the
1st Bengal European Fusiliers at Dagshai to follow
the 75th Foot as soon as possible, and for the 2nd
Bengal European Fusiliers at Sabdthu to be ready
to march.

Expresses were sent also to Ferozepore to desire
that the magazine should be placed under charge of
a European guard, and to Jullundur for a European
detachment to be at once thrown into the fort of
Phillour. The next day a note arrived from Meerut
giving details of what had taken place at that station,
and some of the particulars of what had occurred at
Delhi were also received. Thereupon ‘““the 2nd
Fusiliers were ordered to Umballa at once; an -
artillery officer was sent express to Phillour with
instructions for a third-class siege-train to be im-
mediately got ready, and also for the spare waggons
of the troops of horse artillery at Umballa, and a
quantity of small-arms ammunition to be despatched
to the latter place.” The Nasiri battalion of Gurkhas
at Jatogh were ordered to march with all expedition
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to Phillour, and thence, accompanied by a detachment
of the 9th Irregular Cavalry, to escort the siege-train
to Umballa. The native company of artillery at
Nurpur and Kangra was also ordered to come down
with the train. The Sirmur Battalion of Gurkhas
from Dehra and the headquarters of the Sappers
and Miners at Roorkee were ordered to Meerut. The
Commander-in-Chief also drafted a circular to the
native army, which he trusted would allay the excite-
ment. Then having in the brief space of forty-eight
hours pressed forward the urgent measures which he
considered necessary for the meeting of the revolt,
General Anson left Simla on the 14th of May, and
reached Umballa, a distance of about eighty miles,
early the following morning.’

All the troops from the hills did not reach
Umballa till the 16th of May, the day after the
Chief’s arrival. On the very next day, General
Anson, having gathered in some stores and trans-
port, despatched two horse-artillery guns, a squadron

! The biographer of Lord Lawrence writes :—* And what was happen-
ing at Headquarters meanwhile? The news had reached Umballa on
the 11th, and a son of General Barnard had been despatched with it
post-haste to Simla. He reached his destination on the 12th, and, had
the Commander-in-Chief been able to realise its vast importance, that
night, we may feel sure, would have seen him far down the road to
Umballa in front of his troops; and once there, he would have been
straining every nerve in that great city, the military and civil centre of
the district, for an immediate advance.” A Commander-in-Chief who
shares with the Viceroy the responsibility of the safety of the Empire
had first to consider the arrangements necessary for the protection of
every station in India and for the pressing forward of troops to Delhi
from different quarters. He could not have done any good by going
in front of the troops. They had first to be collected and made ready
to move.
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of the 9th Lancers, and four companies of the 1st
Fusiliers to Karnal, on the high road to Delhi.

He then wrote to Sir John Lawrence, who had
sent him a letter of advice, and stated the causes
which had compelled him to delay advancing against
Delhi for forty hours. General Anson wrote: ““ But
it was, and is, impossible to move for want of tents,
&c. The second European regiment only arrived
this morning, and all of them having been brought
in such a hurry and so quickly, they have nothing
with them. We hear that many regiments have
joined the mutineers in Delhi, the gates of which
are closed, and guns mounted on them. The walls
would be nothing against guns of heavy calibre.
But we have none nearer than Phillour, and only
two troops with 6-pounders. At Meerut there is a
light field battery of 9-pounders. My intelligence
from Meerut is very scanty. I instructed General
Hewitt to be prepared to join me with all the force
he could spare, after providing for the protection of
the cantonments. I have not heard from him what
this would be.” After stating that the mutiny of
the Nasiri battalion of Gurkhas at Simla was a most
serious misfortune, and that he had been obliged to
send one hundred men of the 75th Regiment to
Kasauli, to afford protection to that place and Simla,
the Commander-in-Chief added : “ It becomes now
a matter for your consideration whether it would be
prudent to send the small European force we have
here in an enterprise upon Delhi. I think not. It
is wholly, in my opinion, insufficient for the purpose.
The walls could of course be battered down with



GENERAL ANSON'S VIEWS. 57

heavy guns when we got them up. The entrance
might be opened and little resistance offered; but
so few men in a large city, with such narrow streets,
and an immense armed population who know every
turn and corner of them, would, it appears to me,
be in a very dangerous position. And if six or seven
hundred were disabled, what would remain? Could
we hold it with the whole country armed against us?
Could we either stayin or out of it? My own view of
the state of things now is, by carefully collecting our
resources, having got rid of the bad materials which
we cannot trust, and having supplied their places
with others of a better sort, it would not be very
long before we could proceed, without a chance of
failure, in whatever direction we might please.”*
This letter cannot be taken to imply that General
Anson had made up his mind not to advance against
Delhi, but it expresses the doubt and difficulties
that beset his mind as to the wisdom of attacking
it with a small and inefficient force. In reply, Sir
John Lawrence urged on the Commander-in-Chief
that ““ Delhi would open its gates on the approach of
our troops,” that he did not think the country any-
where against us; and he protested against European
troops being “cooped up in their cantonments, tamely
awaiting the progress of events.” He implored the
Chief to reflect on the whole history of India.
“ Where have we failed when we acted vigorously?
Where have we succeeded where guided by timid
counsels? Clive with twelve hundred men fought
at Plassey in opposition to the advice of his leading
! R. Bosworth Smith, “Life of Lord Lawrence,” vol. ii., page 28.
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officers, beat forty thousand men, and conquered
Bengal.” Clive not with twelve hundred men but
three thousand disciplined troops beat a large rabble,
but General Anson had to attack a strong fortress
manned by disciplined troops, who were bound to
fight to the death, because they were mutineers, and
had shed innocent blood. It was easy for John
Lawrence, who knew nothing about the huge and
multifarious business of war, to write “make short
work of Delhi,” but before Delhi was captured more
men perished than General Anson could muster at
Umballa. The advice to march on Delhi was sound;
but, if it had been acted on rashly it must have
led to disaster.! If General Anson had advanced
on Delhi without spare ammunition, without heavy
guns and mortars, and with an inefficient force,
there is little doubt that he would have been anni-
hilated by the disciplined and overwhelming masses
of the insurgents. The force which afterwards
stoutly opposed the advance of General Barnard
at Badli-ki-Serai would, in all probability, have
utterly defeated a smaller body of men.

While General Anson was discussing with Sir
John Lawrence the obstacles which he might en-
counter in an attack on Delhi, he was with much
diligence and forethought making preparations for
the defence of Umballa and the advance on the
imperial city. Forty-eight hours after reaching the
station, he had pushed forward the first body of
his troops towards Delhi, and the rest of the force
followed as soon as they could get equipment.

! Sir Henry Norman in the Fortnightly Review, April 1883,



THE MAHARAJA OF PATIALA. 59

When fresh troops reached Karnal, the first detach-
ment marched to Paniput, a large Mahomedan city,
where the Raja of Jhind, who had thrown in his
lot with us, had already taken the field with eight
hundred men. For the safety of Umballa, a trench
was thrown round the church as a place of refuge,
and four companies of Europeans were left to guard
it, and some of the troops of the Patiala Raja were
brought in to assist in the task.

The Patiala State is the largest and most important
of the Cis-Sutlej States that occupy the rude tract
of country between the Sutlej and the Jumna.
Through it runs the Grand Trunk Road, which
links the remainder of India to the Punjab. The
Maharaja of Patiala could have cut off our com-
munication with the land of the five rivers, and, as
the head of one of the most powerful houses of the
Khalsa Confederacy, he could have raised the Sikhs
against us. It was therefore only natural that, when
the news reached Umballa of the massacre at Meerut
and Delhi, great anxiety should have been felt at
the course the Maharaja would follow. Douglas
Forsyth, one of those men whose intellect and
strength enabled them to grapple with the duties
and perils of imperial sovereignty, was at the time
Deputy Commissioner of Umballa, and he at once
sought an interview with the Maharaja, who was
a personal friend of his. The moment they were
alone, Forsyth asked the momentous question,
“ Maharaja Sahib, are you for us or against us?”
He got the hearty reply, “ As long as I live, I am
yours,” and he proved himself true to his word.

Maharaja of
Patiala.
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All the difficulties of General Anson would have
been greatly augmented if Patiala and Jhind had
not afforded him their loyal support, and liberally
supplied him with carriage and provision of every
kind. The Commander-in-Chief now urged on his
preparations with indefatigable activity. But before
he could advance on Delhi, it was absolutely essential
to the success of his plans that he should convey his
instructions to the General commanding at Meerut.
He had already sent Lieutenant Hodson, of the 1st
Bengal Fusiliers, to Karndl, and charged him to
raise an irregular regiment, and ‘‘ordered him to
keep open the communication between Karndl and
Meerut with the Jhind sowars.”! To raise a new
regiment at a time of mutiny and desertion was an
undertaking almost impossible, and to open the road
to Meerut was a work of great fatigue and great
peril. But no man was by temperament and train-
ing better fitted for the work than Hodson. As
second in command of the Corps of Guides, which
was organised after the first Sikh war to protect the
Northern Marches, he gained great credit as a daring
partisan leader. The fertility of resource, and the
signal and splendid courage he displayed in many
a border raid, obtained for him ? from the Governor-
General, when he had completed only seven years’
service, the coveted post of commandant.

1 Anson’s * Diary,” page 1. .

2 “«The Governor-General has given me the command which I*sve
coveted so long. It is immense good fortune in every way, both as
regards income and distinction. It is accounted the most honourable

and arduous command on the frontier. . . . It is no small thing for a
subaltern to be raised to the command of a battalion of infantry and a
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In some respects he was not well fitted for this
important office. It must be acknowledged that
Hodson, with many fine qualities and with great
claims on the gratitude of his country, had great
faults. His temper was hot, arrogant, and impatient
of opposition. His distant and supercilious manner
created for him many enemies. Above all, he was
careless of money and careless of justice. The con-
fusion in the regimental accounts led to accusations
of dishonesty being brought against him, and he
was charged with personal violence towards his
men. A competent judge, after protracted and
patient consideration, acquitted him of any breach
of trust. But the allegations with respect to his

squadron and half of cavalry with four English officers under him. I
am supposed to be the luckiest man of my time !”—* Hodson of Hodson’s
Horse,” pages 102-103,

“Iieutenant Hodson, who has succeeded to the command of the
Guides, is an accomplished soldier, cool in council, daring in action,
with great natural ability improved by educatiou. There are few abler
men in any service,”—Sir Henry Lawrence in the Calcutta Review.

! General Reynell Taylor, after a most minute investigation of the
accounts, fully acquitted Hodson of any breach of trust. He wrote :
“The work was to examine every item in the accounts during two
years' transactions, audit of nearly a year’s pay having been withheld
for months, and to test each entry by the trustworthy records which I
had to assist me. This was done with laborious and conscientious care,
the result being that the whole account was worked out to an intelligible
conclusion, showing, indeed, numerous irregularities, but no actual
improprieties in the management. The trustworthiness of the result
hinges on the examination. Man is fallible, but I never had any
misgiving or self-reproach for want of care in the matter.” General
Taylor subsequently wrote : “There had truly heen great irregularities
in keeping the accounts, but your brother had made strenuous efforts
at times to get all into form, and had accomplished a good deal. The
great difficulty had been caused by the audit of ten months’ pay of
the whole regiment having been withheld. This had resulted from
the fact of the transfer of the regiment from the Civil to the Military
Department. Through the whole of these ten months the regiment



62 THE INDIAN MUTINY.

violence towards his men were proved to be true,
and the Governor-General removed him from the
command of the Guides.

The opening of the mutiny found him a subaltern
doing duty with his old regiment, the 1st Fusiliers,
with whom he had served at Mudki, Ferozshah, and
Sobraon. When his regiment reached Umballa,
General Anson, who knew the ability and daring
of the man, first appointed him as the head of the
Intelligence Department, and then, as we have
stated, sent him to Karnil to raise a regiment
and keep open communication with Meerut. Two
days after he reached Karnil, Hodson offered to
take a few sowars and make an attempt to reach
Meerut. The offer was accepted by the Commander-
in-Chief, and the moment Hodson received General
Anson’s telegram he started at nine at night with a
led horse and a few sowars, and reached Meerut at
break of dawn. ‘Hodson rode straight to Wilson,
had his interview, a bath, breakfast, and two hours’
sleep, and then rode back the seventy-six miles, and
had to fight his way for about thirty miles of the dis-
tance.”’ On his return to Karndl he telegraphed to
General Anson that he had forced his way to Meerut,

had been living on advances, and that, with a regiment like the Guides,
having detachments all over the country, was calculated to cause very
great confusion in the accounts.” Lord Napier of Magdala wrote:
“It may be asked why was Reynell Taylor’s report to be discounted !
No more competent, honourable, or conscientious officer could have
been found in the service, and I fully accept his decision.”

! Letter from an officer quoted in Hodson’s  Life,” page 150. It will
be seen from the next note that Hodson had not to fight his way. Sir
Henry Norman states that he believes the story about his fighting “his
way for thirty miles” is fiction,
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and obtained all the papers he wanted from the
General there. ¢ These I gave him four hours later
in Umballa.”*

The day before Hodson returned from Meerut
(23rd May), General Anson had sketched a plan of
operations which, as the communication between
them was opened, he now forwarded to General
Hewitt. It was as follows: the Chief was to ad-
vance with the attacking army, which consisted of
three brigades, two from Umballa and one from
Meerut, thus organised :—

i1st Umballa Brigade — 75th Queen’s,
.. .0 ... | 1st Bengal Europeans.
Brigadier Halifax, 75th 2
o™ . 2 Squadrons 9th Lancers.
Queen’s Regiment.

(1 Troop Horse Artillery.
(2nd Bengal Europeans.
. 60th Native Infantry.

2nd  Umballa Brigade —1, Squadrons 9th Lancers.

Brigadier Jones, 60th-

. 1 Squadron 4th Bengal
Royal Rifles. L
ancers.

1 Troop Horse Artillery.
(Wing, 60th Royal Rifles.
2 Squadrons Carabineers.
Meerut Brigade — Brigadier |1 Field Artillery.

A.Wilson,Royal Artillery.| 1 Troop Horse Artillery.
Native Sappers.
120 Artillerymen (siege).

1 Colonel A. R. D. Mackenzie in his interesting work, “Mutiny
Memoirs,” states that Major Sanford, then a lieutenant in his regiment,
the 3rd Light Cavalry, volunteered to carry despatches from General
Hewitt to the Commander-in-Chief at Umballa vi¢ Karndl, and that he
escorted him on the journey with a small party of his men who had
remained faithful. On the second day they met Hodson, who had
started on his ride to Meerut. Colonel Mackenzie writes: “Hodson
was paturally much relieved to find that the road in front of him was

General An-
son’s plan of
operations.
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The strength of the force consisted of 3000
Europeans, 1000 native troops, and 22 field guns.
The Umballa brigades were to march so that they
might be concentrated at Karnal on the 30th of May,
and effect a junction at Baghput with the Meerut
force, from which point the united brigades would
advance against Delhi. Having conveyed his instruc-
tions to General Hewitt, the Commander-in-Chief left
Umballa on the 24th of May and reached Karndl
the following morning. The next day he was
stricken with cholera, and after a few hours there
came to him rest. His last words were to express
a hope that his countrymen would do him justice.
Full justice bas not been done him, but the publica-
tion of his diary must dispel the charge of vacillation
and want of promptitude that has been brought
against him. The impartial historian who studies
the State papers must endorse the opinion of the
men who served on his staff and had every oppor-
tunity of forming a right judgment. ¢ Suddenly
open, though doubtless disappointed that his errand was forestalled. The
reader who has read of Hodson’s famous ride to Meerut, and who has
not to this moment ever heard that it was anticipated by others, will pro-
bably be surprised by this narration, but nevertheless it is simply true.
The credit of carrying the first despatches from Meerut to Umballa is
due to the late Major Sanford, who, to me and to all who knew him,
was a type of all that is most noble and brave and modest ; but alas ! his
wmemory is buried in our hearts. The world has heard little of him.

“In the evening we arrived at Karndl, having traversed in less than
thirty-six hours more than ninety miles : for the straight road between
Meerut and Karndl is seventy-six, and our fruitless détour after the
camels took us many more miles. Sanford at once went on by dik to
Umballa and delivered his despatches to General Anson. He eventually
got command of the Cavalry of the Guides Corps before Delhi, and

retained it till the close of the siege.”—Col A. R. D. Mackenzie,
“ Mutiny Memoirs,” page 54.
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placed in a more difficult position than has probably
ever fallen to the lot of a British commander,”?!
writes Sir Henry Norman, who belonged to the
General's staff, ““ General Anson met the crisis with
fortitude, and with a calm endeavour to restore our
rule where it had disappeared, and to maintain it
where it still existed.”

On the death of General Anson, the command of General

the Field Force devolved on Major-General Sir Henry
Barnard. The new chief had filled various staff
appointments at home, and had commanded a
brigade in the Crimea during the winter of 1854-55.
When General Simpson succeeded to the chief
command, on the death of Lord Raglan, General
Barnard became his Chief of Staff, and held that
responsible office till the capture of Sebastopol.
After holding commands at Corfu, Dover, and
Shorncliffe, he was appointed to the Sirhind
Division, and reached Umballa towards the end of
April, 1857. The discontent of the native army had
already led to mutinous excesses, and if men who
bhad spent all their lives in India were unable to
cope with the danger, no severe criticism can be
passed on a General who had been only a few weeks
in the country. On assuming the command, he
determined to push forward without waiting for the
siege guns. As it was the hottest season of the year,
the men rested in their tents during the day, and
the marches were made by night. * The nights were
delicious,” writes one who took part in the campaign,

! Sir Hope Grant, “ The Sepoy War,” page 52, and “State Papers,”

vol. i., page 275.
VOL. 1. E
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‘“ the stars bright in the dark, deep sky, the fire-flies
flashing from bush to bush, and the air, which in
Europe would have been called warm and close, was
cool and refreshing to the cheek that had felt the
hot wind during the day. Along the road came the
heavy roll of the guns, mixed with the jingling of
bits, and the clanking of the steel scabbards of the
cavalry. The infantry marched on behind with a
dull, deep tread ; long lines of baggage camels and
bullock - carts, with the innumerable sutlers and
camp servants, toiled along for miles in the rear,
while the gigantic elephants stalked over bush and
stone by the side of the road.” On the 5th of June,
the headquarters of the force marched to Alipur
within ten miles of Delhi, where it waited for the
Meerut brigade and the siege-train.

On the night of the 27th of May the Meerut
troops had, according to their orders, marched out of
cantonments. The column consisted of two squad-
rons of the Carabineers, a wing of the 60th Rifles,
Scott’s light field battery, Tombs’ troop of horse
artillery, two 18-pounder guns, all manned by
Europeans, with some native sappers and irregular
horse. Brigadier Archdale Wilson commanded the
brigade, and Mr. Hervey Greathed accompanied it
as civil officer.’! After three nights’ marching the
column reached, at dawn on the 30th of May, the
village of Ghazi-ud-din Nagar,®> situate near the

1 Sir J. W. Kaye, “Sepoy War,” vol. ii., page 182.

3 “This town of respectable size, and with some ancient traces of
wallg, stands on the left bank of the Hindun about a mile from the

river. A long causeway carries the Grand Trunk Road across the broad
valley, within which the stream shrunk during the scorching heats of
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river Hindun, about ten miles from Delhi. The
presence of the insurgents so near to the Imperial
city was not suspected. “I think,” wrote Mr.
Greathed, ““ we seem to have Delhi by the nose. 1
expect that a reconnaissance will be made to-morrow
up to the banks of the Jumna.” He had hardly
despatched the letter, when a vidette came in and
announced that the enemy were posted on a high
ridge on the opposite bank of the river and were
about to attack. The bugler had barely time to call
to arms when the rebels opened fire from heavy guns
which they had placed on the ridge and a long
causeway to the right of it. The Brigadier immedi-
ately sent off a company of her Majesty’s 60th Royal
Rifles, with another in support, to hold the iron
bridge which spanned the river on the right of the
enemy’s position and which was the key of our own.
He also detached the four guns of Major Tombs’
troop, supported by a squadron of Carabineers, to the
right, along the bank of the river. The insurgents
opened upon these advancing parties with heavy guns,
and the General ordered two more companies of the

May to a mere rivulet, wanders in a channel of extreme tortuosity
fordable both by infantry and artillery, though from the prevalence of
quicksands the process is not altogether free from risk of mishap. A
suspension bridge spans the stream, and on the right bank the causeway
is covered by a toll-house capable, if need were, of some defences.
Villages, furnishing considerable means of resistance in their mud-
walled houses and narrow lanes, are scattered at intervals along the
road and the ground in ridges of sensible magnitude on both banks, but
especially on the right.” -Baird Smith, quoted in Colonel Mackenzie's
% Mutiny Memoirs,” vol. ii., page 183.

The town has risen greatly in importance of late years owing to the
junction of the East Indian Railway with the Sind-Punjab and Delhi
line at this point, and the name has been shortened to Ghdzidbdd.

Battle of
Ghazi-ud-
din Nagar.
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60th Regiment to support this advance, and brought
up four guns of Major Scott’s battery, the sappers,
and a troop of Carabineers to their support. The
rebels’ guns were admirably served, but they were ably
replied to by our two 18-pounders. Then Mackenzie
and Tombs crossed the Hindun, and raking the
enemy in flank with their 6-pounders, made their
fire unsteady, and silenced the heavy guns.' The
General now called on the Rifles to attack, who
responded in the most spirited manner®  They
drove the enemy from the guns, but in the act of
taking possession of two heavy pieces on the cause-
way close to the toll-house, Captain Andrews and
four of his men were blown up by the explosion of
an ammunition waggon fired by one of the mutineers.
The enemy were now in full retreat, pursued by the
Carabineers, and they left in our hands, ordnance,

1 “The first few rounds from the insurgents’ guns were admirably
aimed, plunging through our camp ; but they were ably replied to by
our two 18-pounders, in position under Lieutenant Light, and Major
Tombs’ troop, most admirably led by Lieutenant-Colonel M. Mackenzie,
who, raking them in the flank with his 6-pounders, first made their
fire unsteady, and in a short time silenced the heavy guns.”—J. Cave-
Browne, “ The Punjab and Delhi in 1857,” vol. i., page 312.

% #“The charge was made in a most gallant manner ; the enemy were
now seen deserting their guns. This result was partly attributable toan
adwmirable flank movement of our artillery, under the able direction of
that excellent officer (now, alas ! no more), Lieutenant-Colonel Murray
Mackenzie, and partly to very effective fire of the Enfield rifle.”—
J. E. W. Rotton, “The Chaplain’s Narrative of the Siege of Delhi.”

1 cannot cease talking of the splendid behaviour of Tombs’ troops:
the gun-carriages are pitted with grape and shot marks, and Tombs con-
tinues the same gentle modest fellow. He has lost, killed and wounded,
thirteen men out of fifty, but the action of the troop never ceased for
a moment. Colonel Mackenzie, too, has proved himself a splendid
officer.”—H. H. Greathed, “Letters written during the Siege of Delbi,”
page 14.
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ammunition, stores, and five pieces of artillery. The
loss, considering the smallness of the force, was
great. That night the officers drank in solemn
silence to the memory of the brave departed. At
break of dawn they were buried. A babool tree, a
little in the rear, and a milestone a little above and
situated on the main road between Meerut and
Delhi, mark the spot.

It was Whitsunday, but no church parade was
held, because every hour another attack was expected;
and about noon the enemy opened fire from the ridge,
where they had again taken up their position. The
guns of the Horse Artillery, supported by a squadron
of Carabineers, immediately moved forward to reply to
their fire, and the two 18-pounders, under Lieutenant
Light, moved to the bank of the river for the same
purpose. The Rifles, leaving one company in camp,
moved forward to the support of the picquet at the
bridge, supported by two guns of Major Scott’s
battery and a troop of Carabineers. Perceiving that
the Horse Artillery was exposed to a very hot fire,
the General advanced two more guns to support
them. Then, for nearly two hours, the action was
an artillery duel. “But the Rifles, clearing the
village and the left of the toll-bar, and the fire of
the enemy’s guns slackening, I ordered a general
advance—the insurgents retiring, continuing their
fire, until we drove them from their position and
crowned the ridge, from which we could see them in
full retreat to Delhi.”* The English, exhausted by
the intense heat of the sun and the parching thirst,

1 “State Papers,” vol. i., page 287.
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could not pursue, and the rebels were able to carry
off their guns. But the moral effect of the two
victories was great. It had checked the rising pride
of the sepoy, for they found the white men who had
conquered the land, and who had trained them, could
beat them, though vastly inferior in number. The
loss of the enemy was considerable. Twenty-three
of them lay together in one ditch, and the road for
three miles was strewn with dead bodies. The
English lost four officers and fifty men. Among the
wounded was Napier, an Ensign of the Rifles, who
was young of days. He was, however, so active, so
full of life, so brave, that he had not only won the
love of his men, but had attracted their admiration
and confidence. A bullet struck his leg, and the
moment he was brought into camp it had to be
amputated. During the operation no sigh betrayed
a sensation of pain. When it was finished there
came from him the bitter cry: “I shall never lead
the Rifles again, I shall never lead the Rifles again!”
A few days after death came to him, and they laid
the brave and generous lad in his grave.

The Meerut Brigade halted for orders. On the
1st of June it was reinforced by the arrival of the
Sirmur Battalion of Gurkhas, commanded by Major
Charles Reid. Their arrival was opportune, because
it was doubtful whether our small force, exhausted
by two days’ hard fighting and by the heat, could sus-
tain another attack if the enemy appeared in greater
numbers. On the 3rd of June, the videttes brought
in news that the enemy was nigh, and the force got
under arms. “The Gurkhas were so delighted at
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the chance of getting a fight that they threw somer-
saults and cut capers.”! But much to their sorrow
the enemy never appeared. On the following day
orders were received from General Barnard, and the
force crossing the Jumna at Baghput reached, on the
7th of June, the headquarters at Alipur. The men
were loudly cheered as they marched in with the
captured guns. The day before, the siege guns had
arrived after many hairbreadth escapes.

Having been joined by the force under Brigadier
Wilson, General Barnard resolved to break up the
camp at Alipur and proceed forward without delay.
This determination was welcome news to the soldiers,
who were longing to revenge the evil deeds done at
Meerut and Delhi. When it became known to them
that a battle was to be fought on the morrow, the
sick in hospital declared they would remain there no
longer. ‘‘Many, bardly able to walk, suffered on in
silence, or lay in the corners of the tents imploring
their comrades not to tell they were ill, in case they
should be kept in hospital on the day of battle.
Every man whose strength was not hopelessly gone
was let out, and few returned for days after.®

General Barnard was aware that the enemy in-
tended to oppose his advance, and bad occupied a
strongly fortified position at Badli-ki-Serai, because
Hodson ® had the night before gallantly sallied forth

1 H. H. Greathed, “Letters written during the Siege of Delhi,”
page 16.

2 “Siege of Delhi, by an Officer who served there,” page 72.

3 On the morning of the 7th occurred an incident which furnished
another illustration of the value of Lieutenant Hodson in the force.
The evening hefore there had been grave doubts and differences among
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with a few sowars and made a very careful recon-
naissance of this position.

The position which the rebels had chosen was
admirably formed by nature for withstanding the
march of an attacking force, and was capable of being
made strong. They held a large enclosed building
with a strong gate, called the seras' (or resting-place
for travellers) of Badli. It stood on the left of the
road, and the camp was grouped about it. About
a hundred and fifty yards in front of the serai, on a
small natural elevation, the enemy had made a sand-
bag battery of four heavy guns and an 8-inch
howitzer.®* To the right of the serai was a small

the staff as to the real position which the rebels had taken up to dispute
our advance on Delhi. The camp was then at Alipur, covered by a
strong advance-guard of all arms, with a breastwork thrown up across
the road, and a couple of guns loaded with grape, and portfires burning.
As the day dawned, a small cloud of dust was noticed ahead on the
road from Delhi: all were on the alert ; on it came, nearer and nearer ;
it was evidently cavalry. It was within three hundred yards, a few
yards more and the guns would have opened upon them, when the
foremost of the party turned off sharp to the right, followed by about a
dozen sowars. It was an Englishman—it was Hodson! He had been
out to examine for himself the position of the rebels, and solve the
doubts of the evening before; had he had a few of his old trusty
“ Guides,” he would (he said) have gone up to the very walls of Delhi ;
having only a few of the Jhind Rajah’s sowars for his escort, he was
obliged to content himself with a reconnaissance—a very careful one—
of their advanced position, and a gallop through the old cantonments ;
and on his report was the attack for the following morning planned.—
J. Cave-Browne, “ The Punjab and Delhi in 1857,” vol. i., page 316.

! Serai.—A square building, generally with four towers, enclosing a
courtyard, with a well in the middle. It has numerous S=— =—=¢
little chambers for the use of travellers, with loopholes i
opening to the outside. .

¢ “State Papers,” page 434. “Siege of Delhi, by an |
Officer who served there,” page 75. o

‘“ About one hundred and fifty yards in front of the serai stood, on
high ground, two ruined summer houses, one on either side. Here they

N\
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village, whose mud walls and enclosures and gardens
offered a strong cover for infantry. The ground on
either side of the road was intersected with water-
cuts and generally swampy, while nearly parallel to
the road on the right, at the distance of about a
mile, ran the canal, spanned by numerous bridges.
At midnight Brigadier Grant set out with ten
Horse Artillery guns, and three squadrons of the
9th Lancers, guided by Lieutenant Hodson, with a
few native horse. They passed the canal at a neigh-
bouring bridge, and proceeded down its right bank
with intent to cross on the enemy’s left rear, and to
attack simultaneously with the main body under Sir
Henry Barnard. Shortly after the cavalry column
had started, the main column marched down the
road. It consisted of Captain Money's troop of Horse
Artillery, four guns of Major Scott’s Horse Battery,
four heavy guns hastily formed into a battery for
field purposes and principally manned by recruits, a
squadron each of the Carabineers and 9th Lancers,
and five weak infantry regiments. General Barnard
proposed that ‘“in the main attack, our four heavy
guns should open on the enemy from the road itself,
with a light battery on either flank; that Brigadier
Showers, with the 75th Foot and the 1st European

had established a couple of batteries and mounted some light field
Ppieces, while in support, along the front of the serai, they had planted
several heavy pieces to sweep the whole of the open ground, and to give
full effect to their guns, they had placed at intervals large gumlahs
(earthen jars) painted white to enable them more accurately to mark
the distances, and to regulate the elevation of their guns. To such an
extent had they turned to good account the time which our delay in
advancing had given them.”—J. Cave-Browne, “ The Punjab and Delhi
in 1857,” vol. i, page 318.

3th June.
Battle of
Badli-ki-
serai.
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Fusiliers, should operate on the right; and Brigadier
Graves with the 60th Rifles, 2nd Bengal European
Fusiliers, and Sirmoor Battalion, to the left of the
road.” !

At daybreak the lights in the enemy’s camp were
visible, and our guns advanced to open fire. But
before they were in position the enemy began the
contest with a burst of artillery. Quickly our guns
advanced and returned the fire. The leading in-
fantry brigade moved off the road to the right and
deployed, the 75th Regiment on the left, the 1st
Bengal European Fusiliers partly in support and
partly on the right of the 75th Regiment. In this
order the brigade advanced in line towards the
enemy, under the play of their powerful artillery.
To the destructive fire no adequate answer could be
made, for the English guns were few and of small
calibre. Men and officers began to fall quickly.
The second brigade had fallen behind, and there was
no sign of any flank attack by our cavalry. The
situation was now critical in the extreme, when the
General, upon whose intrepidity the fate of the day
depended, gave the order to charge the heavy guns.
The 75th, with a ringing English cheer, sprang
forward upon them, and at the point of the bayonet
drove the defenders away with a terrible carnage.
Then, supported by the 1st Fusiliers, the 75th

1 «“State Papers,” vol. i., page 435.

“The 1st Brigade, under Brigadier Showers, was to act on the right
side of the main Trunk Road, along which the column was to advance,
and the 2nd Brigade, under Brigadier Graves, was to take the left; the
heavy guns were to remain in position on the road, the rest of the
artillery to act on either side.”—Ibid., pages 290 and 291.
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rushed upon the serair and burst open the gates.
The combat was fierce and short. The sepoys
fought desperately, and the English soldiers with
their bayonets destroyed them.

The batterv and the sera: were hardly taken ere
Brigadier Graves appeared on the enemy’s right,
and Brigadier Hope Grant, with the cavalry, took
them in rear on the left. The Lancers charged the
enemy and completed the defeat. The rebels fled
on all sides, leaving several guns in our possession
besides the camp. '

Although the men were much exhausted, General
Barnard determined to push on, for he was afraid
that next morning he might find the rebels, rallied
and reorganised, occupying another strong position.
Clearing the gardens and houses, the troops reached
two cross-roads, one of which led to the city, and
the other, the left road, to the cantonment. From
this point could be seen the ridge occupied by the
rebels, and after a short halt two columns were
formed. Sir Henry Barnard, with Brigadier Graves’s
brigade of infantry, Captain Money’s troop of horse
artillery, and a squadron of the 9th Lancers took
the left or the cantonment road; while Brigadier
Wilson, with the rest of the artillery and cavalry,
and Brigadier Showers’s brigade of infantry, took
the road to the city through a large suburban village
called the Sabzi Mandi. The Sirmur Battalion was
ordered to extend between the columns, but the
distance was too great for the communication to be
complete. It was intended thus simultaneously to
attack both flanks of Hindu Rao’s Ridge, the Sirmur
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CHAPTER 1V.

Hixpu Rao’s house, where the two victorious
columns met, was a large stone building with walls
and gates, and had been in former days the country
mansion of a Mahratta chieftain. It crowned at the
extreme south-west a long rocky ridge which, rising
in broken ground on the banks of the Jumna, about
two and a half miles above Delhi, extended for
about two miles, till it abruptly terminated a little
below Hindu Rao’s house, where ran the Grand
Trunk Road.! This rocky ridge, sixty feet above
the city, was not only a coign of vantage for attack,
but a rampart of defence. Below the centre and
extending to the left, the British camp was pitched
in and around the old cantonments. In order to
assure our hold of the rocky height, Sir Henry
Barnard threw upon its extreme right point, where
the lofty memorial of the siege now stands, a heavy
gun battery, known as the Right Battery, which was
twelve hundred yards from the city wall. A short
distance to the north a heavy mortar battery was
sunk in a hollow of the slope, and beyond it was

1 Earl Roberts writes: ‘“The distance of the ridge from the wall
of the city varies considerably—on our right, where the memorial is
erected, and just above the ¢ Sammy House,’ it is about 1200 yards.

At the Flag-staff Tower it is about one and a half miles, and at the

very end near the river about two and a half miles.”
. 78
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Hindu Rao’s house, where was established our main
picquet. In front of it was the centre half-moon
battery. Three hundred yards further to the north
was the Observatory, a strong old building near
which our heavy gun battery was erected. Beyond
the Observatory was an old Pathan mosque, whose
stout walls atforded shelter to a picquet. Further
north was the Flag-staff Tower,' which was held by
a strong infantry picquet and two guns.

Our position was of considerable strength at all
points except one. Beyond the Right Battery, and
somewhat to the rear, was the suburb of Sabzi
Mandi,” a cluster of houses and walled gardens, from
which the rebels could turn our right and cut off
our road to Umballa or the Punjab, upon which we
rested. Not far from the Right Battery the rocky
ridge ends, but it rises again at a hill on which was
built an Eedgah or enclosed mosque, and on the
level space between were the suburbs of Kissen-
gunge and Paharipur. The ground between the
ridge and city was full of old buildings, with clumps
of trees and gardens which afforded convenient cover
and shelter to the enemy up to the walls of the city.
The walls which surrounded Delhi were about seven
miles in circumference and some twenty-four feet in
height, with bastions in good order, each holding
ten, twelve, or fourteen pieces of artillery. They
were covered for a full third of their height by an

1 It was about fifty feet high, with two terraces, and ascended by an
inside winding stair. A cartload of dead bodies was found there,
no doubt those of the murdered officers of the 74th Native Infantry.

% Sabzi Mandi, the vegetable market.
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admirable glacis,' and had in front a ditch of con-
siderable width and about twenty-four feet deep.
The eastern face of the city rests on the Jumna
River, and at the season of the year when our opera-
tions were being carried on, the waters washed the
base of the walls. All access to the besieged on the
river front was therefore impracticable, and there
could be no real investment of Delhi. And while
thus altogether unable to invest Delhi, the besiegers
were for some weeks the besieged. Their exertions
were addressed not to capturing the city, but to the
more pressing task of defence. The batteries of the
enemy and their marksmen posted in the buildings
around never ceased harrying the besiegers, who,
day after day, had constantly to be under arms
beneath a burning sun to repel the frequent and
powerful sorties.

The first sortie took place the very day after we
had established ourselves on the ridge. In the
afternoon the mutineers, who had cannonaded at
intervals, came out in force from Delhi and made a
sharp attack on Hindu Rao’s house. But happily
that morning the besiegers had been strongly re-
inforced. The Guides, consisting of three troops
of cavalry and six companies of infantry, had
come into camp under the command of Captain
Daly. They had marched at the hottest season
of the year from Mardan, on the Yusafzai frontier,
to Delhi, a distance of 580 miles, in twenty-two
days; and though the infantry portion were occasion-

! “State Papers,” vol. i, pages 390 and 482
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ally assisted with camels or ponies, the march was a
surprising feat even for cavalry. They entered as
fresh and firm as if they had returned from a day’s
manceuvres, and Sir Henry Barnard pronounced
them to be in perfect order and fitted for immediate
service in the field. A few hours after their arrival
they were sent to support the picquets, and were
engaged in a hand-to-hand contest with the enemy.
They drove the rebels back with considerable loss,
and chased them to the city walls: On our side
Lieutenant Quintin Battye, Commandant of the
Guides Cavalry, fell mortally wounded by a bullet
from the ramparts. ‘“Now I have a chance of
seeing service,” was his joyous exclamation, as he
set forth with his regiment. A keen soldier, good
swordsman, and fine rider, there was every prospect
of a splendid career for the intrepid lad. But he
fell at his first fight, and as life ebbed away he
murmured with his failing voice the old Roman
saying that it is well and proper for a man to die
for his country.

On the 10th of June the mutineers, about five
hundred strong, with two light guns and a party of
cavalry, came out of the Ajmere Gate, apparently
with the intention of turning our right flank and
threatening our rear. “I immediately,” wrote Major
Reid, “ proceeded out with two guns of Major Scott’s
Battery, seven companies of the Sirmur Battalion,

1 “The Guides distinguished themselves very much. A subadar
sabred a man of the 3rd Cavalry, jerked him off his horse, and sprang

from his own saddle into that of his late enemy, as he thought he could

profit by the change of horses.”—*“The Siege of Delhi,” by H. H.
Greathed, page 30.

VOL. I. F
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two companies of the 60th Rifles, and a hundred
and fifty of the Guides. The latter I threw out in
skirmishing order with directions to encourage the
enemy to approach. The Rifles I extended on my
left flank, guns in the centre, with Gurkhas in line
on my right. About six o'clock the mutineers
approached in force. The guns they had with them
opened with grape on the right line of skirmishers.
I then threw out another company of my own regi-
ment in skirmishing order, in continuation of the
first line. They advanced steadily, with orders to
spare ammunition as much as possible. Whilst the
Gurkhas were advancing, the mutineers called out
to them saying they would not fire, as they (the
mutineers) wished to speak to them. Others called
out, ‘ We expect the Gurkhas to join us, we won’t
fire.” The Gurkhas replied, ‘Oh yes, we are now
coming to join you.” They closed upon their centre,
and went up to within twenty paces of the mutineers,
when they gave a well-directed volley, killing be-
tween twenty and thirty, and followed them up until
fired on by the batteries of the Ajmere Gate.”* The
next day the mutineers made another attack on
Hindu Rao’s house, and were repulsed with con-
siderable loss. The enemy knew it was the key of
our position, and all through the siege made the
most desperate attempts to capture it. But the post
of honour and of danger was confided to Major Reid
and his gallant Gurkhas, and all attempts to dislodge
them were made in vain. At first Major Reid had
only his own battalion and two companies of the
1 «State Papers,” vol. i., page 294.
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60th Rifles, but after a time the Guides Infantry was
added, and on an alarm he was reinforced by two
more companies of the 60th Rifles. “The house in
which he resided with his corps was within perfect
range of nearly all the enemy’s heavy guns, and
was riddled through and through with shot and
shell. He never quitted the ridge save to attack
the enemy below it, and never once visited the camp
until carried to it wounded on the day of the final
assault.” !

Not deterred by their unsuccessful attacks of the 12th June.
10th and 11th of June, the enemy made a more the I lgiglstaﬁ
serious and determined attack on the 12th of June ™" -
on our left. A short distance from the Flag-staff
Tower, where two light guns and a detachment of
the 75th were posted, lay on the bank of the river in
the midst of an extensive park the country-seat of
Sir Theophilus Metcalfe. A large body of mutineers
concealed themselves among the trees, and, taking
advantage of the undulating ground, gained the brow
of the ridge unperceived and made a sudden and
vigorous onset on the picquet at the Tower. Captain
Knox of the 75th, commanding the detachment, was
killed,> with several men. Several of the gunners

! ¢ State Papers,” vol. i., page 443.

2 % Upon this occasion Captain Knox of Her Majesty’s 75th Foot and
several men of the same regiment were killed. That officer had only a
moment before shot with his own hand one of the enemy, when his eye
caught sight of a sepoy levelling his musket at him, ¢ See,” said he
to one of his men, “that man pointing at me ; take him down.” The
words had hardly escaped his lips when the fatal shot took effect upon
his person. He was on one knee when singled out as a mark by the
mutineer ; and I am told as soon as he received the shot he rose
regularly to ‘attention,’ and then fell and expired without a word or
groan.”—* Chaplain’s Narrative of the Siege of Delhi,” page 68,
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fell, and the guns would have been lost had not the
75th rushed forward and attacked the rebels. “The
musketry fire was sharp and heavy, and the bullets
fell into the camp; some of the enemy even de-
scended to the camp side of the ridge, and three were
killed in the Sepoy lines within a short distance of
the tents.” Reinforcements moved rapidly up in
support of the picquet; and the insurgents were
driven off and pursued some way. To avoid a
recurrence of anything of the kind a large picquet
was sent to occupy Sir Theophilus Metcalfe’s ruined
house close to the river, thus throwing up, as it
were, the left flank of our defences, and rendering
it almost impossible for the enemy to pass round on
that side. This picquet eventually was thrown in
advance of the house and divided into three portions
—one of 150 men on a mound on the right of
the compound, close to the road leading from the
Cashmere Gate to the Cantonment Suddar Bazar,
and from which a few men were detached to a
house on and commanding the road; 50 men in
a cow-house midway between this mound and the.
river bank ; 150 men in the stables close upon the
river.

“ All these posts were gradually strengthened by
the engineers and were of much use. Sir Theophilus
Metcalfe’s house would have been previously occupied
had it not been for the difficulty of providing one
relief for the picquets, and after this it sometimes was
impossible to carry out the daily reliefs. The Flag-
staff continued to be held by a hundred men with
two guns, and at night the sentries from this picquet
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and the mound picquet in the Metcalfe compound
communicated.”?

The attack on the Flag-staff had hardly been
repulsed when other bodies of insurgents advanced
upon the Hindn Rao’s picquet and through the Sabzi
Mandi into the gardens on the right flank of the
camp. “The 1st Bengal European Fusiliers were
sent against them under the command of Major
Jacob, and succeeded most gallantly in not only
driving the enemy back, but pursued them skirmish-
ing all through the thickly-wooded gardens of the
Subzee Mundee.”? There is little doubt that the
attacks on the Flag-staff Tower and Hindu Rao’s
house were meant to be simultaneous, but, for-
tunately for us, they took place at different hours
of the day.

It now seemed plain that we had not sufficient
means to besiege the place. Instead of having the
preponderance of numbers which science had de-
clared to be needed for the reduction of a fortress,
we were outnumbered by thousands. It was only on
the north side that we could invest the place, and on
the river face and the south the enemy were free to
come in and go out as they chose. A few days had
proved that in an artillery conflict the enemy had the
balance of advantage. All day the richly supplied
besieged went on with their cannonade, and only
at intervals could our batteries reply, while for our
bheavy guns we had no ammunition, and the shots
fired by the enemy had to be picked up and sent
back again. To make regular approaches was im-

! “State Papers,” vol. i., page 441. ? Ibid., page 297.
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possible owing to the lack of sappers, and no men
could be spared for working parties, for the majority
of our effective force had to be on picquet duty.
When the alarm sounded, and all the picquets had
been reinforced, there remained merely a few com-
panies of infantry, besides some cavalry and guns in
reserve, to succour any point seriously attacked or to
make a forward move against the enemy. Under the
stress of those perils and troubles the idea seized the
minds of some men that it would be better to attempt
to take the city by a coup de main. After much
hesitation General Barnard, who was urged from all
guarters ‘“to take Delbi” by those who did not
understand that a city containing disciplined troops
and a vast population actuated by violent passions
cannot be easily overcome, gave his assent to the
following plan. Two gates were to be blown up, by
which our infantry, not more than eighteen hundred
in number, guards and picquets included, were to
effect an entrance in two columns. The safety of
the camp was to be entirely entrusted to the native
infantry and cavalry. About eleven o'clock Brigadier
Graves, who was the field officer of the day, received
verbal orders to remove the Europeans from the
picquets along the height. As the order was not in
writing he refused to obey it, and rode to General
Barnard’s tent for further instruction. Being asked
by General Barnard his opinion as to the chance of
success, he replied, “ You may certainly take the city
by surprise, but whether you are strong enough to
hold it is another matter.” The remark caused
General Barnard once more to weigh the danger of
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the undertaking, and as dawn had begun to break,
and success depended on blowing in the gates by
surprise, he determined to abandon the enterprise.
The columns which had been actually formed were
withdrawn. The abandonment of the enterprise has
been severely criticised. But, judging from the
resistance we afterwards experienced in the actual
assault, when we had been greatly reinforced in men
and guns, and judging from the stout resistance we
experienced in the streets, it is certain that even if
the gates had been captured the scanty force could
never have held Delhi. Defeat, or even a partial
success, would have been ruin.

Three days after the abandonment &8f the assault
the enemy made another attack on the Metcalfe
picquet, and were driven away after a fierce struggle.
Looking out in the early morning of the 17th of
June from the ridge the English descried some men
busy on the knoll called the Eedgah, on the right of
Hindu Rao’s house. A tremendous fire from their
heavy artillery, meant to distract notice, only revealed
the full import of the work. A battery erected there
would enfilade our whole position, and Sir Henry
Barnard determined to prevent its construction. He
ordered a small force in two columns to proceed to
the spot and destroy the works. The right column
under Major Tombs, consisting of his own troop
of artillery, about 400 men of the 1st Fusiliers
and 60th Rifles, 30 horsemen of the Guides, and
20 Sappers and Miners, moved towards the enemy’s
left, Major Reid descending from Hindu Rao’s house
with four companies of the 60th Rifles, while the

17th June.
Attack ou
the Eedgab.
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Gurkhas advanced towards Kissengunge and the
enemy’s right. Tombs, driving the enemy through a
succession of gardens reached the Eedgah itself, a
mosque surrounded by strong loopholed walls, where
the enemy was posted in considerable force.! ‘Here
a hot musketry fire was sustained for some time, until
I sent orders for two of the Horse Artillery guns to
be brought from the outside of the suburbs to our
support. On these guns opening fire the enemy
appeared to loosen their hold of the position. See-
ing this, I ordered the advance, which was made
with a rush, and the position was ours. We captured
a 9-pounder gun and its limber here in position,
and the object of the attack having been effected,
I, agreeably to orders received, brought the column
back into camp about 7 P.M.”*? The loss of the
column was small. Major Tombs himself was
slightly wounded, and had two horses killed under
him, making five horses that from the commence-
ment of the campaign up to that date had been shot
under him.

The column under Major Reid was equally
successful. He wrote: “I proceeded to the end of
the wall, and then entered a serar to the right.
After battering down the gates of two different

! “Some threw themselves into a mosque. The walls of its courtyard
were loopholed and they began to fire at onr men. Tombs had two
horses killed under bim. His bold bearing and loud voice made him
the awe of the enemy. He ordered the riflemen to go up and fire into
the loopholes till the doors could be forced. A train of gunpowder was
got ready, a bag was attached to the gates, they were blown open, and
thirty-nine sepoys were killed in the mosque.”—¢Siege of Delhi, by an

Officer who served there,” page 105.
2 «“State Papers,” vol. i, page 299,
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serars 1 succeeded in entering Kissengunge, which
I found full of mutineers. Many rushed madly
on, but were at once shot down by our troops. I
counted thirty-one bodies in one place near one of
the batteries, and nine were counted close to the
battery erected on the right of a building in the
centre of Kissengunge. The enemy must have lost
between fifty and sixty killed, and a very great
number wounded. I completely destroyed the
batteries, which were not quite finished, burnt the
village, the timber used in constructing batteries,
the magazine (which had evidently been made by
Sappers), and the gates of the seraz, three in number.”
Major Reid adds: “This report would have been
forwarded earlier, but my time is fully occupied at
this picquet.”* The enemy certainly afforded the
commander of the Hindu Rao picquet little leisure
for composition.

On the 19th, secret notice of a sortie having been
received, the picquets were reinforced, and in the
afternoon a large body of mutineers came out by
the Lahore Gate and threatened the whole of our
position, whilst a large body filed unobserved
through the gardens and suburbs to our right.
About sunrise some flying sowars announced that
the enemy were about to attack our rear. The in-
fantry were employed guarding the picquets from
the attack in front, and only some few troops were
in camp. Twelve guns and some four or five hun-
dred cavalry under Brigadier Grant were, however,
quickly collected and sent forward to meet them.

“ State Papers,” vol. i., page 301.
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Attack on
Our rear.



90 THE INDIAN MUTINY.

They found the enemy strongly supported by infantry
posted in wall gardens, against which our artillery
could make but little impression. Their guns poured
forth a quick and well-directed fire, and the infantry
from the gardens shot down our artillerymen and
horses. Tombs’ guns were in imminent danger when
a portion of the Guides cavalry rode up. ¢ Daly, if
you do not charge,” said Tombs to their leader, ‘“ my
guns are taken.” Daly spurred into the bushes,
scarcely a dozen of his men followed him. He
returned with a bullet in his shoulder, but the
momentary diversion saved the guns.® As long as
it was light, the steady fire of our guns and the
dashing charges of the cavalry succeeded in keeping
the rebels in check. But in the dusk of the evening
their superior numbers began to tell, and ‘they very
nearly succeeded in turning our flank, and for some
time two guns were in great jeopardy.” The Lancers
and Guides, bent on saving the guns at all hazards,
charged the enemy, but with a ditch and houses on
each side their action was paralysed and their loss
was severe. All was now in confusion, and the dark-
ness of night began to increase the disorder, when
the infantry came up, dashed forward, and, cutting a
lane through the rebels, rescued the guns. *The
firing on both sides gradually ceased, and our in-
fantry being much too weak in numbers to attack
the enemy’s extended line, our troops returned to
camp about 8.30 P.M., the insurgents’ fire totally
ceasing.”? Our loss in this affair amounted to three

! “Siege of Delhi, by an Officer who served there,” page 111.
2 ¢ State Papers,” vol. 1., page 444.
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officers and seventeen men killed, and seven officers
and seventy men wounded. Among the killed was
Lieutenant-Colonel Yule of the 9th Lancers, “as
fine and gallant a soldier as ever lived.” Among
the wounded was Brigadier J. Hope Grant, who had
his horse shot under him in a charge and was saved
by the devotion of two men of his own regiment and
a native sowar of the 4th Irregulars. *“The two
men, Handcock and Purcell, stuck to me during the
fight without consulting their own safety; the latter
had his horse killed under him about the same time
that I lost my own; and Handcock, seeing me dis-
mounted in the midst of our foes, earnestly besought
me to take his charger.”! At this moment Rooper
Khan, the orderly sowar, rode up to the Brigadier
and said, *“Take my horse, it is your only chance of
safety.” 1 could not but admire his fine conduct,”
wrote DBrigadier Grant. ‘“He was a Hindustani
Mussulman belonging to a regiment the greater
part of which had mutinied; and it would have
been easy for him to have killed me and gone over
to the enemy ; but he behaved nobly, and was ready
to save my life at the risk of his own. T refused his
offer ; but, taking a firm grasp of his horse’s tail, 1
told Rooper Khan to drag me out of the crowd.
This he performed successfully and with great
courage.” Next morning the Brigadier summoned
Rooper Khan to his tent, and after praising him
for his gallantry offered him some little money.

1 Handcock was the same night wounded and lost his arm. He was
afterwards appointed by Her Majesty one of the gate-keepers in Windsor
Park. Purcell was killed before Delhi at a later period.
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Rooper Khan drew himself up with great dignity,
saluted, and said : * No, Saheb, I will take no money,
but if you will get my commanding officer to promote
me, I shall be very grateful.”?

Much disquieted by the day’s operations were the
besiegers. The rebels had attacked our weakest and
most vital point, the rear, and after a day’s stubborn
fighting we had not, according to our wont, driven
them back to the walls of the city. If they managed
to establish themselves there our communications
would be cut off with the Punjab; our small force
would be invested ; and without supplies and rein-
forcements, it would be impossible against the daily
growing numbers of the insurgents to hold our own.
Many were despondent in the camp when the result
of the day’s fighting was first known, but the stead-
fast temper of the besiegers swiftly asserted itself,
and they determined next morning to renew the
contest. At daybreak our troops again advanced to
attack the enemy, ‘“but found only a strong picquet
which was easily driven back, and we captured a gun
and two waggons, which they had left the night
previous.” The road strewn with dead men and
horses showed how stubborn the fight had been the
day before. “ At one spot alone forty of them were
lying, their bodies torn by the ghastly rounds of
cannon-shot, the faces of some twisted with agony,
others sleeping quietly.”

The force had scarcely returned to camp when the
enemy again made their appearance, pushed on their

! Sir Hope Grant, “ The Sepoy War,” page 71.
2 «“Siege of Delhi, by an Officer who served there,” page 114.
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guns, and opened fire. Our troops promptly turned
out in force, and the enemy quickly dispersed. ‘To
render it less easy to make attacks in the rear, which
might have led to a stoppage of our communications
with the Punjab, a battery for two 18-pounders was
constructed behind the camp, and armed, and the
rear picquets of cavalry and infantry were posted at
it. Prior to this, three 18-pounders had been placed
in the battery on the mound to the right of camp to
check any attack from the side of the Subzee Mundee
suburbs. An infantry picquet had been there all along
and a cavalry picquet on the ground below, together
with two horse artillery guns.”!

After the action in rear of their camp, our troops
had three days’ cessation from fighting. The wel-
come intelligence also reached them that a rein-
forcement under Major Olpherts had arrived within
twenty miles of Delhi. The enemy had, however,
also been reinforced by the arrival of the mutineers
from Jullundur and Phillour, consisting of three
regiments of Infantry and the 6th Light Cavalry,
and the spies reported that another attack was to be
made on our rear. The day chosen was the 23rd of
June, the centenary of Plassey. For many weeks a
prophecy had spread throughout the land that the
English rule would expire with the hundredth year,
and as Clive had laid the foundation of it in the
mango groves of Plassey, it must end on the cen-
tenary of that victory. The 23rd of June was also
the first day of the new moon, a day of good omen
with the followers of the Man of Mecca, and the

1 «“State Papers,” vol. i., pages 445 and 446.
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Jattra, a solemn festival of the worshippers of Vishnu,
and astrologers declared that the stars in their courses
would fight for the mutineers. On hearing that the
rebels intended to make another attack in force on
the rear, Sir Henry Barnard on the 22nd of June
sent an order to Major Olpherts to march at once for
camp, and the rear of his troops had not reached it
when a furious cannonade was opened from the city
walls. ‘“ Atthe same moment theyopened on ourright,
and kept up a heavy enfilading fire on Hindu Rao’s
ridge which the few guns we had in position were
unable to silence.” On advancing through the Sabzi
Mandi to the rear of Hindu Rao’s house, they made
a desperate attack on the Mound Battery and Major
Reid’s position. ‘“ No men could have fought better,”
wrote the gallant Reid. ‘They charged the Rifles,
the Guides, and my own men again and again, and
at one time I thought I must have lost the day.
The cannonade from the city, and the heavy guns
which they had brought out, raged fast and furious,
and completely enfiladed the whole of my position.
Thousands were brought against my mere handful
of men, but I knew the importance of my position,
and was determined to do my utmost to hold it till
reinforcements arrived.” After a while the rein-
forcements came, and an attempt was made from
the Mound Battery to drive the rebels from the
Sabzi Mandi, which with its narrow lanes, mud
walls, enclosures, and flat-roofed houses, offered good
cover to infantry; and from wall and roof the enemy
poured forth a stream of fire on the advancing troops.
The men fell fast, stricken by the bullets of the foe
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and the fierce rays of the sun. Thrice were the streets
cleared, but when the soldiers tried to force the houses,
with their strong doors built to stand a dacoit raid,
the enemy returned from every lane and renewed their
murderous fire.' But at all hazards they must be
driven back. The service of every man was required.
The Fusiliers and Sikhs, who had marched twenty
miles that morning, were called out and sent forward
to support the attack. Through the whole of the hot
tropical day did the battle rage, and it was not until
evening closed that the enemy returned into the city,
having lost over a thousand men. In one enclosure
about one hundred and fifty men were bayoneted
after a desperate struggle.

The Sabzi Mandi was now in our possession, and
“from that moment we kept an advanced picquet
in it of one hundred and eighty Europeans divided
between a seraz on one side and a Hindu temple on
the other side of the Grand Trunk Road, and both of
which were immediately strengthened and rendered
defensible by the engineers. These posts were only
between two hundred and three hundred yards from
the right battery at Hindu Rao’s ridge, the picquets
from which communicated with them, and eventually
a line of breastworks running up the ridge connected
these picquets with the right battery. Our position
was thus rendered much more secure, and the enemy

1 ¢The mass then got into the Subzee Mundee and gardens on our right
and made repeated attacks on the rear of Hindu Rao’s house and on
the mound. Our fellows followed them three times into the Subzeh-
Mundee, but they got into houses and closed the doors on themselves,
aud when our troops withdrew came out again and fired away.” —“ The
Siege of Delhi,” by H. H. Greathed, page 68.
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were unable to pass up the Trunk Road to attack our
right rear.” !

On the day after the fight at the Sabzi Mandi,
General Chamberlain arrived in camp to fill the
responsible post of Adjutant-General of the army.
He had won renown as a daring cavalry officer, and
was appointed by General Anson to command the
movable column which had been organised to check
and operate upon any point where rebellion might
rise and danger threaten in the Punjab. The way
he headed the column had increased his reputation,
and his advent was eagerly expected at Delhi.
Everything will be right, they used to say, when
Chamberlain comes. Chamberlain® brought with him
Lieutenant Alexander Taylor® of the Engineers, a
man to whose courage, skill, and great resource our
ultimate success was in a great measure due. Re-
inforcements from the Punjab also began to arrive,
and the effective strength of the British force now
amounted in round numbers to nearly 6600 men of
all arms. The enemy also at this time received a
formidable reinforcement. ‘On the 1st and 2nd
July the Robhilcund mutineers arrived at Delhi,
marching across the bridge of boats within full view

1 ¢“State Papers,” vol. i., page 447.

3 « Neville Chamberlain has arrived ; of this we are all glad, as well
a8 the General."—* Siege of Delhi,” by H. H. Greathed, page 70.

3 “To mysecond in command, Captain Taylor, Director of the Trenches,
I have been indebted for the most constant, cordial, and valuable assist-
ance throughout the whole period of the operations. Gifted with rare
soundness of professional judgment, his advice had been sought by me
under all circumstances of difficulty or doubt, and I find that I cannot
express too strongly to the Major-General my sense of the valuable ser-
vices this officer has rendered.”—* State Papers,” vol. i, page 393.
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of the spectators from our camp posted on the ridge.
They consisted of four regiments of infantry, one of
cavalry, a horse battery, and two post guns, and were
commanded by one Bakht Khan, an old subadar of
artillery. He was well known to many officers of
that arm in camp. They described him as a big fat
man, obsequious, fond of the society of Europeans,
and very intelligent.” He soon gained a great in-
fluence over the old King of Delhi, was made Com-
mander-in-Chief, and was promised the office of
Governor-General if he would drive the English
from the batteries. The rebel force now amounted
to about thirty thousand men. Their guns were
numerous, and their ammunition appeared inex-
haustible.

The arrival of reinforcements within the camp
again raised the question whether the city should
not be taken by a coup de mawn. A project was
drawn out by which one column was to effect an
entrance by blowing in the iron grating of the canal
near the Cabul Gate, another column to enter the
Cashmere Gate after it had been blown in, a third
column to escalade the side and to endeavour to
effect an entrance in that direction. At the last
moment the plan was abandoned, because the General
received information that on the 3rd of July, the day
fixed for the assault, the rebels who had arrived from
Rohilcund intended to make a serious attack on our
camp. The success of the assault depended on the
surprise being complete; “ and we had no reason to
reckon upon any want of vigilance on the part of the

insurgents, who were not by any means shut up or
VOL. L G

Proposalfora
coup de main
revived.



98 THE INDIAN MUTINY.

unable to send out patrols and picquets. As, more-
over, for the four assaulting parties and the reserve
not more than 3000 infantry (if so many) could be
used, it does not seem matter for regret that this
attack never took place.”*
ggligg%mith To one man at the time it was a matter of deep
" regret. Lieutenant-Colonel Baird Smith had been
summoned to take the place of the Chief Engineer,
whose health had completely broken down. He was
bringing with him a small detachment of Pioneers
from Roorkee, and had arrived within sixty miles of
Delhi, on the 2nd of July, when news of the intended
assault reached him. Starting at once, he arrived by
hard riding on the morning of the 3rd to find that
the assault had been postponed. A skilled and
accomplished engineer, a man of great ability, re-
source, and courage, Baird Smith became, from the
day of his arrival, one of the most trusted coun-
sellors in all matters relating to the siege.
ahuly. On the afternoon of the 3rd of July large bodies of
rebels by  the insurgents moved into the gardens and suburbs
Major Coke.  on our right, and all our troops were turned out to
meet the expected attack. But instead of attacking
our picquets, the rebels moved rapidly upon Alipur,
one march in our rear, and compelled a squadron of
the Punjab Cavalry to fall back. The fire of their
guns was heard in camp, and soon after 2 A.M. a
force marched to overtake or to intercept them. It was
commanded by Major Coke, and consisted of about
three hundred horse, eight hundred foot, and twelve
guns. At first it was impossible to determine whether
1 «“State Papers,” vol. i., pages 448 and 449,
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the rebels were pushing forward to Karnal or return-
ing to Delhi. About sunrise, however, Major Coke
“found the encmy were retiring to the city, but
spread all over the country. On crossing the canal,
a considerable body with guns were seen at a village
about a mile from the bridge, where I at once pro-
ceeded to attack them. After a few rounds from
their guns, they carried them off in the direction of
the city before we could get up to them, which they
were cnabled to do as they were on a road ; whereas
we had to advance over the open country, which was
in many places a swamp, through which the guns
and troops could make their way with difficulty.” A
number of the enemy sought refuge in a village,
where they were killed. The rest fled in all direc-
tions, followed by the Guides Cavalry, who sabred
many. ‘It was, however, useless to attempt any
further pursuit, for the heat was great, and the Euro-
pean soldiers exhausted.” *Major Coke therefore
returned to the banks of the canal, and rested his
men under the shade of the trees. By some miscon-
ception his artillery returned to camp. While his
men were resting a fresh force from Delhi attacked
them, and “we beat them back and pursued them
for a considerable distance; but seeing that there
was a large force collecting behind them, I withdrew
the infantry and took up a position that commanded
the bridge; and as I expected they were bringing
up guns, I sent into camp for artillery. Before the
guns arrived, however, the enemy made a second
attack, and were beaten back with considerable loss.
Soon after the artillery and cavalry came up and
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followed the enemy, who again dispersed and fled in
all directions.”' Our men returned completely ex-
hausted by the heat; indeed many of the 61st sank
down beneath the trees, and elephants had to be sent
from camp to carry them in.* The enemy took off
their guns and returned to camp, having lost about a
hundred men. Major Coke was at the time severely
criticised for the comparative failure of the action.
“1 am dissatisfied,” wrote Hodson, “ with the day’s
work, inasmuch as more might have been done, and
what was done is only satisfactory as a proof of the
ease with which Anglo-Saxons can thrash Asiatics at
any odds. Yesterday they were at least from ten to
fifteen to one against us.”®

On the following morning Sir Henry Barnard,
worn out in body and mind, fell ag easy victim to
cholera. He had gained the admiration and respect
of his soldiers by his heroic courage, for under fire
his bravery made him conspicuous even among the
brave men he commanded; and he had won their
love by his gracious and easy manners and his un-
remitting zeal for their welfare. A severe fate had
placed him in a most difficult and trying position.
A stranger in the land, and ignorant of oriental
warfare, he was called, on the death of General
Anson, to lead a weak force against an enemy
formidable in numbers and resources. At the battle
of Badli-ki-serai the plan of operations was bold
and comprehensive, and it was owing to the courage

1 « State Papers,” vol. i., page 314.
? ¢ Siege of Delhi, by an Officer who served there,” page 152.
3 « Hodson of Hodson’s Horse,” page 174.

'
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and judgment he displayed in following the defeated
enemy that the English gained an important base
of operations before Delhi. For weeks he not only
held that base against repeated attacks made by
overwhelming masses, but by often acting vigorously
on the offensive he restored our prestige, which was
trembling in the balance. His ignorance of the
land and of Indian warfare lessened his confidence
in himself, and led him to depend upon others for
advice and instruction. This caused him cruel
anxiety, and gave an appearance of indecision to his
measures. A man of years when he reached India,
a campaign at the hottest season told heavily on
him. Tormented by bodily pain, mentally ill at ease,
harassed with ceaseless importunities from all sides
to capture Delhi, pestered by impossible projects for
taking it insolently thrust on him, he was allowed
no peace of body or mind. His last words were
full of anxious care. Thinking in his delirium that
the enemy were attacking the ridge he had so long
gallantly held, he exclaimed, “ Strengthen the right !
Then his words and his voice failed him, and he
breathed his last. The burial was fixed for the next
day. The body was placed in a rude coffin of wood
and conveyed to the churchyard on a gun-carriage.
His Lancer escort laid him in his grave, and the
guns of the enemy paid his funeral honours.

On the death of General Barnard the immediate

command was assumed by General Reed. He had

joined the field force on the morning of the action
of Badli-ki-serai, but, unwell and greatly fatigued
by a long and rapid journey during intense heat,

General Reed.
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he took no part in the action, and did not interfere
with General Barnard. His first proceeding on
assuming the immediate command was wise. All
the bridges crossing the canal were blown up except
one which we retained for our own use, and watched
with videttes of cavalry. The Phoolchudder aque-
duct, a work of great solidity through which the
canal water flowed into the city, was also blown
up. A large escort was also sent on the 8th of July
to destroy the bridge over the Najafgarh jheel cut,
which was effected without opposition.

On the following morning the enemy showed
outside the city in great force; our main picquets
were reinforced, and the troops remained accoutred
in their tents ready to turn out, while an unceasing
cannonade was kept up from the city walls and from
field artillery outside. Behind Hindu Rao’s house,
on our right, as we have mentioned, there was placed
a battery of three 18-pounders, with an infantry
picquet, all facing the Sabzi Mandi suburb. To
the right of the mound on the low ground was a
picquet of two Horse Artillery guns and a troop
of Dragoons, the guns being this day furnished by
Major Tombs’ troop, commanded by Lieutenant
Hills, and the cavalry from the Carabineers, com-
manded by Lieutenant Stillman. Still further to the
right, at a fakir's enclosure, was a native officers’
picquet of the 9th Irregulars, from which two
videttes were thrown forward some two hundred
yards on the Trunk Road. On the other side of
the road were rather dense gardens. The place
at which the videttes were posted was not visible
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from camp, and the advance of some horsemen in
white attracted but little notice, their dress being
the same as that of the 9th Irregulars, from which
corps the fakir's picquet was taken.! In a moment
the leading cavalry insurgents dashed forward at
speed upon the picquet.® A troop of Carabineers,
all very young, most of them untrained soldiers,
and only thirty-two in number of all ranks, turned
and broke, save the officer and two other men, who
nobly stood. Lieutenant Hills ordered his guns to
be unlimbered, and in order to give his men time
he boldly charged single-handed the head of the
enemy’s column, cut down the first man, struck
the second, and was then ridden down, horse and
all. On getting up and searching for his sword,
three more men came at him (two mounted); the
first man he wounded with his pistol, he caught the
lance of the second in his left hand, and wounded
him with his sword. The first man then came on

1 «“To show how little we were able to distinguish between these
horsemen of the enemy and our own native sowars, I may briefly
narrate a conversation I had with one of our wounded. ¢Well, Conolly,
I see you have got a bad cut, but I hope you gave as good as you re-
ceived. ¢No, sir, I am sorry I did not, for the villain came up to me
dressed like a respectable native, and the first thing he did, without
saying a word, was to cut me over the fingers, and before I could put
my bayonet into him he gave me the other cut over the head, and I
fell””—“The First Bengal European Fusiliers in the Delhi Campaign,”
Blackwood’s Magazine, January 1858,

% “State Papers,” page 452.

“ A large body of horse had made friends with the outlying picquets
of the 9th Irregulars on our right flank, who showed them the road
into camp at about half-past nine this morning. . . . The mistake of
leaving an inlet into camp to be guarded by Hindustanis will not again
be committed. Brigadier Wilson had in vain protested against it.”—
H. H. Greathed, “ The Siege of Delhi,” pages 104 and 105.

Lieutenant
Hills and
Major Tombs,
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again, and was cut down; the third man (on foot)
then came up and wrenched the sword from the
hand of Lieutenant Hills (who fell in the struggle),
and the enemy was about to cut him down, when
Major Tombs (who had gone up to visit his two
guns) saw what was going on, rushed in and shot
the man, and saved Lieutenant Hills.

“ By this time the enemy’s cavalry had passed by,
and Major Tombs and Lieutenant Hills went to look
after the wounded men, when Lieutenant Hills ob-
served one of the enemy passing with his (Lieutenant
Hills’) pistol. They walked towards him, and the
man began flourishing his sword and dancing about.
He first cut at Lieutenant Hills, who parried the
blow, and he then turned on Major Tombs, who re-
ceived the blow in the same manner. His second
attack on Lieutenant Hills was, I regret to say, more
successful, as he was cut down with a bad sword-cut
on the head, and would have been no doubt killed
had not Major Tombs rushed in and put his sword
through the man. I feel convinced that such gallant
conduct on the part of these two officers has only to
be brought properly forward to meet with an appro-
priate reward.”! Hills and Tombs received the
soldier’s most.coveted prize, the Cross for Valour.

Meanwhile "the sowars dashed into camp and

1 Lieutenant-Colonel M. Mackenzie, commanding the 1st Brigade
Horse Artillery, 10th July 1857.—* State Papers,” vol. 1., page 318.

“Tombs account of the affair of the 9th, when the enemy’s horse
rode through our camp, was torn up by Mackenzie. He had omitted to
say a word about himself to Mackenzie, so Mackenzie gave the General
the true version. Hills is getting on very well; he behaved most
gallantly.”—H. H. Greathed, “ The Siege of Delhi,” page 119.



ACTION AT THE SABZI MANDI 105

rode up to the native troop of horse artillery. “ Get
your guns ready,” cried they, ‘“and come away with
us to Delhi.,” The artillerymen answered, “ Who
are you that give us orders? We obey only our own
officers.” They then called out to Major Olpherts’
European troop, which was unlimbered close by, to
fire through them at the mutineers. ‘A party of
foot artillery now advanced, led by Captain Fagan,
who had been writing in his tent close by, and had
only time to relinquish his pen for a tulwar (sword),
and, supported by a company of the 1st Fusiliers,
drove one portion of the sowars out of camp, having
killed some fifteen of them, and the guns at the
mound battery on our right being brought round to
bear opened on them.” In the meantime, the re-
mainder of the sowars were driven out at the rear by
some cavalry. About thirty-five of the sowars were
killed, including the man who led them in this daring
exploit.

All this time the cannonade from the city and
from many field guns outside raged fast and furious.
A large body of sepoys who had posted themselves
in the houses and gardens of the suburbs kept up a
heavy fire on our batteries and the picquets of the
Sabzi Mandi, who found it difficult to hold their own.
A column under Brigadier-General Chamberlain was
therefore formed to dislodge them. As this column
swept up through the Sabzi Mandi, Major Reid was
instructed to move down and co-operate with such
infantry as could be spared from the main picquets.
The insurgents were cleared out of the gardens
without difficulty, but in the ser«is and houses some
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desperate conflicts took place. The narrow staircases
leading to the roofs rang with the crash of musketry,
yells and curses, as the rebels were driven, step by
step, to the roof, where they were bayoneted by our
soldiers. By sunset all were driven out, and the
rebels suffered severely from the fire of our batteries
as they returned to the city. Our loss was one officer
and forty men killed, eight officers and one hundred
and sixty men wounded, and eleven men missing.
The loss of the enemy was about five hundred men,
most of whom were killed on the spot.

Five days later there was another hard-fought
encounter. In the morning the mutineers, supported
by a heavy fire of artillery from the walls, came out
in great force to storm the picquets under Hindu
Rao’s Ridge and at the Sabzi Mandi. Our troops
remained on the defensive till the afternoon, when a
column was formed under Brigadier Showers to drive
the enemy out of the suburbs.! It consisted of six
horse artillery guns under Major Turner and Captain
Money, the 1st Fusiliers under Major Jacob, and
Major Coke’s Corps of Punjab Rifles,® with a few
of the Guides Cavalry and Hodson’s Horse and the
Kohat Risala.® Brigadier-General Chamberlain ac-
companied the column, and on passing the front of
Hindu Rao’s ridge it was joined by Major Reid with

! Major-General T. Reed, dated Camp before Delhi, 14th July, 1857.

? The 1st Regiment, Punjab Infantry.

3 Risala, Hind., from Ar. risala. A troop in one of our regiments of
native (so-called) Irregular Cavalry. The Kohat Risala were a body of
eighty horse raised at Kohat by a chief, a personal friend of Major Coke.
At the action near Alipur the troop behaved well and gallantly, but
the Mir, its leader, was unfortunately killed while pursuing some of
the fugitive insurgent infantry.
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all the available men from his position. Under a
shower of grape the troops moved on till thdy came
to a wall lined with the enemy, and they stopped
" short instead of pushing up to it. * Then Chamber-
lain, seeing that the men hesitated to advance, leaped
his horse clean over the wall into the midst of the
enemy and dared the men to follow, which they did,
but he got a ball in his shoulder.” !

While the Fusiliers and Coke’s men were driving
the mass of the enemy through the gardens to the
right, Hodson went with the Guides, Gurkhas and
part of the Fusiliers along the Grand Trunk Road
leading right into the gates of Delhi. “We were
exposed to a heavy fire of grape from the walls, and
musketry from behind trees and rocks ; but pushing
on, we drove them right up to the very walls, and
then were ordered to retire. This was done too
quickly by the artillery, and some confusion ensued,
the troops hurrying back too fast. The consequence
was the enemy rallied, bringing up infantry, then a
large body of cavalry, and behind them again two
guns to bear on us.” Hodson managed to get eight
of his horsemen in front, and to rally some of the
Guides Infantry ; Greville and Major Jacob coming
up at that moment brought forward a few scattered
Fusiliers. A body of the enemy’s horse now ad-
vanced to the charge. But at Hodson's command
his scanty band opened fire, and the rebel cavalry
stopped, reeled, turned, and fled in confusion. Their

! “There is not a braver heart or cooler head in camp ; his fault is
too great hardihood and exposure in the field, and a sometimes too
injudicious indifference to his own life or that of his men.”—* Hodson
of Hodson’s Horse,” page 180.
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guns were left deserted, and Hodson attempted to
steady his men for a charge to capture them. *“We
were within thirty paces; twenty-five resolute men
would have been enough; but the soldiers were
blown, and could not push on in the face of such odds,
unsupported as we were, for the whole of the rest
of the troops had retired. My eight horsemen stood
their ground, and the little knot of officers used every
exertion to aid us, when suddenly two rascals rushed
forward with lighted portfires in their hands and fired
the guns, loaded with grape, in our faces; and when
the smoke cleared away we found to our infinite dis-
gust and chagrin that they had limbered up the guns
and were off at a gallop. We had then, to effect our
retreat, to rejoin the column under a heavy fire of
grape and musketry, and many men and officers were
hit in doing it. I managed to get the Guides to re-
tire quietly, fighting as they went, and fairly checking
the enemy, on which I galloped back and brought
up two guns, when we soon stopped all opposition,
and drove the last Pandy into Delhi.” Our loss was
fifteen men killed, sixteen officers and one hundred
and seventy-seven men wounded. Among the
wounded were ‘‘ Chamberlain shot through the arm,
and little Roberts.”' 'The loss of the enemy was

! Lord Roberts of Candahar and Waterford.

“ Hodson of Hodson’s Horse,” page 176.

Hodson writes: “Only to say I am again mercifully preserved,
safe and unhurt, after one of the sharpest encounters we have yet had.
Shebbeare got wounded early in the fight, so I led the Guide Infantry
myself in the skirmish of the villages and suburbs. I charged the guns
with some eight horsemen, a party of the Guide Infantry and 1st Fusi-

liers. 'We got within thirty yards, but the enemy’s grape was too much
for our small party. Three of my officers, Shebbeare, Hawes, and
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estimated at a thousand. * For hours carts were seen
taking the corpses into the city.” “An old temple
called by the European soldiers ‘The Sammy House,’
situated some wav down the slope of the ridge to-
wards the city, and within nine hundred yards of the
Moree Bastion, which had been for some time held
by us, was the scene of hard fighting. Occupied by
a party of Guides Infantry, it defied all efforts to
take it, and next morning eighty dead bodies of
mutineers were counted round it.”*

On the 17th of July, Major-General Reed, whose
health, from the first most feeble, had now entirely
failed him, proceeded on sick leave to Simla. He
made over command of the force to Brigadier Arch-
dale Wilson of the Artillery, conferring on him the
rank of Brigadier-General in anticipation of the
sanction of Government, for, as a Colonel, Brigadier
Wilson was not the senior officer with the troops at
Delhi. He had, however, greatly distinguished him-
self, especially at the actions of Ghazi-ud-din-Nagar;
and he was known to be a skilled artillery officer and
a man of nerve and determination of character.’

On the 18th July the insurgents again made a
sharp and prolonged attack upon the ridge batteries

De Brett, slightly wounded, and several men ; but though well to the
front, my party suffered proportionately least.”—* Hodson of Hodson's
Horse,” page 177.

! Lieutenant Norman’s Narrative, “ State Papers,” vol. i., page 456.

Sammy House or Swamy-house. An idol temple or pagoda. “The
Sammy House of the Delhi ridge in 1857 will not soon be forgotten.”—
Yule’s “ Hobson Jobson,” page 672.

2 “Wilson was an energetic officer, had a sound head and knew his
work.”—%“The Sepoy War,” by Sir Hope Grant.

“ Brigadier Wilson’s appointment is a subject of general congratu-
lation.”—* The Siege of Delhi,” by H. H. Greathed, page 125.
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and Sabzi Mandi. Towards the afternoon a column
was sent to dislodge them from their position. From
the numerous enclosures and broken ground occupied
by the insurgents, they were enabled to offer a con-
tinued and determined resistance, which was success-
fully overcome by the troops under command of
Lieutenant - Colonel Jones, the mutineers being
driven with severe loss into the town. This was
the last real contest in the Sabzi Mandi, for by this
time the incessant exertions of the engineers had
cleared away the old serass, walls, and gardens for
some distance round the posts held by our picquets
in that suburb, while the breastworks' connecting
these picquets with the crest of Hindu Rao’s ridge
were completed and perfected.

While the engineers were engaged in this work,
the ridge defences were not neglected and gradually
became most formidable. In favourable positions
field guns from the captured ordnance were placed,
and though the duty on the Foot Artillery was very
hard, it was found possible to man all the guns with
the aid of the newly-raised Sikh Artillery sent from
the Punjab. The *“Sammy House’ was greatly
strengthened, and cover provided for the men occupy-
ing it—a very necessary measure, exposed as it was
to the fire of the Burn? and Moree Bastions, and
within grape-shot of the latter, while infantry could

1 “A rifleman said he did not like the new breastworks, as men
now only get hit on the head.”—* Siege of Delhi,” by H. H. Greathed,
page 150.

2 Named after Colonel William Burn, who in conjunction with
Colonel (afterwards General Sir David) Ochterlony defended Delhi
when besieged by Holkar in 1804,
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come up unperceived to within a short distance of
it.!

At daybreak on the 23rd of July the enemy again
came out in force from the Cashmere Gate, and
occupying Ludlow Castle and its neighbourhood
opened a fire both on the Metcalfe picquet and the
ridge. Fire was opened in reply from the two field
guns at the latter picquet and from two more that
came up in support, and from such of the guns at
Hindu Rao’s house as could be brought to bear.
But owing to the cover of walls and trees our guns
could not silence the fire of the enemy, and a column
was sent out under Brigadier Showers to attack
them. “Brigadier Showers ably performed the
service entrusted to him, and the result was, as
anticipated, the speedy retirement of the jnsurgents
into the city.”*

For several days nothing occurred save the usual
artillery fire on both sides and the skirmishing
at our advanced breastwork. ‘It appears quite
strange,” wrote one of the besiegers, “to have had no
fighting for five full days; and our fellows will begin
to think they are badly used.” On the 28th of
July, however, a force of several thousand men with
ten field guns and mortars moved out of the city,
prepared to throw a bridge over the canal and attack
us in the rear. A movable column was held in
readiness to act against them ; and was sent out at
night to form an escort during the last march for

! Lieutenant Norman’s Narrative, ¢ State Papers,” vol. i., page 458,
? Brigadier - General A. Wilson, commanding the Field Force,
12th August 1857, “ State Papers,” vol. i., page 334.

Rebels
occupy Lud-
low Castle.
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the convoy with five hundred Gurkhas that were
expected. The convoy reached camp in the morning,
and the column was again held in readiness to move
at an instant’s notice.' But the bridge, which the
mutineers had nearly completed, was swept away by
a flood, and in the afternoon they returned towards
Delhi, a large body of infantry moving from the city
at the same time to join them.
1st Augnst It was the 1st of August, the great Mahomedan
1857: festival of the Bukra Eed which, according to the
history of Islam, commemorates the day when
Abraham intended to sacrifice Ishmael.? It was the
custom for a gorgeous procession to come forth on
that day from the city and to proceed to the Eedgah,
where the Moghul Emperor sacrificed a camel. This
year it was determined that a far greater sacrifice
should be offered up. The unbelievers were to be
~ exterminated. A royal salute announced the day.
The Jumma Musjid rang with the prayers of the

! Lieutenant Norman’s Narrative, “ State Papers,” page 460.

2 The following is the account given by Mahomedan writers :—

“ When Ibrahim (the peace of God be upon him) founded Makkah,
the Lord desired him to prepare a feast for Him, Upon Ibrahim’s
(the friend of God) requesting to know what He would have on the
occasion, the Lord replied, ¢ Offer up thy son Ismail” Agreeably to
God’s command he took Ismail to the Kdbah to sacrifice him, and
having laid him down, he made several ineffectual strokes on his throat
with a knife, on which Ismail observed,  Your eyes being nncovered, it
is through pity and compassion for me you allow the knife to miss: it
would be better if you blindfolded yourself with the end of your turban
and then sacrificed me.’ Ibrahim acted upon his son’s suggestion, and
having repeated the words ¢ Bi-smi’llahi, Allahu Akbar’ (Ze., ‘In the
name of God! God is great!’), he drew the knife across his son’s neck.
In the meanwhile, however, Gabriel had sulstituted a broad-tailed
sheep for the youth Ismail, and Ibrahim unfolding his eyes observed,
to his surprise, the sheep slain, and his son standing behind him,”—See
Qisasu’l-Ambyia.
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faithful, and Brahmin priests stimulated the fanati-
cism of the followers of Vishnu. In the afternoon,
wild with religious enthusiasm, the rebels poured
forth from the city gates, which were closed behind
them. Their zeal rekindled by the loud cries which
rang from the minarets of the city mosques, the
intrepid fanatics, shouting the old Moslem battle-cry
which had struck dismay in the ranks of the Roman
legion, threw themselves upon our works. A deadly
fire from our breastworks checked their advance and
broke their ranks. Again and again the assailants
rallied and rushed upon the breastworks, but the
steady volleys stopped their charge. All that
August night the battle raged, the batteries from
four bastions poured forth without ceasing their shot
and shell, and the ridge was lighted by the flashes
of our guns as they sent forth their reply; the air
rang with the wild cries of the fanatics and the
rolling of musketry. The day dawned and the fight
still continued, and it was past noon when the
enemy, who had fought manfully, retired baffled.
Their loss was great. In front of a breastwork at
the right of the “ Sammy House,” where the fiercest
struggle took place, one hundred and ninety-seven
dead bodies were counted.

The enemy returned to the city, their hearts sick
with deferred hope. By no art and no bravery could
they drive us from the ridge. They had made a well-
planned and desperate assault on our rear and had
failed ; they had for six weeks, day after day, can-
nonaded our batteries and attacked our breastworks,

and had been driven back to the walls. The time
VOL. 1. H
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they knew was nigh at hand when reinforcements
would reach our camp, and they trembled for their
fate. The tide had already begun to turn, and we
were fast becoming the besiegers and not the be-
sieged. To add to their anxiety, their powder
manufactory was on the 7th of August accidentally
blown up. Large bribes were offered by the Royal
Family to the rebels to make another attack, but
the majority valued their lives more than gold. A
few brave men, however, volunteered to go out and
fight the Feringees for a week. They brought some
guns out of the Cashmere Gate, and posting them
a few hundred yards in advance of the city walls at
Ludlow Castle, they plied the Metcalfe picquet with
shot and shell. At the same time a number of
infantry skirmishers kept up a nearly constant fire
from the brushwood in front of our position. They
sometimes advanced with shouts, but were rapidly
driven back by our fire. As the desultory fighting
caused us some loss and much annoyance, it was
determined to surprise them and to capture their
guns. To effect this a strong body of infantry,
composed of Europeans, Sikhs, and Gurkhas, with
a troop of horse artillery, and a squadron of the
Lancers and the Guides Cavalry, were assembled
and placed under the command of Brigadier Showers.
The orders were concise and distinct—*‘“Move up
silently and take the guns at Ludlow Castle.” As
ordered, the column, with infantry on either side
and the artillery on the road, advanced in profound
silence on the enemy’s position. The first word
heard was the challenge of the enemy’s sentry, “ Ho
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comedere?” “Takethat!” was the reply as the shot
entered his body. Then a volley of musketry awoke
the surprised foe, who attempted to returnit. ‘ Only
two guns had been fired when our men closed on
the battery. Private Reegan, rushing forward, pre-
vented the discharge of the third—a howitzer loaded
with grape—which, primed and ready, was pointed
on our men. The artilleryman was in the act of
applying the lighted portfire when Private Reegan
bayoneted him, but at the same time received a
severe wound.” The gunners stood to their guns,
and putting their backs to the waggons fought till
they were killed. Four guns were captured, and
our troops, after attacking the rebels who had taken
shelter in the adjoining houses and killing many of
them, returned to camp. ‘The return to camp,”
wrote Hodson, ‘“was a scene worth witnessing, the
soldiers bringing home in triumph the guns they had
captured, a soldier with musket and bayonet fixed
riding each horse, and brave young Owen astride
one gun, and dozens clinging to and pushing it, or
rather them, along with might and main and cheer-
ing like mad things.” Our loss was serious. An
officer was killed, eight wounded, and one hundred
and nine men hors de combat. Among the wounded
officers were Brigadier Showers and Major Coke,
“while in the act of capturing a gun with his own
hand.” ““Showers was a great loss to us. Unpopular
as the Brigadier of a station owing to the sternness
of his character, he had gained the admiration and
good will of every one before Delhi by his coolness
and gallantry, and by the presence of mind and
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intelligence which never deserted him under the
hottest fire.”!

1 “This was a most brilliant affair, satisfactory in every way ; and,
considering the proximity of the enemy’s force to Delhi, and that the
action was fought under the guns of a heavy battery of theirs, the
result must be considered as most felicitous and happy.”—¢ The 1st
Bengal European Fusiliers.” —Blackwood’s Magazine, January 1858.
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CHAPTER V.

THE same day Brigadier-General Nicholson arrived 7th August.
in camp, having ridden in before his column. Of Moo,
all the heroes who have made the Indian Mutiny
an epic, none strike the imagination like John
Nicholson. He was a knight belonging to the time
of King Arthur rather than to the nineteenth century.
Tall of person and of majestic presence, he well
justified the title of “Lion of the Punjab.” Strong
and brave, he had the high moral grace which makes
bravery and strength beautiful. He was but a lad
when at Ghazni he heard the order given for British
soldiers to surrender their arms. Three times, in
contempt of it, he led his men to the attack, and
drove the enemy from the walls at the point of the
bayonet ; and when at last he was forced to give up
his sword, he burst into tears in an agony of shame
and grief! Daring and resolute, when the Punjab
became a British province, he was called on to curb
the wild and lawless tribes of the frontier. He not
only tamed them, but he inspired them with such
awe and respect that they regarded him as a divine
being and worshipped him.*? He was engaged in
introducing peace and order in the Peshawar Valley

! “Lives of Indian Officers,” by John W. Kaye, vol. ii., page 423.

* Literally deified, according to Colonel Herbert Edwardes. A
brotherhood of Fakirs in Hazara abandoned all other forms of religion
and took to the worship of Nykkul Seyne when Nicholson went among

them.
n7
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when the mutiny occurred, and it was at a council
of war held at Peshawar that Nicholson suggested
the idea of organising a movable column to suppress
mutiny wherever it might appear in the Punjab.
The formation of the column was heartily approved
by Sir John Lawrence, and carried into execution
without delay. Brigadier Neville Chamberlain was
appointed to command it. When he relinquished
the command on proceeding to Delhi as Adjutant-
General, Nicholson was appointed to succeed him
with the rank of Brigadier-General. He was at the
time only thirty-five years of age, and a regimental
captain in civil employ, but he quickly justified the
confidence which all who knew him placed in him.
On the 22nd of June he assumed command; two
days later he proceeded to Phillour, and disarmed
the native troops at that station, thus preserving the
only arsenal in India which could supply the army
before Delhi. His next exploit was the pursuit and
annihilation of the mutineers who had murdered
many of the Europeans at Sialkot. On receiving
the welcome orders to march for Delhi, he pushed
forward with all speed, and, on reaching Umballa,
he hurried on in advance of his men to consult with
General Wilson. After taking counsel with the
Chief, he returned to the column, and on the 14th
of August he marched into camp at the head of it.
It consisted of—

Captain Bourchier's European Horse Battery,

Her Majesty’s 52nd Regiment Light Infantry,

The remaining wing of Her Majesty’s 61st Regiment,
The 2nd Regiment Punjab Infantry, and
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two hundred Mooltanee horse. The reinforcement
met with a joyful welcome. After six weeks’ inces-
sant fighting the British troops had held their own
and now succour had come, and the hearts of all
were gladdened at the prospect of assaulting Delhi.
But before that could be done with success they must
wait for the siege-train which, with a large quantity
of ammunition, was slowly wending its way from the
Punjab.

The day the column marched into camp it was
ascertained that a body of the enemy, principally
cavalry, had left Delhi in order to cut off our
communication with the Punjab, and Hodson was
sent out to watch them. He took with him a
hundred of the Guides Cavalry, twenty-five Jhind
horsemen, and his own newly-raised corps of two
hundred and thirty-three sabres.' Many of the
latter had not yet learnt to handle their arms on
horseback, and many of the horses were half-broken,
but they were wild, brave men from the border,
ready to die for one who knew how to command
and lead them. As they marched forth out of camp
they presented a warlike appearance, dressed in their
dust-coloured tunics,’ with scarlet sash and scarlet
turbans. The first day they managed to surprise a
number of the enemy's irregular cavalry, and slew
a large number. The flooded state of the country

1 ¢ At present it is merely an aggregation of untutored horsemen, ill-
equipped, half-clothed, badly provided with everything, quite unfit for
service in the usual sense of the term, and only forced into the field
because I have willed that it shall be so.”—* Hodson of Hodson’s Horse,”
page 108. .

2 Their dress gained them the name of the Flamingos.
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rendered movement extremely difficult, but Hodson
pushed on to Rohtuck, on approaching which he had
a skirmish with a body of footmen and a few sowars,
and defeated them. He then encamped for the
night on the outskirts of the town. Next morning
he was again attacked by about three hundred irre-
gular horse and nine hundred matchlock-men. The
assailants were immediately charged and driven back,
but as a fire was kept up from the enclosures near
the town, Hodson determined to retire and to draw
them out into the open country. * Everything turned
out as I expected ; my men withdrew slowly and de-
liberately by alternate troops (the troop nearest the
enemy by alternate ranks) along the line of the Bohur
road, by which we had reached Rohtuck, our left
extending towards the main road to Delhi. The
Jhind horsemen protected our right, and a troop of
my own regiment the left. The enemy moved out
the instant we withdrew, following us in great
numbers, yelling and shouting and keeping up a
heavy fire of matchlocks.

“ Their horsemen were principally on their right,
and a party galloping up the main road threatened
our left flank. I continued to retire until we got
into open and comparatively dry ground, and then
turned and charged the mass who had come to
within from one hundred and fifty to two hundred
yards of us.

“The Guides, who were nearest to them, were
upon them in an instant, closely followed by and soon
intermixed with my own men.

“The enemy stood for a few seconds, turned, and
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then were driven back in utter confusion to the very
walls of the town, it being with some difficulty that the
officers could prevent their men entering the town
with the fugitives. Fifty of the enemy, all horse-
men, were killed on the ground, and many must
have been wounded.”' Hodson brought his men
safe back to camp with only thirteen wounded.
On the 24th of August a large body of the enemy
with eighteen guns left Delhi with the avowed inten-
tion of intercepting the siege-train. At daybreak on
the following morning a column under Brigadier-
General Nicholson was despatched to follow them
and bring them to action. It consisted of about two
thousand infantry and cavalry, with sixteen horse
artillery guns. The march was wearisome and
fatiguing to the men. The rain was falling in tor-
rents, and the roads were mere quagmires. It was
only by putting their shoulders to the wheels that
the artillerymen got the guns through two wide
swamps. At noon a halt was sounded, but the
General, hearing that the rebels were about twelve
miles in front at a place called Najafgarh, determined
if possible to overtake and rout them before nightfall.
The men were worn by the morning’s march, but
their discipline was good, and, eager to meet the foe,
they cheerfully responded to their General’s call and
pushed forward. At sunset they reached a branch of
the Najafgarh Canal, which the rains had flooded into
the depth and dimensions of a river, and found the
enemy posted on the other side to the left of the line

! From Lieutenant W. S. R. Hodson, commanding the Irregular
Horse, 24th August 1857.— State Papers,” vol. i., page 352.

24th August
1857.

Battle of
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of advance. Their position extended from a bridge
over the main canal to the town of Najafgarh, a
distance of a mile and three-quarters or two miles.
“Their strongest point was an old seras on their left
centre, in which they had four guns; nine more guns
were between this and the bridge.” The stream was
full and rapid and the ford difficult and deep, and
with much difficulty and some delay the passage was
effected under a heavy fire from the enemy. The
evening was far advanced before all the troops had
crossed, and Nicholson had only time to make a very
hasty reconnaissance. He quickly determined to
attack the sera: and force the left centre, and then,
changing front to the left, to sweep down their line
of guns towards the bridge. One hundred men of
each corps were left in reserve, and the 61st Foot,
the 1st Fusiliers, and the 2nd Regiment Punjab
Infantry were formed up, with four guns on the right
and ten on the left flank, supported by the squadrons
of the 9th Lancers and the Guides Cavalry. General
Nicholson rode down the line, and speaking to the
men in his clear, commanding voice, warned them to
hold their fire till within close quarters, and ordered
them to lie down below the low ridge on which the
guns were posted, but he himself kept his saddle,
and remained in the centre until the moment came
when he could lead them forward. The English
batteries now began to play with astonishing activity
and accuracy, and after a few rounds Nicholson gave
the word, and the men rose alert from the ground
and rushed over the hillock. Then, amidst a heavy
fire of musketry and artillery, they worked their way
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forward through the deep morass. They gained
ground only by degrees, and many fell beneath the
storm of grape, canister, and musketry. But they
fired not a shot, they went forward. Nicholson, riding
in front, cheered them on till they came within thirty
yards of the enemy’s batteries, and then he gave the
word “ Charge,” and with a volley and a loud English
shout they rushed the guns. Close and desperate
then was the fight, but the British soldiers won their
way, and carried the seras at the point of the bayonet.
Then, changing front, they swept down the enemy'’s
line towards the bridge. The rebels, finding the
whole position of their guns had been turned, made
little resistance, and were soon in full retreat across
the bridge, with our guns playing upon them. Our
troops followed hard, and thirteen of the rebel guns
were captured. The General supposed the conflict
was at an end, when it was reported to him that a
strong village in the rear was still occupied by the
enemy. ‘I immediately sent orders to Lieutenant
Lumsden, who was then nearly abreast of the village,
to drive them out; but, though few in number, they
had remained so long that our troops were on all
sides of them, and seeing no line of retreat they
fought with extreme desperation.”' The 1st Punjab
Rifles were driven back and their commander killed,
and the 61st Foot had to be sent in support before
the place was taken. ‘Indeed, more properly speak-
ing, it was not taken, but evacuated by the enemy

1 From Brigadier-General J. Nicholson, commanding the 4th Infantry
Brigade, dated Camp before Delhi, the 28th August 1857.—* State
Papers,” vol. i., page 362.
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during the night.”* It was dark before the battle
was over, and after fourteen hours’ marching and
fighting, the troops had to bivouac in the field with-
out food or covering of any kind. The bridge was
blown up during the night by our sappers, and the
enemy having retreated to Delhi, the force returned
to camp next morning. Our loss was about one
hundred men %ors de combat; three officers were
dangerously wounded, two of whom died. “To
Brigadier-General Nicholson’s judgment, energy,
and determination,” wrote General Wilson, “I
attribute mainly the glorious results of the expedi-
tion, and next to the steadiness and gallantry in
action, and the cheerfulness under great privation
and fatigue, exhibited by the officers and men placed
under his command.”

No further attempt was made to molest the siege-
train, and on the 3rd of September over thirty pieces
of heavy ordnance, with ample supplies of ammuni-
tion, arrived in camp. The engineers had in the
meanwhile been busy making preparations for the
commencement of active operations for the cap-
ture of the city. The first step taken was to dig a
trench to the left of the Sammy House, at the end of
which a battery was constructed for four 9-pounders
and two 24-pounder howitzers. The object of this
battery was to prevent sorties from the Lahore or
Kabul Gate passing round the city wall to annoy
our breaching batteries, and also to assist in keeping
down the fire of the Moree Bastion. It, moreover,

! Lieutenant Norman’s Narrative, *“State Papers,” vol. i, page
464.
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led the enemy to believe that we would attack them
from this side. But, contrary to their expectation,
it was resolved to push the main attack on the left,
because the river would completely protect our flank
as we advanced, and there was better cover on that
side. The froat to be attacked consisted of the
Moree, Cashmere, and Water Bastions with the cur-
tain walls connecting them. The bastions were the
only part on which guns could be mounted, as the
connecting curtains were merely parapets made strong
enough only for a musketry fire, and therefore if
we could silence the bastions we could break the
wall without difficulty. By the 6th of September all
the reinforcements had arrived, and it was deter-
mined that the siege should be at once commenced
and prosecuted with the utmost vigour. Our avail-
able force amounted in round numbers to 6500
infantry, 1000 cavalry, and 600 artillery, and of
these only 3317 were British troops." As we had
too few artillerymen, volunteers were called upon
from the Lancers and 6th Dragoon Guards to work
the batteries, and all the gunners of the horse artillery
were ordered into the trenches. In the trenches the
old Sikh artillerymen, who had dealt death into our
ranks at Ferozeshah and Sobraon, and whom John
Lawrence had persuaded to leave their ploughs and
come to Delhi, also did good service for us. Some

! “The European corps were mere skeletons, the strongest only having
409 effective rank and file, while the 52nd Regiment Light Infantry,
which three weeks before had arrived with fully 600 rank and file
out of hospital, had now only 242.”"—Lieutenant Norman’s Narrative,
“State Papers,” vol. i., page 466.
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companies of Muzbee Sikhs' were partially trained to
remedy the scarcity of sappers, and a body of coolies
bravely lent their aid to erect the batteries.

Tth Sept. On the 7th of September, in the dusk of the
Opustruction  evening, the first battery was silently traced out
batteries.  geven hundred yards from the Moree Bastion. The

moon rose on a busy scene; a long string of camels
brought the fascines and sandbags, and hundreds of
men were busy in raising them up. The work had
to be finished by dawn, before the enemy discovered
our operations and made their completion impossible.
The work went on as quietly as possible, but some
sound attracted the attention of the mutineers, and a
flash from the Moree Bastion lit up the sky and a
shower of grape ploughed up the ground amid the
workmen and killed several of them. Then swiftly
followed another shower and more men fell. 1If the
fire continued the work must be relinquished, for the
men were quite exposed. But fortunately the rebels,
thinking the sound proceeded only from some work-
ing parties cutting brushwood, ceased firing, believing
that they had succeeded in scaring them. All through
the night every man worked his hardest, but when
dawn broke only one gun had been mounted on its
platform, and the enemy, seeing what was being
done, opened fire. Round after round of shot and
grape came crashing against the battery, but our
men continued their work and at last it was com-
pleted. Then our guns belched forth their fire and the

! Muzbee—the name of a class of Sikhs originally of low caste, vulg,
mazbi, apparently machabé, from Ar. mazhab,—* Hobson-Jobson,” Col.
Henry Yule, R.E,, C.B,, and A. C. Burnell, RH B, C.I.LE.
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masonry of the fortifications began to fall, and by
the afternoon the Moree Bastion had ceased to fire
and was a heap of ruins. This battery was after-
wards known as Brind’s Battery, being commanded
by Major Brind, who worked it with great effect
till the end of the siege.! It consisted of five
18-pounders and one howitzer to the right, with
four 24-pounders to the left, under the command of
Major Kaye, which were to play on the Cashmere*
Bastion.

On the evening of the 8th September we seized
Ludlow Castle, within six hundred yards of the city.
It had always formed an advanced picquet of the

1 Tt was said of Major Brind that he “never slept,” and the state-
ment was no great exaggeration. I am told that he more than once
addressed his men, saying, as he shouldered a muskat, “Now you lie
and rest. Your commandant will defend the battery.” The same
informant, himself an officer of the highest gallantry, often men-
tioned in preceding pages of this marrative, said to me: “We talk
about Victoria Crosses—Brind is a man who should be covered with
them from head to foot.” See also letters of Major Reid, now (1875)
Sir Charles Reid, one of the foremost of the Delhi heroes: “Battery
No. 1 was commanded by my dear old friend Major Brind, who had
been constantly on duty with me on the Ridge, and who had given me
most able assistance on the night of the Eed attack. Indeed, on all
occasions the exertions of this noble officer were indefatigable. He was
always to be found where his presence was most required; and the
example he set to his officers and men was beyond all praise. A finer
soldier I never met.”—Kaye’s “Sepoy War,” vol. iii., page 560.

? A miniature embrasure erected in the north-west corner of the
courtyard of the new police barracks marks the spot where the right
section of the battery, under the immediate command of Major Brind,
was situated. Another miniature embrasure behind the bungalow on
the opposite side of the road marks the site of the left section. Omn
the 10th this section caught fire, but Lieutenant Lockhart and six
or seven Gurkhas, gallantly mounting under a heavy fire the top of
the parapet, succeeded by pouring sand on the blazing battery in
extinguishing the flames. The section, however, was destroyed.

No. 1 Battery,
or Brind's
Battery.
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enemy,' and it was a matter of surprise that they
should have let it be taken without a fight. But
there is little doubt the enemy still thought the
attack was to be on the right, where all the fighting
had hitherto been, and where all our old batteries
were located. To the left of Ludlow Castle and a
little in advance stood an enclosed garden called the
Kudsia Bagh, and both places were now occupied by
strong detachments, and formed our chief support to
the left attack. During the night of the 9th and
10th, No. 2 Battery was completed and partially
armed, but not yet unmasked. It was constructed
immediately in front of Ludlow Castle, five hundred
yards from the Cashmere Bastion. It was made in
two portions,® the right half for seven heavy howitzers
and two 18-pounders; the left half, about two hun-
dred yards distant, was for nine 24-pounders. The
whole of the eighteen guns were destined to silence
the fire of the Cashmere Bastion, to knock away the
parapet right and left that gave cover to the defenders,
and to open the main breach by which the town was
to be stormed.®* The right portion was under the
command of Major Kaye* and the left under Major
J. H. Campbell, until he was compelled from a severe

1 “They were driven out of it on the 23rd of July and 12th of
August, when the four guns were taken, but it was no advantage for
us to hold it until we were prepared to adopt the offensive in earnest.”
—“The Siege of Delhi,” by H. H. Greathed, page 230.

2 Two miniature embrasures mark the spot. Lord Roberts served
in this battery during the bombardment.

3 «A Years Campaigning in India,” by Captain J. G. Medley,
Bengal Engineers, page 80.

¢ He was transferred from the left section of Battery No. 1 after it
had been destroyed.
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grape shot wound to make over the command to
Captain E. B. Johnson.

On the night of the 10th September No. 4 Battery
was also made in the Kudsia Bagh. It consisted of
ten heavy mortars, and was under the command of
Major Tombs.!

The first site chosen for the left breaching battery
was discovered to be bad, and on the night of the
10th of September Captain Taylor, in searching for
a better place, found a large building, an old custom
house, about a hundred and sixty yards from the
Water Bastion, which the enemy, with the most
unaccountable negligence, had neither destroyed nor
occupied. It was seized, and a battery that night
commenced behind it. The rebels, discovering that
our men were working in that direction, poured in
an incessant shower of shot and shell. Thirty-nine
men were killed and wounded that night. But with
rare courage did the workmen continue their task.
“They were merely the unarmed native pioneers,
and not meant to be fighting men. With the
passive courage so common to natives, as man after
man was knocked over, they would stop a moment,
weep a little over their fallen friend, pop his body
in a row along with the rest, and then work on
as before.” At dawn, the working party was with-
drawn, or every man would have been destroyed.

I When at Delhi, Major Cunliffe, of the Oxfordshire Light Infantry,
and myself tried one morning to discover the spot where this battery
was situated, but we were unable to find it. In the evening, Lord
Roberts kindly drove Major Cunliffe to the Kudsia Bagh, and spent
an hour in searching for the spot, but the actual position of the battery
has escaped his most accurate memory.

VOL. L I

No. 4 Battery.

No. 3 Battery.
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On the 11th the heavy guns were drawn into posi-
tion under a sharp and constant fire of musketry
which severely galled the men. When finished the
battery mounted six 18-pounders. It was com-
manded by Major Scott.!

! “The establishment of Major Scott’s battery within one hundred
and eighty yards of the wall, to arm which heavy guns had to be
dragged from the rear under a constant fire of musketry, was an opera-
tion that could rarely have been equalled in war.” — Lieutenant
Norman’s Narrative, “State Papers,” vol. 1., page 481.

A miniature embrasure in the Kudsia Bagh marks the spot where
this battery was situated.



CHAPTER VL

At eight oclock on the morning of the 11th of
September, the great breaching battery opened fire,
and as the shot told and the stones began to fly a
loud cheer burst forth from the artillerymen. The
Cashmere Bastion attempted to reply, but was quickly
silenced, and the bastion and curtain came rushing
down on all sides. On the 12th of September, No. 8
Battery was unmasked, and fifty guns and mortars
from the four batteries poured their storm of shot
and shell upon the city. Night and day was the
overwhelming fire continued. But the garrison did
not allow the bombardment to proceed without in-
terruption. Unable to work a gun from any of the
bastions, they brought them into the open and en-
filaded our batteries. They got a gun to bear upon
our front from a hole in the curtain wall. They
sent rockets from one of their Martello towers, and
they maintained a perfect storm of musketry from
their advanced trench and from the city walls. No
part of the batteries was left unsearched by their
fire. Though three months’ incessant work in them
had made our men skilful in using the cover they
had, many were laid low by the deadly fire of
muskets and enfilading artillery. Our loss during
the six days the trenches were open was three

hundred and twenty-seven.
131
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On the night of the 13th of September, four engineer
officers were sent down to examine each of the two
breaches near the Cashmere and Water Bastions.
Medley and Lang stole through the enemy's skir-
mishers, reached the edge of the ditch undiscovered,
descended it, and soon would have been at the top
of the breach, when they heard footsteps coming
towards it. They climbed back to their own side,
and, throwing themselves down on the grass, waited
in silence. ‘A number of figures immediately ap-
peared on the top of the breach, their forms clearly
discernible against the bright sky, and not twenty
yards distant. We, however, were in the deep
shade, and they could not apparently see us. They
conversed in a low tone, and presently we heard the
ring of their steel ramrods as they loaded. We waited
quietly, hoping they would go away, when another
attempt might be made. Meanwhile, we could see
that the breach was a good one, the slope easy of
ascent, and that there were no guns on the flank.
We knew by experience, too, that the ditch was
easy of descent. It was, however, desirable if
possible to get to the top, but the sentries would
not move.” After waiting a few minutes, Medley
gave the signal, and the party started to their feet,
and quickly retreated towards the camp.  Directly
we were discovered, a volley was sent after us; the
balls came whizzing about our ears, but no one was
touched.”? Medley reported the breach to be prac-
ticable, and a similar report having been received

1 “A Years Campaigning in India,” by Captain J. G. Medley,
page 99.
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from Home and Greathed, orders were at once
issued for the assault to take place the coming
morning.

The infantry of the storming force was organised
in five columns. The first, under Brigadier-General
Nicholson, consisted of—

Men.
Her Majesty’s 75th Regiment . . 300
The First Bengal European Fusiliers . 250
The 2nd Punjab Infantry . . . 450

It was to storm the breach near the Cashmere
Bastion, and escalade the face of the bastion. The
engineers attached to this column were Medley,
Lang, and Bingham.

The second column, under Brigadier Jones of Her

Majesty’s 61st Regiment, consisted of—
Men.
Her Majesty’s 8th Regiment . . 250

The 2nd Bengal European Fusiliers . 250
The 4th Regiment of Sikh Infantry . 350

It was to storm the breach in the Water Bastion.
The engineers with this column were Greathed,
Hovenden, and Pemberton.

The third column, under Colonel Campbell of
Her Majesty’s 52nd Regiment of Light Infantry,
consisted of—!

Men.
The 52nd Regiment Light Infantry . 200
The Kumaon Battalion of Gurkhas . 250
The 1st Regiment Punjab Infantry . 500

I «The Colonel commanded ours, consisting of the 52nd, Kumaon
Battalion of Gurkhas, and Coke's regiment of Punjab Irregulars. We
could only muster 260 of all ranks, the Gurkhas 200, and Coke's regi-
ment 500 men.” —“Historical Record of the 52nd Regiment (Oxfordshire
Ligit Infantry), 1755-1858,” by W. S. Moorsom.

The assault-
ing columns.
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It was to assault by the Cashmere Gate after it had
been blown up. The engineers were Home, Salkeld,
and Tandy.

The fourth column, under Major C. Reid, com-
manding the Sirmur Battalion, consisted of the
Sirmur Battalion of Gurkhas and Guides and such
of the picquets (European and native) as could be
spared from Hindu Rao’s house, altogether 860 men,
and 1200 men of the Cashmere Contingent. It was
to attack the suburbs of Kissengunge and Pahari-
pore, and support ‘“ the main attack by effecting an
entrance at the Cabul Gate after it should be taken.”
The engineers attached to this column were Maunsell
and Tennant.

The fifth or reserve column, under Brigadier Long-
field, Her Majesty’s 8th Regiment, consisted of—

Men.
Her Majesty's 61st Regiment . . 250
The 4th Punjab Infantry . . . 450
The Beluch Battalion . . . . 300
The Jhind Contingent . . . . 300

and 200 of Her Majesty’s 60th Rifles, who joined
after the assault had been made. It was to await the
result of the attack, and, on the columns entering
the city, to take possession of the posts which the
General had previously assigned to it. The engineers
were Ward and Thackeray.

Long before dawn broke the assaulting columns
had taken their appointed places. The first column
was marched silently down to the Kudsia Bagh; the
second a little to the right; and the third waited on
the high road which leads to the Cashmere Gate.



THE ASSAULT. 135

There were some six thousand five hundred men,
who were going to take that strong city defended
by thirty thousand desperate and disciplined rebels.
About seventeen hundred of that force were British
soldiers. A handful of men, but terrible in their
strength, their discipline, and the passions awakened
in their hearts. Toil and hardship, and the memory
of their slaughtered women and children, had made
them savage and determined to wreak vengeance on
the guilty city.! An incessant play of artillery was
kept up on the walls, in order to drive the enemy
from the breaches and protect the columns as they
formed. It was intended that the assault should be
delivered at the break of day; but many of the men
belonging to the different regiments of the storming
force had been on picquet duty all night, and it took
some time for them to join their respective corps.
The sun had risen high over the horizon,” when the
loud roar of the guns suddenly ceased, and each
soldier during the brief moment of silence braced
himself for the conflict. Then Nicholson gave the
signal. The Rifles, with a loud cheer, dashed to the
front in skirmishing order, and at the same moment
the heads of the first two columns appeared from
the Kudsia Bagh and moved silently and steadily
against the breach.

! The news of the foul massacre at Cawnpore had reached the soldiers.

2 “Some unavoidable delay took place which detained the advance,
and it was already day-dawn when the columns got fairly in motion.”—
“ A Year’s Campaigning in India,” by Captain J. G. Medley, page 104.

“It was broad daylight when we assaulted.”—“ Historical Record of
the 52nd Regiment (Oxfordshire Light Infantry), 1755-1858,” by W. 8.
Moorsom,
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No sooner were the front ranks of the first column
seen by the rebels than a stormn of bullets met them
from every side, and officers and men fell fast on the
crest of the glacis. Then for many minutes, amidst
a blaze of musketry, the soldiers stood at the edge of
the ditch, for it was found impossible to lower the
ladders. Dark figures crowding in the breach hurled
stones at their heads and dared them to come on.
The ladders were thrown into the ditch, and the
men leaped into it and raised them against the
escarp. The heroic Nicholson, at the head of his
part of the column, was the first to ascend and reach
the breach, and the soldiers pressed after him.! The

1 ©«To that most brilliant officer, Brigadier-General J. Nicholson,
whose professional character and qualifications are so well known and
appreciated, I am under the greatest obligations for the daring manner
in which ke led his column to the assault.”—From 3ajor-General A.
Wilson, commanding the Delhi Field Force, to the Adjutant-General
of the Army.—* State Papers,” vol. i., page 379.

“The 1st Bengal European Fusiliers, led by Brigadier-General
Nicholson in person, escaled the left face of the Cashmere Bastion.”—
From Captain W. Brookes, 75th Regiment, to the Assistant Adjutant-
General, Delhi Field Force.—* State Papers,” vol. i, page 399.

“Ever foremost in daring, Nicholson, in advance of his men, was the
first on the wall, at the head of his part of the column. Major Jacob,
Captain Greville, and other officers of the Fusiliers were the next
moment by his side.”—* The Punjab and Delhi in 1857,” by the Rev. J.
Cave Browne, M.A,, vol. ii., page 175.

Field-Marshal Sir Henry Norman writes: “ As to Nicholson being
the first to assault the breach, I have personally no doubt that he was
not in this position. It would be contrary to all usage for a General to
lead the stormers. Had he done so, he would certainly have been
killed or wounded, and my own vision, with the aid of glasses, con-
vinced me that he did not lead the assault.”

“The column under Nicholson was unfortunate in having no one
to record its formation for the attack. Nicholson of course was too
seriously wounded to send in a report. The next senior officer of his
column (Colonel Herbert of the 75th) was also wounded. The next’
senior officer, Major Jacob of the 1st Fusiliers, died of his wounds, and
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other section diverged a little to the right to escalade
the adjoining bastion. Lieutenant FitzGerald of
the 75th was the first to mount, and fell mortally
wounded. But many took his place. The breaches
were filled with the dead and dying, and for a few
seconds along the battlements the conflict raged
fiercely, but the rebels were hurled back, and the
ramparts which had so long defied us were our own.

The second column had also carried the breach at
the Water Bastion. Led by Greathed and Hovenden
of the Engineers, who marched ahead with the ladder
party, they emerged from the cover of No. 3 Battery.
No sooner were they seen than they were met by
so terrible a discharge of musketry that both the
Engineer officers fell severely wounded, and of the
thirty-nine ladder men twenty-nine were wounded in
a few minutes. Their comrades swiftly seized the
ladders, and, after one or two vain attempts, reared
them against the escarp. Then amidst showers of
stones and bullets the soldiers ascended, rushed the
breach, and, slaying all before them, drove the rebels
from the walls.

The third column had in the meantime advanced
the officer who drew up the report of the column was Captain Brookes
of the 75th, who probably hardly knew the exact formation.”

“If you will look at the report of the officer in command of the
2nd column (from Brigadier William Jones, C.B., commanding the
2nd column, ‘State Papers,’ vol. i., page 400), you will see that that
column had a storming party, reserves, and support, and doubtless
Nicholson told off his column in such sort of way.”

“There is nothing in this to show that Nicholson may not have placed
himself at the head of the 1at Fusiliers, as allezed by Captain Brookes,
but this is very different from being the first to ascend the breach.”

“Sir A. Wilson says that Nicholson led his column to the assault, but
this does not mean that he headed the stormers.”

The second
column.

The third
column,
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g;péossig; gfe towards the Cashmere Gate, and halted while the

Gate. party who were to blow in the gates went forward.
“Covered by the fire of Her Majesty’s 60th Rifles
this party advanced at the double towards the Cash-
mere Gate; Lieutenant Home, with Sergeants John
Smith and Carmichael and Havildar Madhoo, all of
them Sappers, leading, and carrying the powder bags,
followed by Lieutenant Salkeld, Corporal Burgess,
and a section of the remainder of the party. The
advanced party reached the gateway unhurt, and
found that part of the drawbridge had been destroyed,
but passing across the precarious footing supplied by
the remaining beams, they proceeded to lodge their
powder against the gate. The wicket was open, and
through it the enemy kept up a heavy fire upon
them. Sergeant Carmichael was killed while laying
his powder, Havildar Madhoo being at the same
time wounded. The powder being laid, the ad-
vanced party slipped down into the ditch to allow
the firing party, under Lieutenant Salkeld, to perform
its duty. 'While endeavouring to fire the charge,
Lieutenant Salkeld was shot through the leg and
arm, and handed over the slow match to Corporal
Burgess, who fell mortally wounded just as he had
successfully performed his duty. Havildar Tiluk
Sing, of the Sappers and Miners, was wounded, and
Ram Nath, sepoy of the same corps, was killed
during this part of the operation.

“The demolition having been successful, Lieu-
tenant Home, happily unwounded, caused the bugler
to sound the regimental call of the 52nd Regiment
as the signal for the advance of the column. Fear-
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ing that amid the noise of the assault the sound
might not be heard, he had the call repeated three
times, when the troops advanced and carried the
gateway with entire success.”' Salkeld, mortally
wounded, handing over the portfire and bidding his
comrade light the train, is one of those incidents
which will remain till the end of time conspicuous
on the page of history.

The fourth column under Major Reid advanced
from the Sabzi Mandi towards Kissengunge, the
Cashmere Contingent co-operating in two divisions;
the main body under Major R. C. Lawrence acting
as a reserve, and a detachment under Captain Dwyer
attacking the Eedgah upon the right. The latter
was so sharply attacked by the insurgents, who were
in great force, that, after losing a great number of
men and four guns, it was completely routed. Major
Reid finding the Jummoo Contingent engaged, moved
down the road towards Kissengunge to their sup-
port. “The enemy opened fire from the bridge

! From Lieutenant-Colonel R. Baird Smith, Chief Engineer, Delhi
Field Force, 17th September 1857, pages 394 and 395.

“The storming party and supports were almost mixed. There was
such a row we could not distinguish the bugle, nor did we hear the
explosion. We then saw the Colonel, Synge, who was acting Brigade-
Major, and the head of the reserve, coming round the corner, so, seeing
something was wrong, Crosse ran on, meeting, as he started, Bayley
shot through the left arm, and after a little check at the mantlet—a
door-like affair in the causeway (which, by the way, at the bridge, was
o